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I . INTRODUCTION

1 . At  i t s  for ty - s ix th  ses s ion , the Commission on Human Rights decided, by its
resolution 1990179 of 7 March 1990, to eatend the mandate of the Special
Representative, as contained in Comm!.aaion  resolution 1984154 of 14 March 1984, for
a further year and requested  the Special Representative to submit an interim report
to ths General Assembly at its forty-fifth session on the human rights situation in
the Ial&mic Republic of Iran, including the situation of minority groups, such as
the Baha’ia, and a final report t-0 the  Commiss ion  a t  i t s  forty-seventh  sess ion .  In
its decision 19901243 of 25 May 1990, the Economic and Social Council endorsed that
resolution.

2 . Provioualy, the General Assembly had decided, by its resolution 441163 of
15 December 1989, to continue ita examination of the situation of human rights in
t h e  Iel~nic Republic o f  I r a n  d u r i n g  i t s  f o r t y - f i f t h  s e s s i o n  i n  t h e  l i g h t  o f
additional elemrdte  provided by the Contmiaaion for Human Rights and the Economic
and Social Council.

3. In compliance with paragraph 14 of Commission on Human Rights resolution
1990179 and in response also to the General Assembly’s decision to keep the
question under consideration on the basis of additional information, the Special
Representative submits herewith his interim report on the situation of human rights
in the Islamic Republic  o f  Iran,

4, As in previous years, the interim report concentretea on oral and written
communications with government officials and on allegations of human rights
violations from non-governmental organiaationa and individuals and very briefly
reports on the second visit to the country. Some of the documents received are now
under atudy and if the information they contain proves to be relevant, it will be
considered in the f inal  report. Owing to*the short interval between the two
reports, the interim report has been planned and written as the firat part of the
final report and the two documents should accordingly be regarded as one.

5 . The structure of  the interim report  is  s imilar to previous reports ,  and is
accordingly divided into f ive  sect ions: I. Introduction; II. Communications
between the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran and the Special
Representative;  III . Information received by the Special Representative; IV. Report
on the second visit to the Islamic Republic of Iran; V. Observations. There are
eight appendices,

I I . COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF THE ISLAMIC
REPUBLIC OF IRAN AND THE SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE

A .  -ofa-

6 . By a letter dated 24 January 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva transmitted the text of a
news release by the Islamic Republic News Agency concerning the amnesty or
reduction of the imprisonment term of a group of prisoners condemned by military

/ . . .
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courte. According to the information provided, al l  those sentenced to year-long
imprisonment by the military courts would be released and the terms of those with
mwo than a year’a imprisoatnen t would be clashed  b y  half. The letter specif ied
that the pardon was decreed on the eve of the birthday of the Prophet’s daughter
Patima As-Zahba  by the Leader of  the Islamic Republic of Iran, upon the request of
the Head of the Judiciary.

7. On 6 February 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Islamic Republic of Iran to
the United Nations Office at Geneva transmitted a letter addressed to the Special
Representative by Mr. M. Mottaki, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs, who, in
reply to a question raised by the Specia, Representative during his  f irst  vis i t  to
the country, submitted two examples of judgemente in which the High Disciplinary
Court had convicted judges of abuse of authority. The text of the judgement was as
follows:

“Judgement l/67 dated 17/l/1366 in proceedings brought by the General
Inspectorate against Hojjatolislam Shaikh Mohammed Nasiri, President of
thrr Ielamic  Revolutionary Court at Yaad. Shaikh Mohammad  was found guilty of
violating the rules of procedure while judging the case of
Mr. Mohamad  Gholmi, who was on trial for possession of opium, opium extract
and related apparatus. He sentenced the accused to 15 years’ imprisonment,
five of which would be suspended on payment of one million tomans. In  th i s
respect, his judgement was unlawful and rendered him liable to disciplinary
sanctions, which the High Court decided should consist in the forfeiture of
one third of the judge’s salary and other monthly emoluments for five months,
in accordance with article 4 of the relevant act.

“Judgement 64/130  dated 3/6/1364 in proceedings brought by
Messrs. Ali Neiri and Vali Neiri against Mr. Hasan Latifi, former judge at the
Ielsmic Revolutionary Court at Lengroud. Following an investigation by the
General Inepectorate, the judge was found guilty of handing down an unlawful
judgemetnt in the case of the brothers Neiri who were on trial for the hoarding
of goods, in so far as he ordered the detention of Ali Neiri and the
confiecation  and  sa le  o f  the  a s se t s  o f  Va l i  Ne ir i . The High Court imposed
disciplinary sanctions consisting in two years’ imprisonment, exclusion from
public office for five years and compensation, in cash or in kind, for the
losses  suffered by Vali Neiri .”

6. By a letter dated 2 May 1990 the Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations O f f i c e  at Geneva informed the Special
Representative about the following clemency8

“On the occasion of Eid ul-Fitr, marking the end of the month of Ramsdan
on 26 April 1990, 260 convicts of the Islamic Revolutionary Court and 13
convicts of the Special courts of the Clergy were pardoned in 14 cities in
Iran.

“On 1st April 1990, the day of the Islamic Republic of Iran, 79 convicts
of the Islamic Revolutionary Courts were released in various cities in Iran.
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“On the occasion of the Iranian Mew Year, on 21 March 1990, 119 other
convicts of the Islamic Revolutionary Court8 were aluo pardoned.”

9. On 14 June 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran
to the United Nations forwarded to the Special Representative the text of a message
from Ayatollah Mohammed Taqui Ja’afari, inviting him “not in the capacity of the
Special Representative but as a scholrr and a ticientific  and intellectual
personality, to  pay a vis i t  to  Iran prior to  your off ic ial  vis i t ,  during which you
could participate in scientific and legal meetings arranged in your honour . ..“.
By a letter dated 20 July 1990, the Special Representative thanked
Ayatollah Mohemmed  Taqui Ja’afari  for the kind invitation explaining that, given
the heavy schedule of academic engagements to which he had committed himself a long
time ago, it would unfortunstely not be possible for him to envisage an additional
private visit before his second official visit.

10. By a note verbale of 22 August 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Istlamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva informed the Special
Representative of the statement delivered by Ayatollah Mohammad  Yaadi,  the head of
the Judiciary of the Islamic Republic of Iran, on 10 August 1990, in which,
referring to art ic le  35 of  the ConstiQution  of  the Ielamic  Republic  of Iran,
Ayatollah Yaedi, “once again emphasited that the courts should be held in public
and they must respect the right of every party in a case to choose his or her own
legal counsel and even if the person cannot afford to secure legal counsel, it
would be provided by the Judiciary”. Moreover, a circular letter by the Hoad  of
the Judiciary to all judicial units and authorities, dated 4 August 1990, stressing
the right  of  the parties  to a lawsuit  to  select  an attorney i;l al l  c ivi l  and penal
courts  was handed to the Special Representative by the Deputy Minister for Foreign
Affairs at Tehran and is reproduced in appendix VIII to the present report.

11. On 11 September 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Islamic Republic of Iran
sent to the Special Representative a copysof  a note verbale it had addressed on
13 August 1990 to the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC). In that
note the Permanent Mission referred to paragraph 167 of the last report of the
Special Representative 11 reflectin a suggestion he had made to the Government
concerning regular visits by ICRC to prisons throuyhout the country in order to
ascertain the conditions of imprisonment and, in particular, to look into the
s i tuat ion  o f  po l i t i ca l  pr i soners . The note verbale stated,  inter, the
following: “With due regard to the co-operation of the Government of the Islamic
Republic of Iran with the Special Representative of the Commission on Human Rights,
the former invites the International Committee of the Red Cross to visit the
prisons”,

12. By a letter dated 28 September 1990 from the Permanent Representative of the
Islamic Republic of Iran at Geneva, the Special Representative was advised of the
following measures taken by the Islamic Republic of Iran in implementation of his
reconmnendations:

9’ 1. . . The Islamic Republic of Iran has officially invited ICRC to visit
Iran. The invitation was submitted to the Committee through the note No. 2658
dated 13 August 1990 of this Mission. This invitation was renewed by

/ ..*
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His Excellency Dr. Velayati, during Mr. Sonunaruga’s visit to Tehran. ICRC is
presently planning for this  vis it .

“2 * The Islamic Republic of Iran has officially invited the Human Right8
Centre to provide technical and training assistance and, especially send an
expert to give trainings on the preparation of periodic reports, that was
announced in the note No. 2482 dated 30 July 1990 and underlined in
Mr. Tabatabai’s  meeting with Mr. Mautner-Markhof.

II 3, The Heed of the Judiciary’s general circular letter No. l/7553/9
dated 4 August 1990, in which Principle 35 of the Constitution was reminded
and underlined. This principle provides for the undisputable right of the
accused to appoint a lawyer for the proceedings in the court. [6ee
appendix VIII.]

“4 , A bill of law was prepared according to which the period of
detention of the accused prior to the pronouncement of the verdict is included
in their term of prison.

“5, Clemency measures have been pursued and implemented on vari,lus
occasions. The details shall be presented during your visit to Tehran.

“6, An academic seminar was held for ‘A Comparative Study of Islamic and
Western Principles of Human Rights’ in which Iranian scholars, authorities,
and professors participated. Furthermore, as the Human Rights Centre has been
already informed, an international  aeminer  with the participation of Iranian
and Foreign scholars, including personalities from the Human Rights Centre,
will meet in Tehran for the same purpose in the near future.

“7 . Preparation of detailed and elaborate response to the accusations,
allegations and claims presented to you by various groupsr that were forwarded
to the Islamic republic of Iran by you. These response8 will be given to you
during your next visit to Iran.

11
8. Expansion of judicial services and works to promote the living

standard of the families of persons sentenced or accused: that includes the
creation of a special fund with the financial support of the government and
benevolent persons.”

8. raDdccclncsrnincruagsticrnsFeceivedmu
ive and trmtted to the Government

13. Since the forty-sixth session of the Commission on Human Rights, a great
number of reports alleging human rights violations, including specif ic  incidents
and cases, have been brought to the attention of  the Special  Roprusentative. In
accordance with the understanding reachsd during his first visit to the country,
the Special Representative transmittad to the Permanent Representative of the
Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nation6 Office at Geneva by letters datod
12 March, 7, 0, 11 and 23 May, 27 June.. and 9 July 1990, several individual cases

/ . . .
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of  al leged humen rights  violat ion6 which, in his view, required the urgent
attention of the Government. The Special Representative requested that the
reported incidents or cases be investigated and that he be informed of the results
o f  the  Qovernment’s  inquir ies , a6 well a6 of the situation of each of the persons
concerned, in particular as regards the precise charges brought against them and
al l  re l evant  de ta i l s  o f  the ir  t r ia l s .

14. By a letter dated 26 April 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Isltunic
Republic of Iran to the United Nation6 Office at Geneva forwarded to the Special
Representative his Government’s responee on one of the individual ~8808 tranernitted
to  i t  ( s ee  para. 33  be low) .

15. By a letter dated 5 June 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nation6 Office at Geneva provided another reply by
his Qovernment  on the case o?. 14 persons accused of espionage (see para. 37).

16. By a letter dated 31 May 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of lran to the United Nations Office at Geneva requested the Centre for
Human Rights to provide him with all the information available about allegations of
human rights violations in the Islamic Republic of Iran, so that the necessary
investigations could be conducted and responses provided.

17. In response to that request, by a letter dated 20 August 1990, the Speciai
Representative sent to the Permanent Representative a memorandum containing the
main allegations, both general and in terms of individual cases, that had been
brought to his attention by various sources. The memorandum included a sw-ary of
the cases transmitted by previous letters, &s we l l  a6  fur ther  a l l egat ions  Leceived
by the Special Representative, I t  fur ther  recapi tu la ted  br ie f ly  ear l i er
allegations as reflected in previous report6 on which the Special Representative
had never received the requested circumstantiated explanations.

18. By a letter dated 8 October 1990, a eecond memorandum was trarxmitted to the
Permanent Representative of the Xelamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations
Office at Geneva containing further allegations received by the Special
Representative. When communicating the two memoranda to the Government, the
Special Representative expressed the hope that they would facilitate preparations
for his second visit to the Islamic Republic of Iran and thus enable  the
authorities to discus6 with him in a concrete manner the situations and incidents
of which he had been seised. The allegation6 contained in both memoranda are
reproduced in section III of the present rayort.

19. By a note verbale dated 19 October 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva transmitted the translation
of a latter which the Voice and Vision of the Islemic Republic of Iran (Television)
had addressed to the Movement for Freedom in reply to its telet dated
22 September 1990, concern).ag the televised “confession” of Mr. Behbehani (see
pare .  230). Relevant excerpts  of  the letter ace a6 fol lows8

I, 1. Article 52 and paragraph b of Article 55 of the Law governing the
po l i c i e s  o f  th i s  orgaaiaation  c l ear ly  s t ipu la te  our  po l i cy  as followsl

/ . . .
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“Article 52 a ‘To enlighten the populace about the devilish plots of the
world colonialists and their internal agents for the weakening of deviation of
the Revolution’.

“Article 55, paragraph b: ‘Denunciation of the activit ies,  plots  and
working methods of counter-revolutionary groups and the enemy’s fift!\ Column,
and familiarising the populace with the nature of their thinking and practice’-

“2 . It has been according to these Article6 that the Voice and Vision of
the Islamic Republic of Iran has since the victory of the ISle~aiC  Revolution
broadcast the trials and confessions of hundreds of mambera of the traitorous
and counter-revolutdonary parties, groups and grouplets which have conspired
in var ious  ways  against  the 16 !rmic  Revolution and the intereEL  of the people
and the country or collaborated with the enemiec of tha Islamic Revolution and
the Muslim people of Iran. It might as well be remembered that during the
transitional Government which was in the hands of the Freedom Movement and one
of whose members headed this organisation, series of ouch interview6 and
COnfe66iOn6  were broadcast on the Voice  and ViEion’ As far as we remember and
the records indicate, no response of the concerned elements ha6 aver been
broadcast.

“3 * Broadcasting by the Voice and Vision of the 1Sh1dC Republic of Iran
the interview with Dr. Farhad Behbehani represents ona such example and is in
line with Article 52 and paragraph b of Article 55 of our law’

“4 . Upon receipt of the telephone-gram No. l-1-46/5400,  dated 61611369
(24 AUgUSt  1990) of the Movement for Freedom, its content has been brought to
the  a t tent ion  o f  Farhad Bahbehani, While raconf irming  hi6 previous
statements, he has expressed his readiness to participate in a televised
round-table with his critics and respond to their objections, and in his own
words, ‘Raise the curtain on other plots” In case of  the wil l ingness of  the
member6 of the Movement for Freedom, this organisation will undertake to hold
the round-table. ”

c. (;lommunications  reu to m 6~C~t of w
BePreeentatjve.Che of frap

1. mverksatioas  WithiVe o f  m

20. On 12 July 1990, the Special Representative met with
AmbaSSadOr  SiroUs Nasseri, Permanent Representative of the 16h11iC Republic of Iran
to the United Nations Office at Geneva. At that time, the Special Representative
mentioned that he would like to make a second visit to the country with a view to
complying with the terms of the Human Rights Commission’s mandate. Ha nl60
expressed his appreciation to the Government for having allowed his first visit to
the country in pursuance of Human Rights Commission resolutions 1984154 and
1989166. He Stressed the importance of the meetings held with official6 from the
lagislative, executive and judicial branches of the Government in the Islamic
Republic of Iran. Ha added that the visit had enabled him to maintain meetings,

I...
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conversations and contacts with a number of individuals and organisations and that
he considered them to be very useful in the implementation of his mandate.

21. The Permanent Representative of the Ielsmic Republic of Iran to the United
Nations Office at Geneva told the Special Representative that he would transmit his
mquest to make  a second visit to the country to his C3overnment  and said that he
was pleased to have had the opportunity to exchange idea6 and opinion6 with the
Special Representative on matte76 “*elating to his mandate. Furthermore, commenting
on the request made by the Special Representative concerning the need to receive
detai led repl ies  to  the al legation6 of  human right6 violations,  he said that  his
Qovernment  had every intention t o  reply to those alleqation6’  .fn that connection,
he said that in order to expedite the investigation of the allegations and emure a
prompt reply, the allegations should be stated in the clearest and most unequivocal
terms’ Lastly, the Permanent Representative reiterated the assurance of  his
Government’s full co-operation in helping the Special Representative to implement
his mandate’

22. On 13 July 1990, the Special Representative sent a letter to the Permanent
Representative of the ISla6& Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at
Geneva stating that: ‘*. . . it would be my intention to carry out this vieit before
drafting my report to the next session of the General Assembly and I propose a6
dates for the visit the week 25 to 30 August 1990”.

23. On 14 August 1990, a letter from the Permanent Representative of the ISlSmiC
Republic  of  Iran to the United Nation6 O f f i c e  at Oaneva  addressed to the Special
Representative was received at the Centre for Human Rights, raading aa fOllOWS1

“1. With regard to the date of your second visit, the suitable date would be
the 1 of September 1990’

“2. While I also appreciated the occasion we had on 12 July 1990 to exchange
views on matters concerning your mandate, I may however regret that for the
lack of time, a certain number of serious question6 remained to be discussed.
Therefore I asked for another meeting with you’ Your proposed date i.e. two
or three day6 before your departure for the Islamic Republic of  Iran 16 too
l a t e . I sm aware of your other comnftmente  but for the seriousness of the
matter, I would be willing to have a meeting with you a6 soon a6 pOESib and
in any place which is convenient to you.

‘1 3, Concerning the comnunication  of the Centre for Human Rights containing
all the allegations which we were expected to receive by the end of July, you
may note that we have yet to receive it.”

24. By a letter dated 20 August 1990, the Special Representative informed the
Permanent Repr666UtBtiV6  of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nation6
Office at Geneva that health reasons prevented him from travelling to Tehran on
1 September 1990, as Suggested by the GoVerMtent, and that he would propose as soon

/ . . .
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as poseible new dates for the visit, which, for the above-mentioned medical
reasons, could not take place before the end of September. The Special
Representative assured the Permanent Representative that he would made every efEort
to arrange for Another meeting with him as soon as feasible before his departure to
Tehr an.

25. By a lettor dated 17 September 1990, the Special Representative proposed the
period from 6 to 11 October 1990 az new dates for the visit, adding that he could
meet the Permanent Representative at Geneva on 28 September 1990. By the same
letter, he communicated a list of personalities and places that he would like to
visit and reminded him that the terms of reference of his visit remained identical
to those described in the Jnner to thr letter addressed on 24 No*:ember  1989 to the
Permanent Representative of the rslamic Republi.? of Iran to the United Nations.

26. 3y a note verbale dated 5 October 1990, the Permanent Mission of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva confirmed its previous ore’
reply that the visit could take place during the period from 8 to 16 October 199C

I I I . INF~JWATIO~V  RECEIVED BY THE SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE

27. The following paragraphs contain a.ll*iqations  of hUman  rights violations
received by the Special Representative and transmitted to the Government of the
Islamic Republic of Iran by memoranda dated 20 August and 8 October 1990. The
memoranda also reproduce ttiose alleged incidents and cases which the Special
Representative had transmitted by previous letters. Replies received from the
Government with regard to the allegations have also beeA reflected in this section.

28. According to a report by the daily w, a man condemned for fornication with
a close relative was publicly executed in Mashed. Aaence Frapce Pm reported OA
16 January that, according to news received from Tehran, a 31-year-old  woman
convicted for prostitution had beeA stoned to death in Bandar Aneali. On
31 January v published a declaration of the Romiteh Commander of the
rrovince  O f  West AzerbaijaA, according to which a ring of persons engaged in
prostitution and corruption had been arrested aAd five of them had been stnned to
death. According to a report by Besselet on 15 February 1990, Gholam Reza Masouri
was hanged in Arak for pederasty.

29. &&~tiLslami reported on 17 February 1990 that Bolouch Izmalel Zehi had
been executed Eor drug traffickinq. On 10 Jaauary -0 Tehrag announced that
31 persons convicted of drug trafficking had beeA executed, 23 of them in Tehran,
3 at Shiraz, 3 at Sabzevar and 2 at Saveh. According to BRB&B&& of 11 February, a
married couple accused of drug trafficking was sentenced to death in Saveh.

30. Dailies from variou- countries published the statement of Mitra Moazez (211,
claiming that she had been forced to witness the death by bUrAiAg of & 37-year-old
woman and two 18-year-old men in aA Iranian prisoa. According to these reportz,

/ . . .
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they had been thrown into a furnace by guards, named  Jamshid Sohrabi and
Mo j taba Halvai . Reportedly, she had been imprisoned from 1981 to 1984 for having
taken part in an anti-government demonstration and had beeA tortured for 85 day8
before being interrogated. When  she was freed, she visited the family of one of
the young men, named Asghar Ghorbani Maleki, who told her that prison guards had
brought them a box containing Asghar’s ashes and that, as a consequence of the
shock this had caused, the young man’s father had committed suicide.

31. Abbes Raiesi,  a navy officer stationed at Chah Bahar was said to have been
arrested around September 1989 in Chah Bahar on unknown charges. The source o f  the
information presumed that his arrest, as well as the arrest of.a group of other
persons, related to an incident in which a Goverment  oppoaent, of whom M r .  Raissi
was  a  c lose friend aAd distant Lelative,  was smuggled out o f  the Is lamic Republic
o f  iran. The group arrested at the same time included two of the OppOAent’S
nephews as well as his bro*:her, Mohammed Karim  Naroui, who was the Head Postmaster
at Chah Bahar, and was executed at Zahedan on 28 January 1990 (8 Bahman 13681,
reportedly having been sentenced to death at a trial the previous day. Mr. Raissi,
who was detained at either Chah Bahar or Zahedan prison, was said to be at imninent
risk of erecutiont  the charges brought against him were not kAOWn and no
information was available as to whether he had been tried. By a letter dated
12 March 1990, the Special Representative requested information about the charges
brought against Mr. Raissi, whether he had been tried and, in the affirmative case?
aeked that al l  relevant detai ls  concerning his  trial  aAd sentance be provided to
him. The Special Representative also appealed to the Government, in case
Mr, Raissi had be8A sentenced to death, to consider granting clemency or at least
to ensure that all safeguards stipulated in the International Covenant on Civil and
Political  R i g h t s ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y  i n  i t s  a r t i c l e  14, had  beeA fu l ly  reepected in  the
preceding trial ,

According to a cable from Nicosia, Cyprus, that appeared in the fnternatianal
Lge on 29 March 1990, Abbas Gaiesi and Abmed  Jenghi Ra8Ai were convioted
of espionage, robbery aAd cJuAter-revolutionary  act iv i t ies  aAd hanged in
south-western Iran, in the region of  Seistan, according to reports by the Islamic
Republic New8 Agency.

33. By a letter dated 26 April 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nation8 Office at Qeneva  replied that Mr. Raieei had
been tried on spying charges for collaborating with Iraq during the imposed war and
had been condemned to death. The death sentence was carried out after du8 judicial
process  aAd al l  solemn rites  w8re  p8rfOrmed. The Permanent Representative added
that the relevant judicial file would be made available upon request.

34. By a letter dated 7 May 1990, the Special RePreS8ntatiVe  thanked the
Government for i ts  reply aAd requested the relevant judicial  f i le  concerning this
case. He reiterated his interest in eramining the file8 in the meeting with Deputy
Minister for Foreign Affairs Mr. M. Mottaki, held at Tehran OA 9 October 1990.

35. i)A 28 Apri l  1990, the newspaper m published a report by the ISlarAiC
Republic News Ageacy to the effect that the Prosecutor General of the Tehran
Revolutionary Court had anlrounced that 10 person8 accused of espionage would be
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executed in tho next few days. Other sources reported directly to the Special
Repreeeatative  that Mr. Jamshead  Amfry Bigvand, former Director of the Marodasht
Shitam Petrochemical Laboratory, and 13 other persons had allegedly been convicted
on the charge of espionage for the United States of America, an offence for which
capital  punishment might be applied. Reportedly these persons had been held for
months in solitary confinement at Evin prison, and had not been allowed to avail
themselves of legal assistance of their own choosing. It  was further al leged that
coafeseions had been extracted under torture and that some of them had been
compelled to make extrajudicial confessions which were broadcast by the Iranian
te l ev i s ion . The Special Representative requested to the Government by a letter,
dated 8 May 1990, that all 14 persons be enabled to benefit from all the procedural
safeguards provided for in articles 6 and 14 of the International Covenant on Civil
and Political Rights and also safeguards 5 and 6 of the annex to Economic and
Social Council resolution 1984150 of 25 May 1904, entitled “Implementation of
safeguards guaranteeing the rights of those facing the death penalty”. The Special
Representative further requested information on the precise charges brought against
these persons and all  relevant detai ls  of their trials . Final ly,  the Special
Representative appealed to the Government that, in  the  event  that  a l l  l ega l
remedies had been fully exhausted, every possible consideration be given to the
granting of clemency to those persons.

36. On 11 May 1990, the Special  Representative,  pursuant to his  letter dated
8 May 1990 and reiterating the requests expressed therein, communicated to the
Permanent Representative 10 more names of persons allegedly belonging to the
above-mentioned group of 14 as follows: Dr. Bahman  Agahy, Legal Advisor of the
Iranian Foreign Minietryi Rooshang Amjadi  Bigvandr General Ardeshear Ashrafl
Manochehr Amar,  Attorney; Masoud Deadehvar, Planning Advisor for the Iranian Oil
Companyt  Navy Captain Ryanoosh Hakeamyr  Colonel Bahram Ikany; Heehmstolah Magsoody,
Clergyman/Attorneyt  Captain Gahraman Maleksadeh and Colonel Masoud Payaby.

37. By a letter dated 5 June 1990, the Permanent Representative of the Islamic
Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva forwarded to the Special
Representative the following response of the judicial authorities of the Islamic
Republic of Irant

“According to  the art ic le  37 o f  the Constitution  of  the Ielamic  Republic
of Iran, and as contained in the second paragraph of article 14 of the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, no person shall be
considered guilty by law unless the accusation against him is proved by a
competent court and the court6  are naturally obliged to act accordingly;

“In the light of information received by the Islamic Revolutionary Court,
those people were arrested and tried in accordance with the law. In addition,
they were entitled to appoint a legal counsel and they duly and frdely
defended themselves during the trialr

“With rsfgard  to the right of the accused to resort to higher court, it
should be mentioned that the sentences issued in accordance with law could be
reviewed in the Supreme Court. Consequently, a f ter  the  isouance  of  the
verdicts all the accused requested for a review by the court of appeal.
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Investigation,  therefore, was conducted on their request and the verdicts of
the two of the accused were referred to another court for re-examination.O@

3 8 . On 19 February Radia announaed that 31 persone  had been exeouted  for
drug trafficking and organising prostitution in the cities of Tehran, Sabxevar,
Karaj, Arak, Kerman, Bouehehr,  Sari, Qom, Bakhtaran and Rashat.  Radia
supplied the names of those executed in each of those cities. Other sources stated
that the charges were formation of and participation in international
drug-trafficking bands, importing, transporting, purchase and sale of opium, heroin
and hashiehr corruption and establishment of prostitution centres, perverting girlr
and married women and corrupting the younger generation. According to an article
which appeared on 20 February 1990 in the newspaper EttelaRt, a comrnuniqud  issued
by the Office of the Prosecutor General stated that decisive legal action against
the drug traffickers will continue. The article also indicated the names of the
30 executed persons (see appendix I).

3 9 . It has also been reported that 18 prisoners werd executed on 17 and
27 April 1990 in the City of Sanandaj, It wae asoertetl  that they were militants
who attended May-day celebrations in Sanandaj last year. T h e  aames o f  1 4  p e r s o n s
belonging to this group were given as follower Mehdis Bolur-Forush,
Jamal Cheragh-Disi,  Nader Fat’hi, 8816  Saleh Hossieni, Naser Jalali,
Ahmed  Mohamadi, Ali Ashraf Moradi, Mohsen  Otlnnan  Pour, Ahmad Parviai,
Mohxmad  Roxaii, Naser Sobhani, Anvar shariati, Roya, Bakhtiari.

4 0 . It has further been reported that on 14 February 1990 a judicial panel meat to
Hamadan on behalf of the Head of the Judiciary issued the following seatenaesa

(a) Gholamhossein  Golmar,  27 years old, discharged employee of the
Agricultural Bank of Hamadan: 74 lashes for committing robbery; 92 lasher for
participation in a forbidden act, aud decapitat ion by the just  sword of the
Lmam Alla

(b) Gholamhassan Golsar, aged 28, discharged employee of the Hamadaa
Municipality; 74 lashes for  committiag robberyl  74 lashes for participation ia a
forbidden act, and decapitation by the just sword of Imam Ali1

(c) Rera Khaniaa, 23 years old, fruit  and vegetable centre Clark:  74 larhrr
for committing  robbery) 50 lashes for participation in a forbidden act) amputation
of hand for cornnitting  assault and battery and hanging by scaffold.

41, The newspaper m announced on 3 January 1990 that Khodakaram Zamani,  given
a retributory death eentence for the murder of Morad-Ali  Resai, was executed on the
main square of Khorramabad.

4 2 . The newspaper Iltt;laat announced the following executions: Gholem  Eaabgian
and Rashid  Noor-Mohammadi,  in Bakhtaran, on 6 January 1990, for murder;
Ahmad Souri, for murder, on 9 Januaryt two persons whose names were not announced,
in Maehad on 1 January 1990, for murders  and the murderer of a 13-year-old girl,
hanged in Ahwax.

/ . . .
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43. The Special Representative has been particularly shocked of the new6 of the
aesaesination  on 24 April 1990 in Coppet, Switmerland,  of Mr. Kaeem Rajavi, who
represented the National Council of Resistance before varioue United Nation6
bodice. All those who knew Mr. Rajevi  were deeply moved by that ill-fated
occurrence. On behalf of himself and his colleagues, the Special Representative
wishec  to express his condolence6 as well as his profound concern and most forceful
repudiation of  the use of  bl ind violence in l ieu of  free discussion and the
interplay of  ideas. Numerous communication6 were receivad alleging that the
as6a66ination  was carried out by agents of the Iranian Government. According to
the Tehrsn_Times  of 26 June 1990, Foreign Ministry spokesman Morteea Sarmacli had
expressed the hope “that the Swiss judicial  off icial6 through their thorough and
fair investigation of the ca6e conducted away from any pre-judgement, prevent
materiali6ation  of conspiracies and plots of enemies of the nation and the
Government”. In this connection,  the Special  Representative,  by a letter dated
19 September 1990, drew the attention of the Permanent Observer of Switserland to
the United Nations Office at Geneva to resolution 1990/8  adopted on 30 August 1990
by the S u b - C o m m i s s i o n  on Prevention of  Discrimination and Protect ion of
Minor1  ties. In that resolution, the Sub-Commission had expressed the wish that all
fact6 and circumstance6 of the assassination of Mr. Kaxem  Rajavi would be fully
investigated and that the Special Representative include information available to
him on the investigation in his next report. The Special Representative requested
that he be provided by the Government of Switserland with any information that it
would be able to make available to him with regard to the invertigation  of the
case. At the t ime of  the finalisation of the present report,  the Special
Representative had not received the requested information.

44. The assassination of Mr. Rajavi  generated fear in persons vis i t ing the Palais
de6 Nation6 to give information about human right6 in the Islamic Rdpublic  of
Iran. They took extraordinary precaution6 60 a6 not to draw attention to their
l ives  and their  bel ief6 and asked for special  palice  protect ion,  in  some case6
notifying the competent authorities in advance of their movements in Geneva or
requesting interviews outeide the Palais de6 Nations.

45. It ha6 a160 been widely reported that the Iranian Government has endorsed thsl
death sentence pronounced by Ayatollah Khomeini against the British author
Salman  Rushdie. On 5 June 1990, the Leader of the Islamic Republic of Iran,
Ayatol lah Ali Khemeae’i, reportedly stated that the fatwa (rel igious verdict  1 of
the late Imam Khomeini concerning the author was based on divine rulings and
remained irrevocable.

46. In many communications the Special Representative has received, it has been
asserted that  the famil ies  had never been off ic ial ly  notif ied that  their relat ive6
had been executed, In addition, those that were notified were often not told where
their relatives had been buried.

47. It has been reported that as of January 1990 persons have been executed in the
Islamic Republic of Iran for their homosexual or leebian tendency. It was asserted
that at least five such executions took place in January 1990. .

/ . . .
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48. The Special Representative has repeatedly received empressions of fear that
the serious accusations formulated against the co-signatories of the open letter
which Mr, Mehdi Ba8arqan, Prime Minister  of the f irst  provisional  Qovernment  of  the
Islamic Republic of Iran, had addressed to the President of the Republic, could
r e s u l t  i n  enecutions. Particular concern was expressed over a televised
“confession” by Mr. Farhsd Behbehani,  a member of the dissolved Association for the
Defence ef Freedom and Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation, in which he reportedly
admitted connections between the association and foreign Qovernments. In  th i s
connection, the Special Representative wishes to emphasise that such extrajudioial
confessions are contrary to internationally recognised standards of due process,

49. Other individual cases were reported aa followsr

(a) Mr.8 It has been reported that he was shot in a street
in Babo3 and that the authorities refused to return his body to the family.
Subsaquently,  his parents and some other members of his family were allegedly
arrested)

(b) Mr.Ss St has been reported that he was sentenced to
five yeara’ imprisonment. At the end of his prieon term, which was spent in Meshed
prison, he was released. In 1988, allegedly without any reaeonr he was again
arrested, subjected to several kinds of torture, and executed?

(cl Mr,..h Taauani-OanJir It has been reported that in 1987
Mr. Taavoni-Qanji,  his wife and daughter, left Iran out of fear for their safety
and l iberty. When he returned for a ehort visit in 1988, he wee immediately
arrested and taken to Evin prison. In November 1989, the prison authorities asked
his  family to col lect  his  c lothes and other belongings, as he had been executedi

(d) Mr. Mohanrmad~mia It has been reported that he was executed on
12 January 1986 in Iranshahr and that his body wae burned by the Guardians of the
Islamic Revolutionr

W Mr.: A former veterinarian working in the Veterinary
Office of Arak city. It has been reported that he wae executed in October 1989 on
charges of drug trafficking, but that the real reason for his execution was to be
found in his political activities opposing the Qovsrnment.

50. Further names of persons who were allegedly executed, updating the lists which
the Special Representative annexed to his previous reports, were included in
annex88 to the two memoranda. They are reflected in appendix I to the present
report. The Special Representative requested the Qovernment to provide him with
detailed information on the relevant charges and trial proceedings for all persons
mentioned.

/ . . *
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51. Reports on torture and ill-treatment during imprisonment have continued to be
received since the first visit of the Special Representative to the Islamic
Republic of Iran. It was also alleged that mutilations and corporal punishment are
being applied. In this  context, !_t is pertinent to note that e Preaae
reported that, according to m, a person conviated for robbery suffered the
amputation of four fingers on his right hand in Ohasr  prison at Tehran, On
20 January 1990, the same news agency reported that two persons condemned for
robbery had suffered the amputation of four fingers on their right hands. The
sentence was reportedly executed in front of a large crowd that had assembled  for
Friday prayers.

52. By a letter dated 23 May 1990, the Special Representative inquired about the
s i tuat ion  of  Dr.  Ali Resa Nas i r i , reportedly being detained on unknown charges at a
prison situated at 21, Mohsangi/Asadi  Street in Mashed and suffering from an acute
eye disease, resulting from diabetes, which urgently required surgery. According
to the information received by the Special Representative, Dr. Nasiri was arrested
by the Pasdaran in Mashad  in 1989. The Special Representative asked to be informed
of the charges brought against Dr:. Nasiri ,  as  wel l  as  of the relevant detai ls  of
his  trial  proceedings. He also requested the government to ensure that Dr. Nasiri
receives every medical treatment required for his condition.

53. By a letter dated 15 June 1990, the Special Representative inquired about the
situation of Mr. Noureddine Kianouri, former First Secretary of the Tudeh Party,
whom he met at Evin prison during hia first. visit to the Islamic Rk?public  of Iran.
According to the allegations received, Mr. Kfanouri had been placed in solitary
confinement shortly after the departure of the Special Representative from Tehran
and had no longer been allowed to receive visits.

54. The Special Representative has also been informed that Mr. Kianouri’s  wife,
Mrs. Meriam Feiroue, was placed in solitary confinement, despite her advanced age
and poor health.

55. In addit ion,  the Special  Representative received tho fol lowing al legations!

(a) Jamshiai-BLgyand,  52 years old, former Director of Marodasht Shiraz
Petrochemical Laboratory, was arrested on 16 September 1988 in front of the
above-mentioned laboratory. Mr. Amiri  was placed in solitary confinement in Evin
prison and was allegedly tortured;

(b) w, 51 years old, wife of Houshang Amjadi-Bigvand,  was
arrested in November 1988 at her residence in the city of West Kots with her
husband and her children. She was placed in solitary confinement for eight months
and then released. She was allegedly tortured during her stay in solitary
confinement;
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(c) W-Bim 51  years  o ld ,  s e l f - employed ,  was  arres ted  in
November 1988 at his residence in’the city of West Rots. His children and his wife
were also arrested at the same time. He was placed in solitary aonfiaement in Evia
prison where he ‘c1as  allegedly tortured. Although his general condition of health
was reportedly poor, owing to a bleeding stomach ulcer, Mr. Amjadi  had reportedly
not been permitted to receive medication from outside the prison)

(d) Resew, 38 years  o ld , was reportedly arrested in 1983 and kept in
Mashed prison. On 22 June 1984, he was sentenced to 15 years’ imprrsonment  by the
Mashad  Court . Later he was transferred to Qohardasht prison, allegedly in a
serious condition. Since 1988,  his fsmily have had no news about him:

(e) M~~Ibalumy~ It has been reported that he was repeatedly
subjected to beatings in Qhasr prison)

(f) Mr,uQllaht. It has been reported that he was repeatedly beaten
with cables in Ghasr prison, resulting in mental problemsr

(FI) Mr,* It has been reported that he was arrested in
December 1989 for refusing military service. Ha was reportedly beaten up and his
jaw broken;

(h) Mr,r_m-R~. It was reported that he had dietributed pictures of *
the late Shah and displayed the former Iral-ian flag in Valiahd Square and
Pole-Seyyed Khandan. Reportedly, he had been arrested by the revolutionary guards
at the house af a certain Mr. Misaghieh at Shemiran and taken to the Komiteh in
Jsmaran District, where he was allegedly tortured1  as a result, his jaw and teeth
were broken1

(i) Mr,Aslen* It has been reported that at Evin prison he suffered
severe beatings;

(j) Mr.Maaooaw* Security off icers al legedly used burning
cigarette  butts  to  inscribe on his  back “death to opponents of Velayate Faghih”
(rel igious guide);

(k) Mr.Navabeli_ahaemmrrghami* It has been reported that he was subjected to
various forms of sexual abuse and psychoJogica1  torture in Ghom prison. He was
allegedly forced to watch other prisone;s  being tortured. Several times, his
clothes were reportedly soiled with the urine and excrement of other prisoners!

(1) kiEh-T&erle~~ani aged 53, reportedly spent more than five
years in prison, par t ly  in  so l i tary  confinemcW. As a result of being flogged on
the soles  of  her feet  with cables , and other kinds of alleged torture, she had to
undergo surgical operations;

(ml ‘~s..aya-Hia~.~* It has been reported that the Procurator of
Tabriz prison allegedly ordered her arrest when she refused his sexual advances.
In prison she was allegedly flogged and forced to witness other prisoners being
tortured;

/ . l .
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(n) Mr.Ahmsde It has been reported that he was imprisoned from
1981 to 1986 in Evin, Gohardasht and Ghezel-Hesar prisons. Despite the fact tha:
he has epilepsy, he  was  a l l eged ly  Subjected  to  d i f f erent  k inds  of  torture .  In
particular, it was reported that he was beaten with cables, that his genital organs
were connected to electric wires and that he was forced to witness other prisoners
be ing  tor tured .  Al l eged ly , the prison guards used to confiscate the drugs he
needed to treat his epilepsy, and when he had epileptic fits, medical care was not
provided except in the most critics1 situations;

(0) MrLihuLmm* It has been reported that the prison guards in Tabriz
broke his teeth during beatings. Reportedly, he also suffers from severe mental
problems as a result of torturet

(P) Mt.Ebrehim* It was alleged that he waz unlawfully imprisoned
and tortured. He reportedly filed a complaint with the authorities, but to no
avai 1 t

(q) Mr, Af dab Paa.I t  h a s  b e e n  r e p o r t e d  t h a t ,  o n  t w o  o c c a s i o n s  a t
Ghom prison, he was tied to a chair while dogs were incited to attack him;

(r) Jahp Pat-, c i t i zen  of  the  Uni ted  Sta tes  of  Amer ica . It  is  reported
that he has been held in Evin prison for four years. The prison doctors have
allegedly stated that he is suffering from severe anaemia due to malnutrition, from
weight loss , loss of hair and that his skin has a green hue;

(8) -0 It has been alleged that he was forced to perform
var ious  sexual  acts  in Tabriz prison;

(t) Ab,m&&~U.i,  3 2  y e a r s  o l d . He was arrested in 1961 at Tehran
and sent to Evin prison, where he allegedly was under constant torture. In 1983,
he was sent to Ghasr prison at Tehran. Since 1909, the prison guards have not
allowed any meetings with him. Since then there has been no news of
Mr. Rashed-Marandi z

(u) Mr.. It has been reported that four prison guards
sexually abused him and that he was beaten on his genitals;

(VI -Reas former manager at 3ne of the Government offices.
It has been reported that he is in prison without any charge and trial, and that he
has suffered from torture many times, resu l t ing  i n  ser ious  damage  to  h i s  f ee t ;

(WI b4s.FatemaTaafaAl* It W&R  reported that she was arrested in 1961 on
the accusation of being a Mojahedin sympathiser. While in prison,  she was
al legedly subjected to torture, result ing in serious mental  disorder. She was
released in 1988, after six years of imprisonment:

(x) hLfliD&mt 37 years old, was arrested in 1962 and taken to Evin
prison. There he was given a brief trial, reportedly without the presence of a
lawyer for his defenae. He was sentenced to an undefined period, from 15 to
17 years’ imprisonment. Later he was transferred to Gohardanht prison, where he

/ . . .
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was held until the spring of 1909, when he wa8  transferred back to Evin prison.
Allegedly he has been severely tortured several times during his years of
imprisonment ;

(y) Msc Mehranaiew. It h.dq been reported that she was arrested in
1981 snd charged with being a Mojahedin sympathizer. She was imprisoned for two
and a half years in Tabriz prison. It was asserted that in prison she was
subjected to different kinds of torture and rape, Allegedly as a result of having
been raped repeatedly, her intestine8 were damaged  and she had to undergo a
surgical operation. She was hospitalized  for 18 months, first in the hospital of
Tabriz prison and then in an ordinary hospital. It  is  al leged that  she has not  yet
fully recovered,

c. Aulniniaeretion
56. It has been reported that, although the Administrative Regulations Governing
the Revolutionary Courts and Public Prosecutor’s Office8 stipulate that an Islamic
revolutionary court should be presided over by a religious judge and that it should
be composed of as many as five members, in practice, such courts have consisted of
only one judge discharging his duties in a summary fashion. Allegedly,  hearings
before such courts have in many instances bezn a matter of minutes only.

57. It  has also been re.dorted that  trials  before Is lamic revolutionary courts  have
usually taken place in secret, sometimes inside prisons, that defendants have not
enjoyed the right to be represented by a lawyer, and often have not even been made
aware that the proceedings were in fact a trial and not an interrogation session.

56. It has been reported that prisoners may be held in indefinite pre-trial
detention. The principle of presumption of innocence is allegedly not respected,
particularly when the subject is accused of baing a member of an armed opposition
group. It was said that lawyers generally do not accept cases of such a nature in
order not to be suspected of being armed opposition sympathizers  themselves. The
absence of lawyers in political trials has been considered as one major shortcoming
in the procedures of revolutionary courts. Others were said to consist  in the
denial of the right of the accused to call witnesses in their own defence, and in
the absence of the right of appeal against verdict and sentence, I n  t h i s
connection,  i t  may be recal led that ,  during his  f irst  vis i t ,  the Special
Representative was informed by the President cf the Supreme Court of Justice that
the right of appeal is recognised and that no exception is made in cases under the
jurisdict ion of the revolutionary courts.  However,  Article  1112  of  the
Administrative Regulations Governing the Revolutionary Courts and Public
Prosecutor’s Offices precludes the possibility of any revision being made to the
judgements of Islamic revolutionary courts. (For the explanations received from
the authorit ies  in this  regard see para. 206. )

59. It  was also said that , in the proceedings of  revolutionary courts ,  the
requirement for adequate time and facilities for the preparation of a defence is
generally not met. Reportedly, during the period of investigation, persons to be
tried betore revolutionary courts are frequently held in solitary confinement and

/ I . .
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incomunicado  and ace not informed sufficiently in advance of the date of their
t r i a l . It was further alleged that in practice the Islamic revolutionary courts
give greater priority to handing out exemplary punishments than to ensuring that
the accused receive ti fair  trial .

60. Other reports alleged disregard ot court sentences by arbitrary extension of
the terms of imprisonment, execution of inmates sentenced to life or imprisonment
of various durations or rearrest of persons who already completed their prison
terms.

61. With regard to the administration of justice in cases of drug trafffckiny, it
has been reported by the newspaper Abrar that, in conformity with instructions
given by the Deputy Chief of Intelligence of the General Committee8 Command, since
the entry into force of a new law against drug trafficking, 50,000 drug addicts
have been arrested, including 19,822 heroin addicts, 22,963 opium addicts, and
7,215 hashish addicts. According to figures provided by BaiLi  Tehran on
10 January 1990, out of a total number of 800,000 drug addicts in the country,
50,000 have been arrested, On 24 January 1990,v announced that
335 drug trafficker8 and pushers had been arrested on 21 January, as well as 2,231
addicts, and that all had been handed over to the judicial authorities.

62. The Special Representative has been apprised of the following specific cases
of alleged irregularities in the administration of justice, which were reported as
follows I

(a) Ms. Miw, aged 36, widow, medical doctor, daughter of Ziaedin and
Aghdas , It has been reported that she was arrested on 9 October 1984 and sentenced
to seven years’  imprieodment. Her husband, Mr. Anoushirvan Lofti,  one of the
leaders of the Organisation of Iranian People’s Fedeyan, was arrested in 1983 and
executed in 1988. Her daughter, Khatereh, was born in prison on 30 March 1984. On
28 April 1984, the child was given to Mitra Ameli’s  mother for ccre outside the
prison. It was reported that Ms. Ameli’s  release, due in 1990, had been made
contingent upon her publicly denouncing the activities of her late husband]

(b) Mr.  BpOBT-a, Brit ish,  aged 55,  businessman.  It  has been reported
that he was arrested on 7 December 1985, apparently for overstaying his visa. He
was allegedly held without charges, and was refused any consular visit until
August 1986. During the early months of his detention he was described publicly a8
a British spy and was portrayed in a television interview a8 confessing to vague
spying charges. However, no charge8 have ever been announced and no public trial
held. Consular acce88 has allegedly been inadequate. He has received only six
consular visit8 from members of thfi British Interest8 Section and four from members
of his  family s ince his  detention. Hia right to send and receive mail has
reportedly been seriously limited, although this ie said to have improved in recent
months. Rumours were reported according to which he had been sentenced to two
terms of imprisonment on spying charges, with the result that he would not be
el igible  for release unti l  about 2003;

(c)  Jemshia  was reportedly executed in the city  of  Masjed Solaiman
after four months of imprisonment and without a trial. During his time in prison
his family was not permitted to visit him;

/ . L .
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(d) Mehraaab. It is reported that he was executed in the city of Maejed
Soliaman  after 4 months of imprisonment and without a trial. During hie detention
hi8 family was not permitted to visit himr

(e) Mr. WPirPcra,  accountant in the Office of the Justice Minirtry  in
Tonekabon. It was reported that on 3 December 1989,  10 Guardians of the ISlSmiC
Revolution went to his hOU80, took away some of his private dOCUment8  and
intimidated his wife and children. Later in the day, two Guardians of the IelamiC
Revolution came to hi8 office and took him to Naehtrrroud  prison, blindfolded and
handcuffed. The Guardian8 told him that his arrest warrant had bean iSSUed  by
Mr. Rtunasanipour, Public Prosecutor of the Islamic Revolution in Tonekabon. In
prison, Mr. Firooa was asked to sign some prepared torts inoriminsting Certain
officials of the Justice Ministry and secular judges in Tonekabon who had sentenced
some Guardians of the ISla~niC  Revolution to death for having carried out
assassinations. Mr. Firoos refused to sign the papers and as a coneequenoe  wax
allegedly tortured. His wife reported the matter to the Office of the Inapectorats
General at Tehran. Two inspect.ors  came from Tehran and reportedly confirmed that
the prison authorities had tortured Mr. Firoos and other prisoners.  However ,  later
the inspectors returned to Tehran as a result of pressure exercised by higher
religious authorities without concluding their investigation. When Mrs.  Firoos
tried to pursue the matter in Tehran with the Office of the Inspectorsto  General,
Quardians attacked and confiscated her car. Mr. Firoos subsequently managod to
escape from prisonr

(f) Me.,.Hurau,  aged 30, married, teacher, daughter of Ghasem and
Sedigheh. It was reported that she was arrested in February 1983 in Tshran and
sent to Evin prison. She has allegedly not been informed of the reaeone and
duration of her imprisonment!

(g) us. mar aged about 35, widow, high school teacher and editor
of a young women’s newspaper of the Youth Organisation  of the Tudeh Party,
Asarakhah. It is reported that she was detained a8 s’he was going to a meeting at
the Party’s of flees in Tehran in early 1963. Her hueband,  Mr. ltiumare Zarehenae,
and another 50 people were arrested on the came day. For about eix monthr after
Zohreh Ghaeni’s  arrest, there was no news of her whereaboute and no one wee able to
see her. Subsequert to televised confeesione by eeveral Tudeh Party leadera, she
wa8 able to telephone her family. -0 or three months later, the authoritisa at
Evin prison notified her family that they would be parmitted to visit her once
every two weeks. She was allegedly not tried until about three and a hslf year@
after her arrest. Her trial reportedly consisted of her being brought before a
mulish who elentenced  her to eight years’ imprisonment. This sentence was to run
from the date of trial and did not take into account the period of pre-trio1
detention. The precise charge against her is allegedly still not known.
Reportedly, she was told by the prison authorities that She must divorce her
husband, as he was a communist and an atheist. She refused to comply and her
husband waft executed in autumn 1968. During the time of the Government of the
Shah, Ms. Ghaeni spent one and a half years in prison ae a result of her political
activitiersr

(h) M&U&L-~ was reportedly sentenced to seven years’ imprisonment and
executed shortly before completion of hi8 prison term)
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(1) S-&&&&i,  born in 1962 in Rasht, was reportedly detained
on 15 September 1961 and executed in the city OF Rasht on 14 September 1959,
allegedly without any trial2

( j) M6. Fatemeb&&-Tus&M~g&&m  a l s o  k n o w n  as G i t i  Asareng, a g e d
about 40, widow, employee of an insurance company: It has been reported that she
wae arrested in April 1903 with her two-year-old son, who was imprisoned with her
but later released and handed over to relatives. She was sentenced to 13 years’
imprisonment , apparently for having link8 with the Tudeh Party. Her husband.
Saeed Assrang, was executed in the latter part of 1965t

(k) MUmAti,  aged approximately 40, widow, medical doctor. It was
reported that she had beeli a political prisoner under the Shah’s r6gime  and was
again arrested in February 1983, at the same time as her husband,
Mr. Faribors Salehi, f o r  act iv i t i e s  in  support  o f  the  Organisation nf Iranian
People’s Fedeyan. Her husband was executed in 19A8. She was sentenced to 20
year 6 ’ imprisonment after a summary trial. While in prison, She has allegedly
contracted tuberculosist

(1) tin J-m, 26 years  old,  was reportedly imprisoned in 1951 in
Semiron. After approximately 35 days in prison, she was allegedly executed without
t r i a l ;

(ml Mohammadu, 24 years old, was imprisoned in 1951 in
Semi ron, and allegedly without any trial, was executed after 35 days in prison;

(n) McLAmirhaAQ._ltmrsni. It has been reported that he was arrested
in 1984. In 1986 he was sentenced to 30 years’ imprisonment. Since 1985 he has
not. been allowed to receive visits. His present whereabouts are unknown;

(0) Ms. &&sMohammadi,  aged about 65,  widow, journalist  and editor of  the
Tudeh Party newspapers Mardom and pw. She was arrested in April 1983, along
with Meriem Firoue, and sentenced to death, but the sentence was later commuted.
The charges on which She was convicted ars unknown. She was married to
Moharrmed  Pour-Hormosan, a leading Tudeh Party figure, wile was executed in the
autumn of 1908:

(p) SByved-v 6 4  y e a r s  o l d . It has been reported that he has been
detaindrl  s ince 24 Apri l  1955’without  any charge or trial , allegedly because his son
wa6 a Mojahedin supporter;

(q) b. Mow ass is tant  l i eutenant  in  the  Army.
reported that he was arrested in 1951,’

It was
allegedly because the Guardians of the

Islamic  Revolution were unable to arrest his wife, Ms. Zahra Nouri, accused Of
being a Mojahedin sympathiser. In 1982, he was sentenced to life imprisonment in a
summary trial which reportedly lasted five m!nutes;

(r) A.li Rem, born in 1957,  was reportedly executed in 1989 after s ix
year& of  detention in Evin, Gohardasht and Ghesel-Hesar prisons. Reportedly, he
had been sentenced to only five years:

/ . . .
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(a) M~RzL~, a g e d  3 6 , married, student, daughter of Jaber. It has
been reported that she was arrested in June 1981, sent to Evin prison and sentenced
to two years’ imprisonment. At the end of the two years, she was rrgain questioned
but not released. She has allegedly not been told why and how long she must remain
!a prison]

(t)  m. Fm, aged 33,  married,  student,  daughter of  Fathali
and Ehteram. It has been reported that she was arrested in 1983 in Hesarak, Raraj,
with her six-month-old son. The child was in prison up to school age.
Ma. Sabetjahromi was eentonced to 10 years’ imprisonment. She is  the wife  of
Mr. Ebrahim Avakh, leader of the Organisation of Revolutionary Workers of Irant

( u )  Ms.-.-(Zohreh), w i d o w ,  t e a c h e r .  I t  w a s  rtlported
that she had spent over five years in prison during the Shah’s Government, but had
been released at the time of the revolution. She was re-arrested in 1983. It i s
not known whether she has been tried or sentenced since then;

(VI Mohammad_Reee* It has been reported that he is in prison
without any charge or trialj

(w) Wdi VOSQQJU~~ was reportedly arrested in 1985 and sentenced to four
years ’ imprisonment. After the first year he was tried again and convicted for 12
years. In June 1988, he was reportedly executed.

63. It has been reported that the Qovernment  continuously intervenes in the free
flow of information in the form of letters, telegrsms, telexes and telephone
conversations. In this connection it was alleged that a large number of disabled
veterans have been hired and placed in the communications offices throughout the
country to monitor telephone conversations between citisens. Let :ers coming in and
going out of the country are allegedly routinely opened.

64. It has also been reported that printing houses are required to obtain the
previous formal permission of the Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance for all
publications and that printing paper is attributed by the Ministry only to those
publishing houses whose publications have been approved.

65. On 27 June 1990, the Special Representative sent a letter to the Permanent
Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at
Geneva expressing concern about reports received according to which a number of
co-signatories of an open letter which Mr. Mehdi Basargan, Prime Minister of the
first provisional Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran, together with 89
other persons, recently addressed to the President of the Republic, had been
srree\;ed. The names of some of the detained co-signatories of the open letter were
given as follows: Abdol  Ali Baaargan (son of Mehdi Basargan), Essatollah Sahabi
(former Director of Planning and Budget), Ress Sadr (former Minister of Trade),
Hussein Bani Assadi (former Vice-Prime Minister), shams  Shahshahani (former

/ . 9 .
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Prosecutor of Tehran), Nour Ali Tabandeh  (lawyer and former Vice-Minister of
Justice), Yadollah Chamee Ardallan, Ali Ardalaa, Rochan Ardaian,  Farhad Behbahani,
Abbss Qhaem  Sabahi, Khossro Mansourian, Hashem Sabaghian,  Esatollah Hamede  Sahabi,
Mohemnad Tavassoli and Akbar Zarrinehbaf. The Specisl Representative requested the
Permanent Representative of the Islamic Republic of Iran to provide him with
information about the arrest of these persons, the charges brought against them and
about the Association for the Defence of Freedom and Sovereignty of the Iranian
Nation, which had been alle+edly  dissolved as a consequence of the open letter.
The Special Representative requested assurances that any persons arrested in the
above context would receive humane treatment while in detention and benefit from
all procedural safeguards provided for in the International Covenant on Civil and
Polit ical  Rights .

66. On 9 Ju:,y 1990, the Special Representative transmitted the following
additional names of persons allegedly arrested as a consequence of the open
letter 8 Mr. Habib Davaran, Mr. Naim Pour, Mr. Amir Tavakol Ebrahimi,
Mr. Hossein Shah Hoeseini, Mr. Nesamedine  Movshed, Mr. Mahmoud Maleki,
Mr. Hormos Momayesi, Mr. Said Sadr, Mr, Hamid  Sadr, Mr. Rhoerow Parse,
Mr. Ahmad Shayegan, Mr. Mahmoud Habibi, Mrs. Shahin  Parsa and Mrs. Asar Sadr. He
also reiterated the requests made in his letter of 27 June 1990. On
8 October 1990, the following additional names of allegedly arrested persons were
communicated to the Governmental Mr. Abedi Rahim, Mr, Ghaemossabahi-Abbes,
Mr. Yekta Habib, Mr, Gorgi Ali and Mr. Qharavi Asghar.

67. On 12 July 1990, the Special Representative heard the testimony of
Mr. Aboulfas Ehorassani Nejad, who said he was a political science graduate and a
reporter for an evening newspaper. He said that  his  journalist ic  act ivit ies  had
caused him serious problemsa on the one hand, his articles were often censored or
not printed and he was not entirely free to practise his profession. On the other
hand, because of his articles, he received many letters containing threats from the
Mojahedin, which considered him a collaborator of the Government without realising
that his  articles  were often rewrrtten, In 1981, he and his wife were assaulted by
two individuals armed with revolvers who shot at them. As a result of that attack,
his  wife  died.

68. Another person interviewed the same day said he &lad belonged to the Tudeh
Party and carried out  pol i t ical  act ivit ies  in the north of the country on the
border with the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. In September 1983, he had
been arrested and had been in prison until February ‘988.

69. Many press reports. publications of opposition groups abroad and reports from
Iranian sources told of clashes between demOnStratOrF  and Pasdaran on the out.skirts
of Shiroudf Stadium in Tehran. The incidents were apparently aet off by the
cancellation of the soccer games and the fans’ protes t s  turned  in to  po l i t i ca l
protests . The people demonstrating shouted their opposition to the Government @rncl
hurled stones against cars and buildings. Official sources acknowledged the arrest
of some 30 demonstrators an8 added that they were released after interrogation.
However , information from other sources accused the Revolutionary Guards of
shooting into the crowd indiscriminately in addition to arresting many
demonstrators and added that 10 persons disd in those incidents and were secretly
buried in unmarked graves in Behesht-Zhara Cemetery.

/ . . .
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70. On 17 April 1990, The of London printed a cable  from Tehran saying that
the police had arrested 65 people in the northern quarter of Tehran because they
were shouting political slogans and disturbing public order. The same dispatch
told of the arrest of a group of alleged hooligans attending the funeral of
Aref Valisadeh, who had been killed by the police on Monday, 16 April, when they
tried to arrest him.

71. The National Resistance Movement of Iran announced that Mr. Shapour Bakhtiar
had called for peaceful marches along the main avenues of all Iranian cities on
Friday, 18 May, from 10 a.m. to noon to demand that the Qovernment  hold free
elections under United Nations supervision, On 21 May 1990, Mr. Shapour Bakhtiar
told the Director of the Centre for Human Rights that peaceful demonstrators who
hed respcnded to his call to march for free elections had been attacked and beaten
by groups supporting the Iranian regime although they had not shouted slogans of
any kind.

72, On 19 February 1990, ~~ published a report that the Ministry
of the Interior had authorised three political parties and associations to
functiont Hedayet-e-Islam1  (Islamic Guidance), headed by Darius Zargari  Marandir
the Islamic Association of Graduates of the India-Pakistan Uubcontinent, whose
president’s name was not given1  and the Society of Zoroastrian Priests, headed by
Ardeshir Aearghoshasb.

E. IFreeaam of  movv to leave m a v to return

73. It has been reported that the Government is maintaining a computerised list of
nearly 35,000 names of ‘Iranian citisens who are forbidden to travel abroad. Those
Iranians allowed to travel abroad have to pay heavy exit duties and passport fees
in addition to tlirport tax, The reported amounts are as follows8 exit duties,
$US 625;  passport  fees ,  80s 2751 airport  tax,  &US 2 ,500.  A person leaving for a
second time during a calendar year is reportedly obliged to pay double the amount
o f  e x i t  f e e s . Travel agencies, when issuing t ickets , are reportedly required to
register the travel lers’  nsme and addrese, their destination and place of sojourn,
and to report  i t  to  the security authorit ies .

74. The Special Representative has received the following complaints of an
individual character:

(a) mshabfat,  7 5  y e a r s  o l d ,  h o u s e w i f e . In August 1988, while departing
Mehr-Abed to the United States of America, she was reportedly prevented from
boarding the aeroplane, Her passport waa  confiscated under the charge of being a
Baha’i,  irrespective of the fact that in her passport application she had declared
herself as Moslem, She was allegedly told by the authorities that she would be
permitted to leave the country if she was willing to sign a statement that she was
not a Baha’i. She signed such a statement, but the confiscated passport was never
returned to her and she was not permitted to leave the country. All  her children
are l iving in the United States  of Americat
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(b) ma, Iranian resident in the United States  of  America,  sent
his passport for renewal to the Iranian Interest Seation at the Algerian Embassy in
Washington, D.C. in November 1984, He received a letter from the Interest Section
stating that his passport hsd been confiscated because he had participated in
anti-governmc nt protests.

75. In its resolution 1990/76,  adopted on 7 March 1990, the Commission on Human
Rights condemns ell ects of intimidstion or reprisal, in whatever form, against
private individuals and groups who seek to co-operate with the United Nations and
representatives of its human rights bodies, or who have sought to avail themselves
of procedures established under United Nations ruspices for the protection of human
rights and fundamental freedoms. It  further requests  al l  representatives of  United
Nations human rights bodies reporting on violations of human rights to the
Commission cr to the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection
of Minorit ies,  in the exercise  of their respective  mandates,  to  take urgent steps,
in conformity with their mandates, to help prevent the occurrence of intimidation
or reprisal , and to devote special  attention to the quest ion in their  respective
reports to the Commission or the Sub-Commission.

76. The Special Representative has received the following complaints about cases
of int imidation or reprisal1

(a) Achea* It is reported thet the fsmily of this person, who was
executed in mid-1988, was warned by the prison authorities of the consequences they
would face in case news of the execution was made public;

(b) VA& former f irst  secretary of the Tudeh Party,  and his
w i f e  wPeiroul. It i s  r e p o r t e d  t h a t , shortly after his meeting with the
Special Representative at Evin prison, during which, inter, he asserted to
have been sub jetted to torture, Mr. Kianouri we6 placed in solitary confinement and
has no longer been allowed to receive visits. It  was also reported that  the same
treatment has been applied to Mr. Kfanouri’s wifer

(c) I t  w a s  a l s o  a l l e g e d  t h a t , during the Special  Representative’s  f irst
v i s i t , several persons who had tried to contact him at the UNDP Office at Tehran
had been prevented from doing so by Government agents who took them for questioning
to various Komiceh instal lat ions. In particular, it was reported that a husband
and wiEe (names provided to the Special Representative) had been taken in this
manner to a Komiteh at Mottahari Avenue in central Tehran, where they were
questioned, intimidated and esked to sign a written commitment not to contact the
Special Representative or any member of his team. According to the report, these
persons subsequently received several death threats over the telephone and were
repeatedly summoned by the Komiteh. It was also said that a great number of
potential  complainants  (former pol i t ical  prisoners or relat ives  of  executed
persons) were also threatened over the telephone or summoned to Komiteh
instal lat ions or the revolutionary prosecutor’s  off ice and ordered,  under th sts
of imprisonment or execution, to keep away from the Special Representative.

/ . . .
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77. In a letter dated 23 March 1990, Mr. Basaigan, former Prime Minister of the
first provisional Government, told the Special  Representative that  in letters  dated
15 end 16 February 1990 to the Prosecutor Qeneral of Tehran and the Minister of the
Interior respectively, Mr. Tavassoli had reported that he end his family had
received threats and abusive telephone calls in the days following his conversation
with the Gpecial  Representative, He had attached copies of the letters.

78. On 13 July 1990, the Special Representative had an interview with a witness
who requested that his name be kept confidential. The witness stated that  after
the Specie1 Representative had left Tehran, family members and relatives of
witnesses who had testified before the Special Representative had received threats
or been arrosted. He stated further that some prisoners who had sppeared  before
the Special Representative had been tortured and received death thrests. At the
request of the Special Representative, the witness  under”cook to  provide specif ic
and detailed information about the ects he had denounced.

79. According to reports received by the Special Representative, women in the
Islamic Republic of Iran have suffered from various acts of discriminstion.
Unequal treatment meted out to women has been alleged in the following particular
areas.

80. In the family context  i t  he6 been reported,  Malia, that a husband, father
or brother may kill his wife, daughter or sister when she commits an inunorrl or
unchss te act , Further, in case of  dissolution o f  marriage,  a  mother’s  r ight  o f
cuetody over her children was seid to be limited to the son under two years of age
and the daughter under 7 years , even when the father has died.

81. In the area of equsl opportunities for women, it was alleged that women have
no eccess to certain f ie lds of  study,  e.g. graphics ,  visual  communications and
cinematography. Promotional opportunities for women were said to be few, with
practically no women in managerial or supervisory positions.

82. With regard to the administration of justice, it wee reported thst a women’s
testimony in court was considered to be worth half that of a man. Thus, it would
take two women witnesses to offset a single msle’s testimony. It has also been
alleged that a virgin woman condemned to death goes through forced matrimony and is
deflowered before the death sentence is carried out.

H .  Goof-

83. It has been reported that, according to Clause 1 of Article 1210 of the Civil
Law, the age of puberty for girls has been determined to be nine lunar yeare
(equivalent to eight years and nine months) .  At that age8  the father or the
paternal grandfather reportedly hss the right to merry off his young daughter to
anyone he considers  au? table, in exchange for a sum of money, the so-celled “Shir
Baha”.

/ . . .
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84, It has also been reported thst, according to Article 32 of the Law dealing
with Islamic punishment, physical punishment of children is permitted to the limit
of maiming them.

05. On 23 February 1990, six witnesses members of the Orgsnimation  for Defending
Victims of Violence, an organisstion  established in the Islamic Republic of Iran,
requested to be heard by the Special Representative in Geneva. They esked  that
their names be kept confidential,

86. One witness stated that he used to be a teacher of English and had never
engaged in polit ical  activit ies. Since he was bearded, the Mojahedin suspected him
of being a fundamentalist end Qovernment agent and made en attempt on his life
which resulted in the death of his wife. They advertised the incident es “having
executed a Governmmt  agent”. The witneee steted that he had not been in his
wife’s company when the killing took place. He further stated that in Tehren he
had tried to see the Special Representative witbout successg He promised to send a
list uith the nsmes of 12 people who, according to him, were also killed by the
Mojshedin. He stated that his trip to Geneva had been financed by the families of
people who had died in similar circumstancgs,

87. Another witness ststed that he we6 en err-member of the Mojahedin. He had
joined the movement eftsr the Revolution, as he had been attracted by its
propagenda. For two years he was trained in political activities, such es
organising of public demonetrtit.ions and social upheaval. Afterwards he went
through a militrry  training period. In the year following his military training he
wee arrested by the Government and taken to Evin prison. He stated that he never
had  participated  direc t ly  in mi l i tary  ac t iv i t ie s . He was condemned to 10 years in
gaol but was released during the general amnesty in 1986 after serving 4 years. He
had knowledge of at least three sssassinstions  perpetrated by Mojahedin agents!  the
victim8 were a grocer, a taxi driver and a watchmaker.

88. Another witness stated that he WN 8 medical doctor by profession and en
er-member of the Democratic Kurdistan Party. He had belonged to that party two
years before and one yeer after the Revolution. He alleged that the Democretic
Kurdistan  Party had received money from the Government of Iraq before the war. In
feet, each family involved in this party had received 5,000 dinars from the Iraqi
Qovernmeat. The Irsnian agent for the distribution of money was a man called
Abdullah and was presently very influential with the Party. Although he was in
exile now, he continued his activities from abroad. According to the witness, the
Kurdietm party told their members after the Revolution not to hand in the weapons
used in their fight against the Shah. One year after the war with Iraq had
started, a group.of  people from the Party went to Iraq and brought back arms to
fight the Iranian’ Government. The witness expressed the view that the present
Qovernment has been lenient and has accepted many facts of Kurdish life, such ~1s
publications in their own languages. Although courses in Qovernment schools are
tsught in Farei, private schools which conduct their teachings in Kurdish are

/ ..*
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permitted. This was not the case during the period of the Shah. He further etated
that frequently he had received death threats and that many of the people who had a
relationship with the central Oovurrfient  had been assassinated. He stated that he
knew of the assassinstics  of a woman who was five months pregnant when she wae
killed on suspicion of co-operating with the Government.

89. Another witness stated that she had joined the Mojahedin for a period of three
years through her husband who was a Mojahedin leader. Both had received military
training and she had served as a deputy to her husband. They were arreeted
together and her husband was eneeuted. As hix deputy she had initially been
condemned to prison for life, but her sentence was later reduceid  to 10 years. She
was released in 1989, after having served six years. The witness further stated
that, as an ex-member of the Mojahedin, she could test i fy to the fact  that they
were a terrorist group, She hacl been told by the Wojahedin  that certain people
were considered as  essential  to  the Qovernment  and that i f  they were ki l led the
Government would collapsr,, Now she realised that this system of etruqqle was not
rational , One terrorist she had known personally was Mr. Radjavi, who had served
in the group of her husband. In 1982 Mr, Radjavi had killed a grocer at Dj’an
Houri whose name was Hossein  Mehrabanian. Mr. Radjavi had also received the order
to kill a wood carver, called Davood Naeeur Bake, who had left the Mojahedin
0rganisat:on. Two other members of her husband’s group, who were later caught, had
killed a seller of textiles by the name of Haji at Narmak. Another killer
belonging to the group was Ali Soleamani  who 1 Cved at Djavadeeh and had
assaseinated a housewife. Another terrorist she knew had killed two people, one of
whom owned an electricity shop in Jajreesh Street and the other, by the name of
Mahmoud, had lived in Tajreesh Street. The witness etatad  that it was not easy for
a member of the Mojahedin to leave the organisation and asked the Special
Representative’s  help in this  regard. The witness also stated that ,  while  in
prison, she had met a girl by the name of Moagan Momayoum Far who was a member of
the Mojahedin. Her foot had been emputated as a result of an accident she miffsred
while carrying out a Mojahedin miesiont after the accident, the driver had left her
without organising help, Later the Mojahrdin  publicised the case,  al leging that
she had lost her foot during her otay in prison.

90, Another witness stated that she had been arrested in September 1971, as she
had held responsibi l i ty for the protection of one of the privet0 hiding pieces  of
the Mojahedin. Five or six persons were living there; one was called Mohammed and
was the perpetrator of  several  assassinations. In 1981 a  f rui t  sel ler was ki l led
by Mohammed because he supported the Government. Other members of the
organisation, called All-Resa Madani and Rexa Ostad Hoosein,  had killed two college
students by the names of Rexa Darreh Vand and Naserh Salem. The entire group was
arrested in September 1981, The witness stated that when new members jotned the
Mojahedin they were promised all kinds of facilitiee, but all the promises proved
t o  b e  l i e s  a n d ,  l i t t l e  b y  l i t t l e , they were induced to cornnit crimes. The facts
related ahould be considered only as semples  of the act ivit ies  of  the Mojahedia.
She said she did not understand how it was possible that members of the
organisation were allowed to move freely in Switxerland and in the United Nations.
The witnees stated that uhe had first been condemned to a life sentence but that
she had been released after sir and a half years.

/ .a.
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91. Another witness, an employee with the Iranian Television, stated that when his
wife was 16 years old, she had contacts with the Mojahedin organisation. After
their engagement she left the organisation at his request. When they got married,
she received threatening letters from the Mojahedin asking her to return to the
organisation. fn 1982, a woman who used to be a friend of his wife, accompanied by
three men, went to their house and violently attacked his wife,  who was pregnant at
that time. As a consequence their child was born disabled and his wife suffers
from speech problems.

92. In addition, on 12 July 1990, the Special Representative heard the te8timor.y
in Qeneva  of other persons who had requested hearings and who gave testimony on
this  question. Some of them asked that their names be kept confidential.

93. Mr. Gasam Faripoor said that his father was killed in 1981 by terrorist groups
despite  the fact  that  he was not  pol i t ical ly  involved. Thus his family became one
of the many families victims of terrorism.

94. Another person stated that he had worked with the Mojahedin organisation. As
a result  of  his  pol i t ical  act ivit ies  he had served four years in prison,  f rom 1981
to 1985. He is now working in his father’s business, but he intends to resume the
medical studies he was forced to interrupt to serve his prison term. Hi6
applications for readmission to the University have been rejected. He charged that
the groups belonging to the Mojahedin, as well as other political, social and
religious qroups, were trying to exploit and take advantage of the forthcoming
vis i t  by the Special  Representative to  Iran. Nevertheless , he said that during the
first visit,  many families victims of terrorism had not been able to speak with the
Special Representative. He added that many people, including children, were being
held prisoner by the Mojahedin.

95. Another person stated that he had been a member of the Mojahedin organisation
since 1979, the year when he was recruited. At the beginning, he was assigned
simple tasks such as distributing propaganda leaflets . Later, he was given more
important polit ical  tasks,  but  never mil i tary tasks. He stated that in 1981, the
organisat ion decided to step up i ts  terrorist  act ivit ies  with the aim of
eliminating those it considered to be key people, mainly officers of the army and
the  secur i ty  forcee. The chief of his cell was Mohammed Moghaddam, who did take
p a r t  i n  t e r r o r i s t  a c t i v i t i e s . The witness says he had to qo into hiding and live
in a house with his weapons at the ready. In 1983, his house was raaed by the
security forces and he received a gunshot wound. He was sentenced to 20 years in
prison. He appealed the sentence and the term was reduced to 15 years. In 1987,
after four years and three months in prison, he was released under the amnesty
decreed that year.

96. Another person stated that hie son was killed rine years ago after receiving a
number of threats from members of the Mojahedin organization.

97. Another person, a university student, stated that his younger brother had been
killed by members of the Mojahedin despite the fact that  he was not  pol i t ical ly
involved. He said that  he tried unsuccessfully to apeak  with the Special
Representative during his  f irst  vis i t . He added that many members of the families
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of victims of terrorism had not been able to see the Special Representative either
at that time.

98. It has been reported that the Iranian Bible Society was dissolved by the
Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance in February 1990, and has failed in
numerous attempts to get approval to re-open. The Iranian Bible Society has
operated legally and openly for the last 10 years. A f t e r  i t s  d i s s o l u t i o n ,  i t s
f i les  were confiscated and i ts  staff  locked out  of the premises . In  addi t ion ,  i t s
executive secretary, Mr, Sadegh Sepehri, his wife and his son, have allegedly
suffered harassment and threats of imprisonment.

99. It has been reported that, starting with the academic year 1963-1964,
religious education was prohibited in all Christian Armenian schools. New books in
Farai prepared by Muslim theologians were reportedly introduced. It has also been
said that a8 of 1985-1966 all Christian Armenian schoolgirls were forced to wear an
Ielemfc  vei l ,  irrespective of  the fact  that  they were slready wearing scarves
covering their hair and neck. It has been also reported that Armenian clergymen,
including the Archbishop, have been prohibited from entering school compounds,
while Muslim clergymen have free access. It was also alleged that messages to the
students on the occasion of religious holidays have to be submitted in Farei for
approval by the authorities two weeke in advance.

100. It was also reported that the Ardak Manoukian  Armenian School wan forcibly
taken from the Armenian community and transformed into a Muslim school.

101. It was alleged that, in April 1990, Quardians of the Islamic Revolution
entered the Sfpan Cultural and Athletic Club of the Armenian community, closed the
club and detsinad three members of the board and the office clerk. They were
reportedly accused of allowing girls to be present in the premises without head
8carv88. The four detained p8rsons were reportedly sentenced to 74 lashes for
violating the Constitution. Allegedly, they were allowed to “purchase” the laehee
by paying 70,000 rials each.

102. Although the number of Baha’ie reported to be imprisoned has declined from 13,
as at 28 November 1989, to 9, as at 30 June 1990, it was alleged that the overall
policy of discrimination towards the Baha’i community has not changed. The
termination of discrimination and persecution is reportedly conditioned on the
Baha’ie  recanting their  faith. Some improvements that were brought to the
attention of  the Special  Representative reportedly relate only to the s i tuation of
certain individual Baha’is  but not to the community a8 a whole.

103. On 12 July 1990, the Special Representative received a person who requested to
give test imony with regard  to the s ituation of the Bahs’is,  but asked that his neme
be kept confidential . He said that  he converted to the Baha’i  fai th in 1973.  He
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stated that the Baha'is  mix rel igion with pol i t ics . He was forced to attend all
the meetings, which drained his physical and psychological energy. I n  1988,  he
converted to the Muslim faith, He stated that nowadays, the Beha’is were free to
develop their activities with the consent of the Government. Indeed ,  he  eeid, i t
was better to say you were a Bahe’i to get work or get a passport more promptly.
In his view, there wa6  no discrimination against  Baha’is  in OdUCetiOn, whether in
school or in the university, or in medical or hospital care.

104. Three other persons asked to Speak  with the Special Representative on
12 July 1990 and rOqU06tOd that their nemes  be kept confidential , They stated that
a6  a  reeult of  the Special  Representative’s  f irst  vis i t  to  the Is lamic Republic  of
Iran ,  the  Go**--.,.Nnent had released several followers of the Bahe’i faith who were
being detained, haa l i fted the ban on the travell ing in the country without
permission, had facilitated their acc866 to farm property and established special
preferences enabling them to obtain passports. According to their reports, one had
only to say he/she belonged to the Baha’i to get a passport immediately. The
attitude towards the Baha’is in the communication media had also changed for the
better. However, they stated that some Baha’is still maintained a posture of
confrontation and were trying to create tensions.

105. Written information on the situation of the Bahe’is has also been received by
the Special  Representative, accompanied in many instance6 by official Iranian
documents. The information r8CeiVOd has been divided into the following categoriesl

1 .  -of-

106. In a letter dated 22 February 1990, addressed to 16oetu’llah  Nazari, a retired
employee of the Behe’i faith, th8 National Iranian Oil Company stated: “As you
haV8  already b80n informed, in accordance with Civil Court verdict No. h.b. 123617
of 15 Ordibehesht  1362 (5 May 1983) and bOCaUE8  you belong to the misguided Baha’i
sect, you have b88n permanently disqualified from exercieing Government function6
and from serving in any GOVerI668nt-affiliated  organisation”.

107. In a letter dated 13 January 1990, th8 Department of Social Security stated
that, in accordance with the decision  of the Town Committee of the Manpower Section
of the Ministry of Health, Menuchihr Shirvani and Ali Akbar Nawrueiyen had been
sentenced to permanent dismissal from their pjsts because they belonged to the
misguided Baha’i sect.

108. On 10 Ds?ember  1989, the Department of Social Security informed the Office of
Social siervices for the Employ886 of the Ministry of  Labour that, in accordance
with the relevant decision, Dhabihuillah Feda’i  had been permanently dismissed from
his poet because of his membership in the misguided Baha’i sect and that payment of
hi6 pension continued to be suspended on the basis of verdict No. 28827/6 of
14 SOptembOr  1963.

109. In a letter dated 25 October 1989, Primary Section of the.Ac%ninistrative  Court
handed down d8CiSiOn No. 1002 upholding an earlier decision concerning
Mre. Is6at Ha’i Nejafabadi who wae diemiesed  from the Ministry of Education and
deprived of her retirement because of being a Baha’i, The charges against her were
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baaed on Section 2 of Act No. 19 containing the Regulation6 on Administrative
Offences and the decision was declared final, since the plaintiff dicl not eubmit ’
any ground6 or evidence to change it.

110. In a letter datecl 30 September 1989 from the OPfice  for the Investigation OP
Administrative Offences of the Ministry of. Agriculture to
Mr. Payduilla’h Ali-Tabar, who had been dismissed from his post, it wee stated that
the fact that he belonged to the misguided Baha’i sect had been proved on the basis
of  his  confession and statement of  7  April  1902r that  the decis ion relat ing to his
dismissal from his post was therefore validr and that it was legally unnecessary to
submit the case for review.

111. On 12 September 1989, a judge of the AdNiiniStr8tiVe  Court handed down a ruling
in connection with the consideration of a complaint against the Ministry of Health,
stating that Mr. Hushang Gulistani’s considered himself a member of the misguided
Beha’i sect, that an administrative decision of 21 March 1981 had ordered hi6
dismissal from his post and the suspension of his pension payment6 and that, as
that decision had been based on the law, it could not be changed.

112. On 19 February 1989, verdict No. 855 of the Central COUncil  for the
Investigation of Administrative Offences described the case in question in the
fol lowing terms! Mrs. Qudsi Ridveni we6 registered as a member of the Baha’i sect
and acknowledged that she belonged to a Behe’i  family and had given that group
financial  assistance. The Court found her guilty and requested her to return the
funds she had sent abroad; and, since the charge6 against her had been proved, ehe
was 68ntOnCed  to permanent dismissal from her pO6t.

113. On 6 November 1909, Section 7 of the Administrative Court handed down the
following  decision; Mrs. Sureyya Samimi “admits to having been born in a Baha’i
family, but hab not made any statement recanting her faith, The Tobacco Product6
Company has cent her a reply number 42749&24  Mordad 1366 (15 August 19871, stating
that she is accused of membership in the misguided  Baha’i 60Ct and through the
verdict of the Civil Committees and the review of the Reforming Councils, she has
been sentenced to permanent dismissal from work and her salary ha6 b88n cut off.
Considering the above . . . as well as the fact that her being a Baha’i ie confirmed,
her objection is overruled and rejected. This is a final verdict and may not be
reconsidered in this court”.

2 .  Refwsal  o f  wiwal o f  worn

114, In a letter dated 31 October 1989, the National Veterinary Organisation
informed the Director of the Inspection Group of the Ministry of Agriculture that
i t  was no t  pos s ib l e  to  g ive  a  permi t  to  Jamshid Farsi beCaU68,  in  h i s  reques t  o f
2 November 1989, he had acknowledged that he wa6  a member of the misguided Baha’i
sect; and that sect was an agent of foreign interests and Governments.

115. A letter from the Central Council of Trades of Simnan, dated 20 January 1990,
informed a Baha’i, Mr. Afrasfyab Subhani, that his work permit had not been
approved and that, as from 21 January 1990, he would have to close his business and

/ . l .
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return the original permit to the Council. I t  also stated that ,  if the order was
not complied with, ho would be treated in accordance with Act No. 72 of the Union
Regulations.

116. In a letter dated 4 May 1989, the Trade Union for Repairs of Houee  Equipment
ia Qurgan  informed Mr. Massud Masudi that, following the investigation which had
been carried out confirming that he belonged to the Baha’i sect, the Trade Union
was unable to give him a work permit and he would therefore have to close his
budinese.

117. On 11 March 1989, the Bank of the People gave the Secretariat of the Banks the
following information: “With regard to letter No. 2342  dated 16 February 1982,
Mrs. Bihidukht Tibiyaai  has confessed that she belongs to the Baha’i sect and the
payment of her retirement pension has therePore been cut off”.

118. On 23 July 1989, the local Health Department in Khurasan sent a letter to the
Office of Personnel of the Ministry of Health indicating that
Mr. Dhabihullah Dhabini-Muqaddam  was a member of the misguided Eaha’i  sect and that
the payment of his salary had therefore been discontinued.

4. Prison.-

119. In a letter dated 12 March 1989, the Islamic Revolutionary Court of Qombad
referred to the case of Mrs. Bihidukht Tibiyani belonging to the Baha’i Paith in
the folio* ring terme  I “‘rhe crlse concerning the accusation that you take part in
Baha’i activities hns been considered by the Islamic Revolutionary Court of Oombad
end, ia accordance with verdict No, 1684-7 oi 26 February 1989, you have been
sentenced to one year’s imprisonments  the verdict was handed down in your absence
since you did not appear before the court”.

5 .  fnvaliaation o f  raW*ti

120. On 27 ;;ptember  1989, the Islamic Council on Supervision and Distribution of
Qoode of the Department of Commerce issued the following notice1 “We hereby
respectfully inform you that the ration card of Mrs, Ishrat Shahriyari has been
confiscated and invalidated because she is a Baha’i”,

6. D e n i a l

121. On 30 August 1989, a secondary school in Tankabun wrote a letter to the
Department of Education regarding Mr. Mahmud Mukhta’ri,  a father wishing to enrol
h i s  son1 “According to his  c lear statement, they are members of the Bsha’  1 sect.
This school is exempted from having to accept the student in question in accordance
with t!re rules  of  the Is lamic rel igion”.
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122. On 9 November 1988, a committee to inveatigate cases of expelled students
informed Miss Faraanih Khusravi Hamadani by letter that her case had been
considered and that, since she had been bannod from continuing her education
berTuse she belonyed to the Baha’i sect, @he would have to publish three
announcements in major newspapers recanting her Baha’i faith and that, if she did
not do so, her situation would remain unchanged.

123, In -nother case at the University of Allamih  Tabatabai, which was considered
and decided on 2 October 1989,  Miss Farxanih Khusravi Hamadani was prohibited from
continuing her studies because of being a Baha’i.

124. Hushanq Tabish, an employee who had worked for the Sadirat Bank was arrested
because he refused to return the salary he had received. After being in prison for
some time, he agreed to pay monthly amounts of 3,000 tumans as from October 1988.
When he had made seven monthly payments, he decided to stop them, Reportedly the
prosecutor is currently dealing with his case.

1 2 5 .  Mrs. Tal’at Maelumi, a former employee of the Departmpr,t  of Education was
ordered to return the salary that she had received while she was in Qovernment
service . The order came from the Prosecutor’s Office of Section 1 at Evin prison.
The prosecutor’s last order that the former employee should provide a guarantee of
payment was dated 28 January 1990.

126. Cal. Muhtashimi, a retired army officer received a summons to appear before
the Prosecutor’s Office of Section 1 at Evin on 18 February 1990. A piece of land
that belonged to him was confiscated as compensation for the pay he had received
during his pervice in the army.

121. Tafandiyar Ghadanfari, Nadir Ghadanf ari and Nadir Vahid have beer. summoned
repeatedly. They were taken to Section 13 at Evin prison becaune they have not
Rrovided  a guarantee that they would pay tack the selaries  ‘:hey received during the
time they were in Government service.

128. Mr, Manuchihr Mishn Chi wa:: reported to be held in Etlin  prison because he
would:  noL or could not pay back the salary he had received.

129. Mr, Yusuf Ahmada’i, whose case is with Section 4 at Evin, agreed to provide a
guarantee that he would pay back the oalary  he had received. He has already made
two payments.

130. Vahid Sabuhi yen, a former army officer who received an order for the repayment
of 153,003 tumans agreed to puy back that amount, but later decided not to do so
and to await  off ic ial  react ion.

131. Mrs. Faridih Ahmadiyyih, a former employee of the Tijarat Bank received a
summons concerning the repayment of salaries from the prosecutor of Section 12 at
Evin, dated !i August 1989.

/ . . .
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132, It has been reported that Mr. Enayatollah Eehraghi, Mrs. Eaaat Eshraqhi and
Mice Roya Eehraghi, members of the Baha’i community of Shiraa, were executed in
Juno 1983. The family home of Mr. Enayatollah Eehraghi, at 105 Palestine Street,
in Shiras, was confiscated by the Qovernment  and will reportedly be auctioned in
the near future.

IV. REPORT ON THE SECOND VISIT TO THE ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAN

133. The r,econd  visit to the Ielemic Republic of Iran was made Prom 9 to
15 October 1990. The exchange of letters and notes concerning this visit has been
referred to in paragraphs 21 to 26. The Speaial  Representative wae accompanied by
Mr. Qeorq  Mautner-Markhof, Chief of the Special Procedures Section of the Centre
for Human Rights, Mr. Miguel de la Lama, Human Rights Officer, Miss Carmen Cuevae,
secretary and Mr. Mohammed Tammami, a United Nations interpreter. The Special
Representative acknowledges and exprerieee  his appreciation to those members of the
Secretariat for their efficiency and co-operation. He aleo wishes to mention the
co-operation of Mr. Per Janvid, Reeldent  Repreeentative  of the United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP 1 , who, ae he had Uonr on the first visit, spared no
effort to assist the Special Representative and his team members in accompliehing
their task and in achieving their objectives,

134. By a letter dated 17 September 1990, the Specirl Representative had requested
the Qovernment  to arrange for the following appointments with official or religious
pereonalitisst the Ministers for Foreign Affairs, Interior, and Culture and
Iol6unic  Guidance1  the Head of the Judiciary, the President of the Supreme Court of
Juetice, Ayatollah Montaseri  and Ayatollah Ja’afari,  the Special Prosecutor for
Drug Ttafficking, and a senior president of a revolutionary court. By a letter
dated 5 October 1990, the Special Representative added the Minieter  of Intelligence
to the lir t of requested appointments.

135. The Bpscial Representative aleo requested the Qovertunent, by a letter of
17 September 1990, to arrange a visit to Evin prison and pointed out that he would
ask to vieit one or two other prisons in the Tehran area* if coneidered  necessary9
He further indicated that it would be his intention to conduct hearings, in
private, with prisoners of his choice, the names of whom would be communicated in
due +.3uree. The Special Representative aleo stated that he would appreciate being
given the opPortunity  to be present at trial proceedings of a revolutJonary  court
concerning an offence for which capital punishmert  may be pronounced.

136. In the fil-et ,;reeting  with the Deputy Minister for Foreign  Affairs,
Mr. Manouchehr Mottaki, the Special Representative was handed a programme based on
his aforementioned requests. In the course of the visit, the programme underwent a
number of changes, Borne  of which were requested by the Special Representative, who
asked, in particular, that Saturday, 13 October 1990 be entirely devoted to the
hearing of prisoners. The meeting foreseen with Ayatollah Montaceri,  at. the
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lettcrr's reqwmt,  had to be postponed from Wesdneeday,  10 Oatober 1990 to Friday,
12 October 1990 and wan eventually cancelled by the Ayatollah. The Special
Representative, therefore, requested, in line with the written indication given in
his letter of 17 September 1990, that he be permitted to vieit Qohardauht prieon in
the afternoon of 10 October 1990, However, the Ministry of Foreign Affaire
informed the Special Reprsesntative that it way not poesiblo to comply with the
requeet . The Special Repreeentative further asked for assistance of the
authorities in enabling him to meet Ayatollah Ssyed  Abolfasl Musavi Zaajani.  It
did not prove poeeible to have this visit arranged through official channels. The
Special Repreeentative was, however, able to make arrangements for a meeting with
the Ayatollah directly and met him on 9 October 1990.

137. The programme of official meetings that took place during the virit ie
reptoduaud in appendix III.

138. On 9 October, the Special Repreeentative and hie teem member6  co-ordinated
their own progrumtne  of work with official proposals and incorporated the activitiee
they would conduct without official contacts or ueeietance. Thie ptogrm0 wae
considered chiefly with a view to allotting time for the examination of specific
caeea, mainly of prieonrre and for interviews with a number of personalities in
Iranian public life and individuals who, through contacts in Qeneva, esemed willing
to proviCi, information on their erperiencee  and observatiohe concerning human
rights .

159. The fol lowing paragraph6  eunmnariso  the highlights  o f  the interview8 conducted
by the Special Representative with governmental authorities. They are in
chronological order.

1 .  -with-

140. The Deputy Foreign Minirter, Mr. M, Mottaki, thanko4  the United Nation6
miesion  for coming and eaid that the first visit had opened a new chapter in the
relations between the Ielamic Republic of frdfi and the United Nationlr.  ffet pointdd
to the expanded role of the United Nations in world affairs and said that the end
of the cold war would open a new chapter in international relatione. Disarmament
and human righte will be the two basic iseues of the new age. The Islamic Republic
at  Iran ie rtrengthening ite spirit  o f  co-operation with al l  nation0 and with the
United Natione. The search  for  negotiated solution8  to al l  international  problem6
ie another feature of the new age. The ieeue of human rights  figures prominently
among the concern6  and goals of the Islamic Republic of Iran.

141. Mr. Mottaki said that the Islamic Declaration of Human Rights had been adopted
by experts at the Islamic Conference and that the Declaration war taken up and
adopted at the meeting of Ministers of the member6 countries of the Islamic
Conference held at Cairo.
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142. Mr. Mottaki said that the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran had
examined aloeely  the recommendations of the Special Representative. The I ranion
Qovernment  was now in a position to refute the false allegations made by ita
pol i t ical  enemies , A Human Rights Department has been established in the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs. Two seminars have been held in Ire l  - one locally, dealing
with a comparison of human right8 in the West and in Islam, and another dealing
with Islam and Christianity from a human right6 perspective. Preparations are
under way for a third seminar in co-operation with the Centre for Human Rights
slated for late January or early February 1991.

143. Mr. Mottaki considered eight categories of recommendations issued by the
Special Representative and said that they have all been considered by the
Government. Substantial action has been taken on each recommendation, A letter
addressed to the Special Representative summarises the measures taken (see
para. 12).

144. Mr. Mottaki referred to a pending matter: visita to prisons by tha
Internatisnal  Committee of the Red Croee  (ICRC). The Red Cross has already been
notified that the Government is prepared to allow visits by ICRC. The Special
Representative could visit any prison he liked.

145. The Islamic Republic of Iran abides by the teachings of Islam and wishes to
co-operate with the international community, but this does not mean thnt it is
prepared to disregard Islamic principles. The United Nations should distinguish
between those States which systematically violate human rights and whose conduct
derives from high-level policy, and those countries which occasionally commit a Eew
v io la t ions ,

146. The Special Representative expressed the hope that the discussions with ICRC
with a view to reaching a concrete agreement on visiting prisons could be concluded
very  soon. Mr. Mottaki replied that his Government maw no problem whatsoever in
reaching an agreement with ICRC and hoped that visits to the prisons would begin
very shortly.

147. The Special Representative referred to two memoranda submitted recently and
reiterated the importance of  receiving off ic ial  repl ies , Mr, Mottaki announced
that  the Special  Representative would begin to receive specif ic  repl ies  in the
course of his visit.

148. The Special Representative gave Mr, Mottaki  a  l is t  of  202 prisoners  in
connection with whose whereabouts, arrest  or possible  sentencing (see appendix II) ,
information had been requested and submitted the names of 26 prisoners he wished to
v i s i t . Th i s  l i s t  o f  26 , raproduced in appendix IV of this report, contained names
of persons abou; whom the Special Representative had received information during or
a f t e r  h i s  Eirst v i s i t  t o  I r a n .

149. The interview concluded with an official statement by the Government that it
would co-operate fully with the United Nations in general and the Commission on
Human Rights in particular.

/ . . .



A/45/697
English
Page 39

2. Interviewwither of Intelliaence

150. On Wednesday, 10 October, at 9.30 a.m., Hojatolielam Fallahian, the Minister
of  Intel l igence,  was interviewed. The Special Representative requested
clarification of certain matters which had arisen in the course of the
invest igat ions. In particular, he asked questions concerning the following, the
role played by information or intelligence officers and agents in the trial of
prisoners, chief ly  in cases  submitted to the revolutionary courtal the specif ic
role of intelligence agents who worked with the prosecution and, particularly,
their  participation in  interrogationsr  the hierarchical  relationship between
inte l l igence  officiers, Komftehs and Pasdaran (Revolutionary Quards)r  and the
degree to which intelligence agents could act on their own init!ative  without
express orders from their immediate superiors.

151, The Minister spoke of plots against the Iranian netian and then referred to
observations in thl Special  Representative’s  reports ,  which,  in his  view,  did not
do just ice to Iran, With regard to the act ivi t ies  of  his  Ministry,  he recounted
many incidents of past years and referred to the hostile attitude of the foreign
media. He said that  the function of his  Ministry is  to  prevent am3 bring to l ight
cases of espionage and to preserve the culture and integrity of the Iranian
nation. According to the Constitution, the people’s rights must be respected and
intelligence aqents must act within the law both in making arrests and during
t r i a l s . He then referred to bands of smugglers who attack private homes and
mentioned cases oi persons who had recently been killed by smugglers.

152. The Minieter  went on to say that the Constitution establishes three braachesr
l e g i s l a t i v e , judicial  and executive. In the executive branch, the revolutionary
Komitehs and the Pasdaran maintain public order and security and are accountable
directly to the President of the Republic1  however, they perform their duties in
respect of citisens ’ rights under the supervision of judges. The Pasdaran are
under the Ministry of the Interior for matters of public order, under the Ministry
of Defence for mi1itar.y  matters. The Komitehs are under the Ministry of the
Interior, and the intel l igence officers, under the Ministry of Intelligence.
Co-ordination takes place at  the highest  level ,  that  of  the President of the
Republic ,

153.  Commenting on the role  of  intel l igence off icers  at  tr ials ,  he said that  i t  was
not true that judges consulted them during the trials. In many cases, the judqes
do not accept tes”imony  by intelligence officers and deny them permission to arrest
suspicious persons. Indeed,  while  intel l igence off icers  did participate in
interrogations, they do so under the supervision of the judges. I t  i s  not  t rue
that they use any means, including violence and torture,  to obtain confessions.

154.  Intelligence  off icers  take orders;  they arT) not independent agents.  .In
certain cases , they may take initiatives, for example, when they see someone trying
to enter the country with a false passport or someone planting a bomb. In such
cases they can et-rest the culprits . However, they must so  advice  the judge within
24 hours and he must decide whether or not there are legal grounds for the arrest.
There is a department which oversees the activities of these agents and is
responsible for punishing them. In some cases, they are referred to an
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administrative tr ibunal  and,  in very serious cases ,  to  a  mil i tary tribunal.  Many
agents have been dismissed or sentenced to prison terms.

155. The Minister reported that in addition to the Pasdaran, the Islamic
Revolutiunary  Committees, the off ic ials  of  his  Ministry,  the police  and the
gendarmerie were responsible for preventing and investigating ordinary crimes like
homicide and robbery and ensuring the safety of the citiaenry,  Both police forces
were under the supervision of the Ministry of the Interior, Lastly, the Minister
o f  In te l l i gence  sa id  that , in his view, the Special Representative should focus the
attention of world public opinion on the acts of aggression committed against the
Iranian nation and adopt a clear stance denouncing and condemning acts perpetrated
by terrorist  orqanieations. He added that the family and relatives of the martyrs
and victims of terrorism shared thlrt feeling.

156, Responding to a question from the Special Representative, the Minister said
that there was no prison attached to the premises of the Ministry of Intelligence
and that all detainees were subject to the authority of the Prison Orqaniaation.
He then invited the Special Representative to visit the building complex where the
Ministry has its offices so that he could make sure that there was no prison
attached to or included in the building complex where the Ministry is located.

Prmr f o r  NC Drugs

157. The Special Representative submitted the following questions to the Special
Prosecutor, Ho jatolislam Zargart (a) How many drug traffickers have been executed
in 19907 (b) How many are currently tried? (c) How many of those being tried may
be condemned to death? (d) How many of those condemned to death have seen their
sentence commuted7 (e) How many executions in public or mass execu:ions  have taken
place during the last few months7 In reply to these questionu, the Prosecutor
stated the fol lowing;

156, He said that the number of traffickers who have been arrested since the first
vis it ,  including traff ickers and consumers, comes to of 9,201, 8,698 of whom are
addicts and have been sent to rehabilitation ceutres. Rehabil i tat ion centres are
st i l l  inadequate and,  for that reason, the Government  has requested assistance from
international  orqanixations. The remaining 303 are traffickers. Not  a l l  o f  the
303 traffickers can be given the death penalty; some will be sentenced to prison.
Of the groups previously sentenced to death, six have had their sentences con;muted.

159. The Special Prosecutor said that the 1990 capital punishment figures are
lower. In 1969, 4,113 persons were pardoned. Of those, 2,259 were released and
1,554 had their sentences commuted. Many obtained permission to live at home for
three days and some were already enjoying this benefit for the sixth time.

160. He also stated that there had been no public executions since the first
v i s i t . At times 15 or 20 persons were executed in the prison courtyard. The
Special Representative emphasised two points: the need to guarantee due process of
law to traffickers and to reduce significantly the number of death sentences
pursuant to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.

/ . l l
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161. The Sperial Prosecutor referred to opium t.rat is being i;Laxmsed into codeine
at laboratories under his supervision. The codeine will be transferred to the
Ministry of Health. A total of 1,320 kilos of heroin and 9,090 kilos of opium were
confiscated in the first sir months of 1990. Those drugs were largely intended for
European countries,

162. The Special Prosecutor said that he would obtain an exact figure showing the
number of persons executed in 1990 for the Special Representative through the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs because he did not have it available at that time. The
Special Representative asked whether consideration had been given to transferring
jurisdiction over such crimes from the revolutionary courts to the orChary courts,
and the answer was no.

163. At the suggctstion of the Special Prosecutor the Specie1 Representative briefly
met two detainees convicted on drug trafficking charges who were working on the
premises, One of them, who had admitted carrying 20 kg of opium from Kerman to
Tehran, had been convicted to 18 years of imprisonment. The trial before the
revolutionary court took place two years after his arrest. His sentence was later
commuted to five years. The other prisoner had admitted carrying 7 kg of opium and
was first convicted to a penalty of 1 million rials. The Special Prosecutor,
however, had protested against the sentssce and one year thereafter, ‘he was
sentenced ahiew to 16 years of imprisonment. In 1987, the sentence vas commuted to
15 years. Both were tried before revolutionary courts without the assistance of a
lawyer. One of them stated that the interrogators had beaten him during the period
of investigation in order to obtain his confession, Roth prisoners stated that
their condition had improved, sincr  they could now work on the premiues  of the
Special Prosecutor. Once a month they were granted leave, usually for a period of
three days.

4 .  ~1Oofaf

164, The Chairman of the Commission, Deputy Asgharsadeh, expiained that the
Commission on article 10 is composed of representatives from the three branches of
government. The purpose of the Comnission  is to apply the constitutional  principle
of the people’s right to form associations in general and political parties in
particular. The Commission is made up of two members of Parliament, Wo from the
judicial branch and one from the executive branch, The Secretary of the Commission
is independent and the Minister of the Interior carries out the decisions of the
Commission.

165. The procedure is as follows: whenever a certain number of citiaens  wish to
form a political party, they register the members’ names and the leaders submit
their personal documents and a charter of principles and objectives. The
Commission considers such requests at its weekly meetings. The applicants’
background is investigated, on the basis o!! reports from the security and judicial
authorit ies .

166. The Commission has four divisionsa (a)  The rel igious divis ion,  which places
restrictiots,  for example, on autonomous groups or sects, which do not have the

/ . . .



A/45/697
Lnglieh
Page 42

right to form aseociations#  (b) The trade union and crafts division; (c) The
divis ion that  deals  with pol i t ical  groups wishing to function as  pol i t ical  parties
which a:s subject  to restrict ions relat ing to public  eecuritp and co-operation with
foreign political parties) and (d) The division that handles associations of groups
engaged  in  soc ia l  ac t i v i t i e s  - i . e . , cu l tura l  or  technica l  activitiee. Requests
are considered in the order that they are received and authorisation is granted to
associat ions that  are not  pol i t ical  more promptly than to pol i t ical  parties .  In
the past year and a half, 20 to 22 associations were approved. Seven requests from
minorities (Armenians), and a request from a political group in Tehran and another
in the province of Khusestan are being considered.

167. Replying to a question from the Special Representative, the Chairman of the
Conmniseion  said that the request from the Association for the Defence of the
Freedom and Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation is under review. As long as some
leaders of this group are having security problems, this association cannot be
authorised. Some members of thie group are on trial and in prison on charges of
espionage.

166. The Special Representative also inquired about the reason6  for the dissolution
of the Bible Society. The answer was that it had been asked to appear before the
Conunissioa  several times and bring its activities into compliance with the law.
The Society alao required authorisation from the Ministry of Culture. Since it
failed to submit that authorisation, i ts  act ivit ies  were suspended.  The Special
Representative learned from a well-informed source that the Minietry  of Culture and
Islantic Guidance had refused to grant the authorisation.

169. The Special  Representative explained his  ideas on the responsibi l i ty  of
individuals and societies and suggested that the doctrine which clearly
dietinguiehes  between the responsibi l i ty  of  individuals  and the responsibi l i ty  of
aeeociations  should be accepted and applied, In his view, he continued, Iranian
law projected onto associations what was exclusively the responsibility of the
individual members. He was told in reply that this theory would presumably be
taken into account when Parliament reconsidered the law on political parties.

170. The Secretary said that the Commiss!,on  has had difficulty in applying the law
in force and that revisions have been considered and proposed for eubmission  to
Parliament.

171. A discussion ensued on whether activities for the protection of human rights
are considered pol i t ical . The answer wss that this topic has been debated time and
again. The defence of human rights is in the interest of the people1  however,
certain groups claim to be defending human rights in order to mask political
a c t i v i t i e s  - a t  t imes , pol i t ical  act ivi t ies  designed to destabi l ise  the Government.

5.’ Interview  withter of the
172. Deputy Minister Atrisn-Far said that it was natural that the Special
Representative should have identified a number of ambiguous situation6 on his first
visit1 he hoped that any such situations would be cleared up during the second
v i s i t . Some ambiguities concerned the revolutionary courts, while others concerned
p o l i t i c a l  p..rties.
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173. Concerning the unification of the police, Paadaran,  Komitehs, Gendarmerie and
jud ic ia l  po l i ce , their co-ordination had been entrusted to the President of the
Republic with a view to improving their functioning and thereby guaranteeing
citisens’  r i g h t s . A bil l  for the integration of  those security and protection
forces had been approved. A thousand hours of work with experts had been devoted
to the issue and the act was being implemented.

174. The Ministry of the Interior must provide an organisational chart and job
descriptions in order to implement the act within a year. Two months had gone by
and the integration of all police forces would be complete within 10 months. Their
integration would considerably enhance efficiency.

175. The Special Representative asked about the press. The Deputy Minister told
him that the Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance would give him more
information on that subject. He then gave some details. Anyone that was qualified
to do so could publish ideas or news with his own resources and means. The
Government considered it its duty to provide facilities to people who wished to
engage in news activities and it therefore gave permission for the import of
machinery and paper. The Government welcomed anyone who wished to engage in
journalism, and also accepted criticism if it was presented “earnestly and
truthfully”. Newspapers and magasines  contained abundant criticism of the
Government. The same approach was taken with political parties. The Government
could not renounce that principle, Everyone must adhere to one basic, inviolable
principle,  namely , respect  for the Constitution. The press  and pol i t ical  parties
must accept and adhere to the Constitution, That imposed certain responsibi l i t ies
on writers. The Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance was responsible for
applying the Constitution and therefore monitored publications and associations.
It was lenient with them, however, even when there was cause for severity,

176. No newspaper sent its articles for prior review by the authorities, but if an
article was published containing erroneous or untrue information or if someone was
insulted, the newspaper must give equal space to a correction. Otherwise, the
complainant could take legal action.

177, In the past 10 years, over 50,000 books on different topics had been
published. The organisation  which had oversight of books monitored publishers’
a c t i v i t i e s , It also studied books before they were published and if it found them
contrary to the Constitution or l iable to corrupt or offend public  dignity,  i t
could ask the authors to correct the inappropriate or detrimental parts. The
problem WBA almout always solved by negotiation and the authors were satisfied with
the outcome.

178, Deputy Minister Aminsadeh said that he was sceptical about the activities of
international  organisations and that it would be a long time before Iran solved its
international problems.
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179. The Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance was the product of the merger of
two ministries, the Ministry of Art and Culture and the Ministry of Information and
Tourism! the merger had been designed to enhance their functioning. The Ministry
of Culture and Islamic Guidance worked with cinema, theatre, the performing arts,
music, publications, books, art (painting, drawing, etc. 1, press, radio,
te lev i s ion ,  pr in t ing , tourism, and pilgrimages to holy places. Radio end
television were under the joint supervision of the three branches of Government.

180. The Goverament  had never been opposed to foreign films and television but had
put a stop to propaganda that caused moral corruption. The same was true of
music 8 the Government had never been opposed to music but had eliminated certain
kinds of music which encouraged prostitution and corruption. The same had happened
with other forms of artistic expression such as painting. Iranian films had won
international  prises. Arttste were aware that limits had been drawn to prevent
corruption and that they must not overstep those limits.

181. Before the Revolution, many books had been banned. After the Revolution, the
number of books published had increased enormously. “Ihere were sometimes arguments
about permission to publish a book. When a book contributed to prostitution and
dorruption,  its publication was not permitted.

182. The press enjoyed protection and freedom, but anything that was contrary to
Islam and public order was inadmissible. The press promoted Islamic values,
opposed colonialism, promoted morality and upheld the policy of “neikher East nor
West”. The conunittee that granted permits for the founding of newspapers was made
up of representatives of the three branches of Government, the universities,
publishero and the Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance. There were 15 daily
newsgapers and 300 monthly, weekly or bimonthly magashes.

183. The Special Representative asked what action the Ministry took with regard to
the day-to-day activities of newspapers. He was told that if a newspaper insulted
Islam, the Leader or the Government, it could be penalised by cancellation of its
operating permit.

164. The Special Representative referred to the distribution of paper. The Deputy
Xinieter replied that his Ministry distributed paper. Any authorised newspaper was
entitled to the paper it needed. There were limitations on the allocation of
paper. For instance, Kaylam and gttslaat were daily papers with the potential to
increase their circulation but there were limits on the amount of paper the
Government could distribute at a relatively low price. No limitations had been
placed on the amount of paper that the opposition press could receive.

165. The Special Representative asked about the conditions for distributing paper
fur books. Paper was supplied to printers or authors. B o o k s  needed authorisat ion
before they could be published. There had been criticisms when the publication  of
Borne books had been allowed, but the only criterion for authorisation had been
moral, never polit ical .

166. The official  interview over, the Special Representative talked to working
Iranian journalists in the same building.
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7 .  wew w i t h  t&~ Preu o f  t&a S-H o f  JuQ&9

187. The President of the Supreme Court of Justice, Ayatollah Moqhtadsei, said that
according to Islam, judges were answerable before Qod and sat among the propheto
and that the place of trial was the place of Qod. Under Iranian law, a dsfeaae
lawyer was necessary and mandatory and both the accused and the lawyer were given
cer ta in  fac i l i t i e s . Sentences could be brought to the Supreme Court on appeal or
for review. When the accused had not had a lawyer, the Supreme Court revoked the
sentence I Parliament had just adopted an act on procedures under which, onoe the
case was concluded, ait was considered w. The act enabled the Prerideat
of the Supreme Court to consider the case and decide whether it needed to be
reviewed.

188. Under the Islamic judicial system, all individuals were equal. Only recently,
at an annual nation-wide seminar, the President of the Republic had l ⌧prorsed
satisfaction that the judiciary judged law-breakers striatly and eguslly. The
Islamic legal order had special features with regard to respect for human rights,
Iran was prepared to exchange views on those matters, to pass  on its  experience to
others and to learn from the experience of others.

199, Under the Islamic legal order, the purpose of bringing a person to trial was
not punishment but rehabilitation. If the prisoner showed that he was sorry and
could be rehabil i tated,  he was included in the l ist  o f  those el igible for  smaesty,
even if much of his sentence remained to be served. Amnesty was granted to groups
and individuals, Only rarely did prisoners remain in prison for the full term of
their sentence.

190. No one was ever arrested because he adopted a different ideoloqical  line from
the Qovernment. Beha’is were not arrested because they were Baha’is, but for
specif ic  offences. The same was true of political prisoners: if they were
arrested and executed it was because they had been involved in acts of violence.
If the detainee or accused repented, he could be smnestied, even if he had
ccrsxnitted  horrendous crimes.

191. Another question related to the csmpaiqn  against drugs. The judiciary was
determined to trke vigorous action in that regard. Drugs were a problem in the
country. Cases came to the Supreme Court, where they were reviewed. A sentence
could be applied only with the approval of the Supreme Court.

192. The Special Representative asked sbout cases in which a atier of years
elapsed between the guilty verdict and the actual eentencing. The President
replied that that sometimes happened becauoe  further investigationa were
conducted. On other occasions, the prisoner could not be informed of the sentence
because the case was awaiting review. The sentence was made known only when the
Court had approved it. The prisoner could appeal once he was informed of his
sentence. Prisoners sometimes did not know that their case had been passed on to
the Supreme Court, which was why they complained and felt that an excessive period
of time was elapsing between the guilty verdict and the sentence.
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193.  Tho Pol i t ical  Deprlty, Mr. EadasrcUtrn,  said that the Freedom  Movement end the
Association for the Defence of Fre~~!nn;  and t.hr.*  Sovereignty of ths Ir;nian HetPon
had publishad their manifesto& freely during t1-e war, even *hen the%* dealt with
sens i t ive  i s sues  that  affectea aatforiil  secur i ty , The Freedom Movement had not
been authorised, but it had baesr  sct..ve recen!.ly. Mr. Basargan an.1 other members
wore at l iberty;  other meilrba;*u  or the I,-eedqrl Grement  had been at rested on serious
charges.

194. The Association for the Lefe.?ce  of k’rqr<:om  and the Sovereign .y of the Iranian
Nation had been oper  al. 1119  without arrthorisftb  ioi:. It had  Csalared  i t s  ex i s t ence
without authoriaatior. &r;U had publj.shcd  illeyal doclaratfons:  many of its members
were actively involved in politics* Some 0’; it.3 memners  were being tried on
serious charges. The hrsociation  ha1.i net been .xe; up to defend hunr!ln rights but as
a  c o v e r  fo r  i l l ega l  po l i t i ca l  activit.ies  I

195, The Special Reprevontative  su!d that, according to the informution ire had been
given, the two groups 1:nd eubmitteti  spplicati~ns  in dse form but had been denied
authorisation. Their propc~:ty ::p.d be?tn confiscated  or  f rosen ,  s ince  the
authori  ties had occuyi~3  tham, ?u~d thr:ir doc&I;onts  had been uePoet3. The Freedom
Movement had existed prior to the Revolutio:\ wad h~+cl simply been required to adapt
to  the  nat; l ega l  s ta tute . The Movement had filed an application and documents with
the Ministry of the Interior  and sir~co  the Ministry had not raised any objection
within three months, the Movement hed been tacitly authorised Jnder  the law in
force,

196. The Political Deputy  replied that the Movement had engaged in sabotage and had
had contacts with the country’s enemies abroad. While it was true that it had been
recognised before the promul~~ation of the new act  on pol i t ical  parties  and after i t
had f i led .*rn appl icat ion wit); the Ministry, the application had not met the
necessary legal requirements an-.K the Movement could not be authorised. The members
of the Movement had not been acting in good faith. The act which said that if no
objection was raised within three months, the applicant organisation  was
automatically recognised did not apply in that case.

9. x.D.Lsc.* wiw

197. The Head of the Judiciary, Ayatollah Yaedi,  said that the main source of
Iranian law was the Holy Scriptureu, which were intended for mankind’s salvation.
The Reran  sair3r “1 respect and honour mankind”.

199. The Special Representative drew the following situations to the attention of
the Head o f  the Judfciaryr (a) public trials were impossible in prisonsz (b) some
people who iaad been condemned to death had not had lawyers, and a pe:*son  accused of
spying, for which’he could be sentenced to death, had been tried two years
previously and st i l l  did not  knew  his  sentence;  (c)  the question of  the
applicabi l i ty  or the repeal  of artic le  11/2 of  the Administrative Regulations
governing the Revolutionary Courts and Public Prosecutor’s Offices of 1979.
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199. The Head of the Judiciary said that there was a principle whereby the
interests of society must prevail over the interests of the individua?. The
international  crmmunity paid l i t t le  attention to  that  principle because the iesue~
of human rights had been politicised. Such politicisation urrdermined  the enjoyment
of  those rights. In eight years of war, the international community had never
concerned itself with the crimes perpetrated against the Iranian people. He then
referred to recent events in Palestine and to the Qulf crisis.

200. The Head of the Judiciary went on to say that no legal eystem protected human
rights as thoroughly as Islamic law. The best evidence of that was the existetnce
of groups which were opposed to Islamic principles, expressed their views publicly
and were left in peace as long as they did not engage in armed action.

201. Concerning the openness of trials, he said that court sessions were bald at
the Palace G Justice in the city centre and that no less than 20 trials were held
each day, all of them public, When citisens were interested in a case, larger
premises were used. At Evin prison there were restrictions on acceea,  but the
principle of  public  tr ials  was in force. In any case, the judge could prohibit
access for reasons of public order.

202. Everyone was entitled to defence counsel and when the accused could not obtain
it, the court provided it. Since that was the accused’s rigb:, i f  the accused said
that he considered himself better equipped than the lawyer to conduct his defeaae,
he was not forced to accept the lawyer. The Special Representative said he had
observed that, in Practice, accused persons tried by the revolutionary court.6 did
not have a lawyer.

203. The Head of the Judiciary said that in the case of ordinary offencea, when the
partiee reached P compromise, the proceedings ended. In case6 of espionage, after
the accused had been arrested and the ac:usation  substantiated, the investigation
and gathering of evidence began. Evidence was weighed by the judge, If it was
deemed adequate, sentence was passed.

204. Crimes could be commi+e.ed  by individuals or groups, In the latter cam, the
accused could not be infor t of the charges against them during the ~inveetigation
stage because that would pldjudice the outcome of the investigation. Concerning
the applicabi l i ty  of srticle 11,  he said that  decis ions o f  the revolutionary courtr
were not final: the accused could appeal them or request that they be recoasiderod
and the Supreme Court could review them.

1 0 .  wwith+hg JstotheBeadm

205. The Judicial Deputy, Dr, Mehrpoor, referred to the Islamic Declaration of
Human Rights and to the Special Representative’s previous report. #e sa id  tha t
comparative study of the Islamic system and the international system had begun with
particular reference to human dignity and the right to life, drawing comparisons
between Islam and Christianity. Concerning the need for defence counsel, he raid
that the Constitution provided that a lawyer muaL.  nssist the accused in court. The
Head of the Judiciary had made a statement on that point. Concerning the crediting

/ . . .



A/4S/697
Englieh
Page 48

of the period of pre-trial detention to the term of imprisonment imposed by the
sentence, he said that under a bill currently being drafted detention prior to the
date of the verdict would have to be credited to the term of punitive detention.
He added that many people had been amnestied, and provided a list which is
reproduced in appendix VII. He said that the rules of Islamic law could not. be
repealed: the penalty of flogging, for Cnetance, was provided for in Ielamic  law,
However , it wae being imposed less and less frequently, for  i t  wae  usual.:y rep laced
by a fine or imprisonment, The Special Representative said he hoped that flogging
would be replaced by fines in all case8.

206. Concerning the revolutionary courts, the Judicial Deputy said that the
sentences passed down by those courts could be appealed, or reviewed by the Supreme
Court of Juetice. The act allowing for the possibility of appeal or review had
been promulgated two years previously. Article  11/2  of  the Administrative
Regulations governing the Revolutionary Courts and Public Prosecutor’s Offices of
1979, which provides that “judgements  of the revolutionary courts shall be final
and no revision be l,,ade thereon”, had been tacitly repealed because the 1988 act on
appeal procedures took precedence, particularly its article 5 which stated! “With
regsrd to  the  dec i s ions  o f  pena l  1 ,  l ega l  1 ,  mi l i tary  1, spec ia l  c iv i l  and
revolutionary courts which have been reversed by the Supreme Court, the outhority
for revising and passing a new judgement is a court equal to the court which had
passed  the  f i r s t  judgement”.

1 1 .  Interview_with~ter for Fora.ian.

207. On Monday, 15 October, the last day of his visit,  the Special Repreeentative
was received by the Minister for Foreign Affairs, Mr. Ali Akbar Velayati. The
Special Representative summarised the main points of his visit and thanked the
Iranian Qoverrunent  for i ts  co-operation. The Minieter  said that  i t  was hie
Qovernment’e  pol icy to continue it6 co-operation with the Special  Representative.
He eaid he hoped that by now, at  the  end  o f  his becond v i s i t  to  the  country ,  the
Special Representative was  able to see that the allegations of human rights
violations were false and that the situation of human rights in the Islamic
Republic of Iran was comparatively better than in other countries of the eo-called
“third world“. The Minister expressed surprise that the Commission on Human Rights
should have decided to examine the situation of human rights in his country and not
the situation in other countries where respect for those rights was known to be
much worse. He said he hoped that such discriminatory treatment was not
politically motivated or designed to put pressure on his country. He also hoped
that the Special Representative had not been pressured by other Powers or groupe.

208. The Special Representative replied that he had not been pressured by any
Oovernment  - neither the Qovernment  of the Islamic Republic of Iran nor other
Qovernments I or by individuals or groups. In any case, his sense of duty would
make him reject any attempt to pressure him.

209. The Minister said he hoped that at its next seeeion,  the Commission on Human
Rights would change its attitude to the Islamic Republic of Iran. Otherwise, a
sector of national  public  odinion might interpret  the off ic ial  att i tude of

/ .*.



A/461697
Englieh
Page 49

co-operation with the Special Representative and the Commiesion  on Human Rights as
a mistake. In any event, international monitoring of the human rights situation in
the Islamic Republic of Iran should not continue indefinitely. The country could
not tolerate euch  monitoring for long, If the Commiseion  on Human Rights did not
change it.6 attitude to the country, some  hard-liners within the country would argue
that the conclusions of the Special Repreoentative’s report6 and his visit8  to the
country, as well a[3 the voting within the Commission, were politically motivated.

210. The Special Representative expressed satiofaction that the Qovetnment had
acted on one of the recommendations made in his barlier report and had invited the
International  Crmmittee OF the Red Cross (ICRC) to  vis i t  Iranian prieons. However ,
an agreement would have to be concluded with ICRC 80 that prison visits could begin
a8 soon as  poss ib l e , The Minister said that a high-level ICRC delegation had
already vieited the country and that a director would be arriving shortly to work
out Lhe details of the agreement, Once the necessary arrangement8 were made, ICRC
would be able to begin its work immediately and make regular prison visits. The
Minister mentioned that the Special Representative had been bble to interview, in
private and in complete freedom, many of the prisoners he had asked to 888. That
was a demonstration of the Qovernment’s trust, for he had even been allowed to
interview people convicted of supplying information on national security to foreign
Powers.

211. The Special Representative then asked the Minister for a detailed Qovernment
response to al l  the ellegatione of  human rights  violations contained in his  earl ier
reports and in the two memorandums submitted in 1990. Such replies were crucial to
the performance of lri6 mandate. He also asked that the Qovernmsnt respond to hie
req!\eete  made on purely humanitarian and non-political grounds. The Minieter
answered that his Qovernment would provide such replies, some of them before the
end of his vieit,  and that it would consider hie humanitarian regueetri.

212. Lastly, the Minieter expreesed  eatisfection  at  the holding at  Tehran
University of a seminar on human rights in international law and Islamic law, which
had been attended by eminent legal experts and philosophers from 3ermany and a
number of Islamic countries and had formulated valuable conclusions.

12. VW wmutv Fore-

213. After the meeting with the Minister for Foreign Affairs ,  the last  off ic ial
meeting of the vieit  took place. Deputy Foreign Minister Mcttaki recalled that
during the Special Representative’s first visit there had been a discussion  of the
particular features of Islamic human rights principlea am! tihe Qovernment’e
attitude of co-operation with the Special Representative and the Commission on
Human Riqhte had been confirmed. It wae in keeping with that attitude of
co-operation that the Special Representative had been invited to visit the country
a second time. One practical result of that co-operation was  that talks had begun
with senior ICRC officials on authorising members of ICRC to make regular prieon
vieita, as recommended by the Special Repreesntative. A specific agreement Lo that
effect would be reached shortly.
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214, Concerning the Special Representative’s recommendation that the right of all
accused persona to legal counsel must be guaranteed, he said that a bill to that
effect, which would expand on the relevant provision in article 35 of the
Constitution, had been presented to Parliament, Legal counsel would even be
available before the oral proceedings, in other words, during the investigation of
the detainee.

215. The Deputy Foreign Minister also said that, in keeping with the role played by
compassion in Islam and with the Special Representative’s recommendations, the
policies of amnesty and pardon had been developed and expanded. Moreover,
concerning the recommendation that comparative etudies and seminars be conducted on
the international system for the definition and protection of human rights and the
Islamic system, he said that the progress made included the recent holding of a
seminar at Tehran University. Further to another of the Special Representative’s
recoxunsndations, the Qovernment had decided to request assistance from the Centre
for Human Rights, under the latter’s programme of advisory servicea, for a
comprehensive, long-term project.

216. Concerning the number of executions, he ssid that further to one of the
special Representstive’s  recommendations, the number oE executions had declined
significantly since 21 March 1990, the Aate of the Iranian New Year. The purpose
of  executions was not only to punish criminals but crlso to deter others from
committing offences. however, executions were being carried out only for the most
serious crimes, such as drug trafficking, espionage and murder. In that
connection, he handed over a list of 113 executions carried out since the Iranian
New Year (21 March 1990). According to that list, 32 people had apparently been
exeouted  for ordinary crimes, 71 for drug traffickirg, 4 for activit ies  contrary to
national  eecurity, co-operation with armed groups and drug traffickers, 3 for
terror i s t  acte, 2 fur espionage and 1 on unspecified charges,

217. Concerning replies to the allegations transmitted by the Special
Representative, tba Deputy Foreign Minister said that the Qovernment would do its
bsst to reply to al 1 the allegations s,ade. However, those allegations would have
to refer to problems in applying the law, the severity of penalt ies  in relat ion to
the crimes committed, or consistency between the penalties imposed and the laws in
force. They could not be allegations questioning the Islamic legal system, laws
err epecifically,  the provieions of the Penal Code of the Islamic Republic. Those
were .ieeues which must be dealt with in other, primarily academic, forums and in
other circumstances. The Deputy Foreign Minieter  also announced that the
Qovernment had presented to Parliament a bill under which the time spent in prison
before sentence was passed must be credited to the term of punitive detention. The
Special Representative expressed eatisfaction  at that initiative.

218. The Deputy Foreign Minister also slid that the Islamic Republic was open to
anyone who wished to examine the situation of human rights there, In that
connection, he announced that the Qovcrnment was giving favourable consideration to
a request by Amneaty International to visit the country. He also reported that the
Head of the Judiciary had replied to many letters containing allegations. He said
that there was complete freedom of expression in the country and that a wide
variety of viewe exieted on domestic and international issues. No one wae being
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investigated or detained simply because of his political views and any citisen
could expresc  his political views openly every day in the ma88  media, on the street
or In the mosque. Parlieunent reflected the diversity of political views in the
country.

219.  The Deputy Foreign Minister next referred to the special  Representative’s
v i s i t  to  Ev in  Lrison. He said that the Special Representative had been able to
interview in complete froadom mast of the prieoners he had asked to Bee, inaluding
those accused and convicted of spying for enemies of the nation and of attempts on
tho security of the State. He added that the reasons  why he had not been able to
interview the other prisoners had been erplained  to him at the ‘time1 they had been
released, they hed been on temporary leave from the prison, or their trials were at
the investigation stage sad the prosecutors had not given the necessary
authorisation, In any case, the Government had trusted the Special Representative
enough to let him interview people who had supplied foreign Powers with hinhly
strategic internal information, even in wartime. That demonstrated the
Government’s attitude of co-operation towards the Special Representative and the
Commission on Human Rights, If that co-operation was to continue, however,
prejudiced attitudes and preconceptions about the situation of human rights and
fundamental freedome in his country would have to be abandoned, the remaining
obstacles would have to be removed and there would have to be an end to the double
standard whereby the human rights situation was investigated in some countries but
not in others where there were more serious and systematic human rights
violations. He hoped that the meetings of the Third Committee of the General
Assembly would mark the opening of a new chapter in co-operation between the
Islamic Republic of Iran and the Waited Nations.

220. Lastly, the Deputy Foreign Minister handed over to the Special Representative
a list giving official Government information on the alleged executions of
3,620 people mentioned in different reports of the Special Representative
(E/CN.4/1988/24,  E/CN.4/1989/26,  A/44/620 and E/CN.4/1990/24).  The information in
the list had been compilecl by the Statistics Department of the Ministry of Justice,
the Police Identification Unit and the Registry and Statistics Organisation. A
summary of the list is contained in appendix VI.

221. The Special Representative thanked officials of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and the Government for the facilities and co-operation extended to him
during his vieit.

c. tiear.in9-oPb
222. The visit to Evin prison took place on 13 October 1990. The Special
Representative was received by the Chief of the prison administration for the
Tehran area, his deputy, the director of Evin prison and an official of the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The Chief of the prison administration explained that
there were presently some 2,000 prisoners detained at Evin, of whom 60 per cent had
been sentenced on charges relating to the use or trafficking of narcotice,
35 per cent were common criminals and only 5 per cent (between 100 and 105 persons)
were pllitical  prisoners. He added that all political prisoners of Tehran province
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were detained at Evin. The Director of Evin prison again stressed the special
character of tho Iranian prison system which was aiming at the rehabilitation and
re-education of offenders. That explained the frequency of amnesties as well as
the possibility for many prisoners to be granted leave which could range from three
days up to a year. Leave could be granted both to common and political prisoners.
The prison officiala expressed regret that the Special Representative had chosen
mainly persons who were known as opponents to the Gover,unent, or had been newly
arrested, because there had been little time for the authorities to influence in a
positive manner their misguided convictions. He further stressed that the prison
administration must be given an opportunity to defend itself against any unjust
accusations that might be voiced by any prisoners the Special Representative would
see.

223. Since the Special Representative had already visited various installations at
Evin prison, he requested that his visit be dovoted this time exclusively to a
hearing of the 26 prisoners ho hac9 selected. The 26 names given to the authorities
on 9 October 1990 concerned cases on which the Special Representative had received
particularly detailed information. Th,!y can be classiPied  into the following
categories1 (a) prisoners allegedly convicted and sentenced to execution;
(b) prisoners allegedly subjected to torture1 (c) prisoners who allegedly suffered
reprisals after having met the Special Representative during his first visit)
(d) prisoners of foreign nationalityl  (e) prisoners belonging to the group 00
persons who had signed the open letter of former Prime Minister Baaargan to the
Presidentl (f) prisoners belonging to the Baha’i  commurlityl  and (9) a group of
female prisoners, two of whom the Special Representative had seen during hie first
v i s i t .

224. The Special Representative was told upon arrival at Evin prison on
13 October 1990 that, fos various reasons, it would not be possible t;o see all
26 persons. The Special Representative, therefore, handed to the authorities an
addit ional  l is t  of  s ir  persons.

225. The Director of Evin prison explained that two persons appearing on the first
list had been released, four persons had been granted leave, and that two persons
were detalrled at Arak and Karaj, respectively, and could, therefore, not be mot at
Evin. For a group of 10 prisoners (sir on the first list and Cour on the second)
he had not received authorisation from the prosecutor to present them to the
Special Representative, since their cases were still under investigation. The
Special Representative pointed out that the cases of other prisoners whom he would
be allowed to meet were alsc unc¶er  investigation, in some  instances even in
connection with the same offence of which other prisoners whom he would not be
permitted to see were charged,

226. Appendix IV of the present report contains the names of all those prisoners
which the Special Representative had requested to see, as we;l as the reasons given
by the authorities with regard to those with whom he could not meet.

227. Among the persons who were not available for a hearing bysthe  Special
Representative wns Mr. Roger Cooper, whom the Special Representative had
unsuccessfully tried to see during his previous vieit. Asked about the reasons,
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the Director of Evirl replied that the trial of Mr. Cooper wae 6tili pending. The
Special Representative recalled that, on his  f irst  v is i t ,  he had been told that
Mr. Cooper had been sentenced to 10 years in prison and that his eentence was being
translated into English. The Director said that the trial was not over because the
sentence had been appealed, The Special Representative said he did not oonsider
thie a valid reason for refusing to let Mr. Cooper Bee him, for the interviews were
neutral and had nothing to do will the statue of trials. Moreover, some of the
other prisoners he was going to interview had appealed their sentences and he did
not 888 why Mr. Cooper’e  cese should be handled any differently. The Director
replied that a new accusation had been made against Mr. Cooper and another trial
had begun, related this time to moral issues. He then confirmed the,: Mr. Cooper
had been sentenced to 10 years of imprisonment.

228, During the ensuing interviews, which took place in an office of the
administretion  of Evin prison without the presence of Iranian officials, the
Special Representative spoke briefly with the following personal
Mr, Jsunehid Amiri-Eigvand,  pir. Bahman  Agahy, Mr. Hooshang Ahmadi  Bigvsnd,
Mr. Noureddine Kianouri, Ms. Meriam Feirous, Mr. John Pattie,
Mr. Nour All Tabandeh, Mr, All Ardalsn, Mr. Farhsd  Behbahani,
Mr. Hossein Shah Hosseini, Mr. Badiullhh  Sobhhni,  Ms. Sakineh Sedaghat,
Mr, Eooatollah  Sahabi and Mr. Khossro Mansourian.

229. The Special Representative first received Mr. Kianouri, the former
Secretary-Qeneral of the Tudeh Farty , whom he had already seen during his first
visit and who, on that occesion,  had made serious allegations of torture. He also
eaw his wife Meriam Feirous. Concerning both persons, allegations have been
received that they had euffered reprisals subsequent to the Special
Representative’s  f irst  vis i t  (see pare,  76). Mr. Kianouri stated that the
permission givon to him to eee his wife and daughter once a week for one hour had
been reduced to one telephone call to his wife every four weeks and on@ vicit from
his daughter every two weeks. However, he had not been placed in eolitary
confinement, as alleged, and three weeko  before, the previous rhythm of visits was
again being applied. He appeared.to  be in better physical condition than in
January 1990. Mr. Kianouri further stated that he had requested that permiseion  be
given to his wife to urdergo surgery outside the prison, but that the authoritieo
had 80 far not acceded to this request. Mrs, Meriam Feiroua referred to various
types of torture inflicted upon her at the beginning of her detention, which
started in 1982. This torture had resulted in the loss of hearing in one ear,
considerable difficulty in swallowing food and various other aonsequenceo ao a
result of heavy beatings. She requested that ehe be allowed to give her statemente
standing, as she suffered pain when sitting. Qiven her physical condition, she had
requested the prison authorities not to oblige her to share a cell with other8 and
this had been granted. On the other hand, the lack of company had resulted in
serious psychological strsin. She also said that during the eight years of her
detention, and particularly during the past three years, she had received
sympathetic treatment from a number of persons within the prison.

230. The Special Representative then met Messrs. Ardalan, Behbahani, Mansour ian,
Sahabi, Shah Hosseini and Tabandah, who had eigned the open letter of former Prime
Minicter Mr. Basargan to the President of the Islamic Republic of Irma. Them
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persons  s te  ud that  they had been arrested in  June 1990,  some 20 days  af ter  the
publicetion  o f  t h e  o p e n  l e t t e r , and s ince  then had been kept  in  sol i tary
confinement. some at  Tohid prison ( formerly  cal led Central  Komiteh Prison)  ancl  at
Evin prison. While  Rome of  them stflted  that  they had -eceived  wri t ten charges ,
o ther s  s a id  tha t  t hey  had  l ea rned  of  t he  accu sa t i on s  i nd i rec t l y  th rough  que s t i on s
p u t  t o  th‘b,? by  the i r  i n t e r roga tor s . According to  the  detainees ,  the  charges  var ied
from case tu case, such as “measures ofEending nat.ionol interest and sovereignty”,
‘ *par t i c ipa t i on  i n  ac t i v i t i e s  aga in s t  t he  r evo lu t i on  and  na t iona l  i n t e re s t s” ,
“pub l i ca t i on  o f  the  open  l e t t e r  end  d i s s emina t ion  o f  i t s  con ten t -  abroad” ,  e t c .  In
s e v e r a l  instencek3, the interrogators  a l leged that  there  had been a  co-operat ion
b e t w e e n  t h e  g r o u p  o f  s i g n a t o r i e s  o f  t h e  o p e n  l e t t e r  a n d  a  f o r e i g n  i n t e l l i g e n c e
agency and that  by  publicizlng the le t ter  abroad the  group had played into  the
hands of the enemy. Mr, Arda lan , the Chairman of the executive committee of the
Association for the Defence of Freedom and the Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation,
catagorinaljy  denied that  the  Associat ion had at tempted to  become a pol i t ica l
a l ternat ive  to  the  present  Government  or  had ever  engeged in  act iv i t ies  that  could
be construed in any way a8 espionage. I f  any  o f  t he  co - s i gna tor i e s  o f  t he  open
let ter  had had contacts  abroad, t h i s  w a s  a p r i v a t e  i n i t i a t i v e  o f  t h e  i n d i v i d u a l
cancernod and not a pol icy  of  the  Associat ion. Mr.  Behbahani  s tated that the
authori t ies  had resented that  t.he open let ter  had reached foreign media. I n  t h i s
connect ion,  ho was quest ioned about  a  v i s i t  to  the  United States  where he  had met
fr iend6 nine months  before his  arrest . H e  s t r e s s e d ,  h o w e v e r ,  t h a t  h e  .led n e i t h e r
been accused of, nor had he confettsed to , any charges  of  espionage. When he
eppeared  on te lev is ion on 6  August  1990,  he had s imply  admitted to  have real i sed
that  the  pos i t ion taken by the  group of  s ignatories  was  in  conformity  with  the
p o l i c y  0P 8 f o r e i g n Power and that ,  as  such, their  posi t ion was  wrong. He also
e x p r e s s e d  h i m s e l f  i n  f a v o u r a b l e  t e r m 6  w i t h  regard to  pr i son  cond i t i ons , He said
that  the  treatment  was sat is factory and the food superb. Th i s  con t ra s t ed  sharp ly
with  etetemonts  by  other6 who complained about  the  extended durat ion of  sol i tary
con f inement  ( a t  Tohid  pr i son  i n  ce l l s  no t  b igger  than  3  x  1 .17  metre6)  for  wh ich
t h e r e  w a s  n o  l e g a l  l i m i t  a s  l o n g  a s  t h e  c a s e  r e m a i n e d  u n d e r  i n v e s t i g a t i o n ,  t h e  v e r y
rare  occas ions  on which contacts  with  relat ives  had been permit ted and the  lack of
legal c o u n s e l . In one cane, sevare beat ings  were  a l leged. Generally, most 0C the
persons  belonging to this group appeared to  be under great  s tress . Iiomo o f  t.hem
r e q u e s t e d  specialised  med ica l  t r ea tmen t  f rom ou t s ide  the  pr i son ,  i n  view  oE their
ai lments , advanced  aqm and  the  d i f f i cu l t  cond i t i ons  o f  f our  month6  o f  solitary
confinement ,

231.  The Specia l  Representat ive  alsJ met  Meslsrs.  Amiri-Bigvand,  Agehy and
Ahmadi Bigvand, all uccused  of e s p i o n a g e  ( s e e  para. 3 5 ) . T h e  f i r s t  t w o  pet-Hone
con f i rmed  tha t  t hey  hRd been t r i ed  and  s en tenced  to  execution,  wherens the  th i rd
per son  declare9  tha t  hle t r i a l  had t a k e n  place t w o  y e a r s  a g o  a n d  t h a t  h e  w a s  s t i l l
await ing to  be  informed of  the  sentence, T h e i r  t r i a l s  h a d  t a k e n  p l a c e  b e f o r e  a
revolut ionary  court , w i t h o u t  formal charyeo  o r  d e f e n c e  c o u n s e l . One of them stated
thclt h i s  t r i a l  had  lestsd  o n l y  1 5  m i n u t e s . The two convicted persons had macle
confessluna  on  t e l e v i s i o n  anLc  had  appea led  aga in s t  t.he v e r d i c t . They had not been
in formed  o f  the  fbllow-up  t o  t h e i r  appealo.

232. The Spscial  Repre6entative also saw Mr. John Pattis, a U*itecl  StateR citizen
sentenced to 10 years ’ impr i sonment  on  spy ing  charge s .  Mr .  Ps t t i s  s a id  tha t  hc  had
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edmit ted hevinq worked for  a  foreign inte l l igence agency. During the
i n v e s t i q e t i o n s , he hed never been presented with formal charges and was held for
three months  in  sol i tary  conf inement, In September 1986, he made a public
con fe s s i on  on  I ran ian  t e l e v i s i on , His trial before a revolutionery  court took
piece in March 1987 before one judge, one representetive  of the prosecutor and one
i n t e r p r e t e r . There were three  witnesses  of  the  prosecut ion and the  court  sess ion
lasted approximately  four  hours , He bed not benefited from legal counsel end the
sentence wes passed with  the ennotetion  thet  i t  could  not  be reduced. Since then,
he had received three  consuler v is i t s , in 1987, 1968 and 1989, from the United
Stetes Interest Section et the Swiss Embessy. He had not been tortured but had
r e c e i v e d  t h r e e t s . He was being held  in  a  cel l  wi th  two other  EOreignCrS
(Mr. Cooper end a prisoner of German netionality)  and effirmed that prison
condit ions  had improved s ignif icant ly  before  the  Specie1 Representat ive ’s  two
visite.

233.  Mr.  Sobhhni, e ret ired  employee  of the  Minis try  of Educat ion,  s tated that  he
hed been arrested e month before, e s  h e  we6 u n a b l e  t o  r e p a y  t h e  penSiOn h e  reC!eiVed
during the  past  14 years . This  had been requested since he was a  Baha’i. He was
s i m p l y  t o l d  b y  t h e  euthorities  tha t , e s  l ong  a s  h i s  f ami l y  cou ld  no t  pay  h i s  ba i l ,
he would remain in prison. He had never been formally cherged, nor had he been
presented to  a  judge, Since he had no hope of ever being able to pay the requested
sum,  he  feared that  he  would be imprisoned for  the  rest of  his  l i fe .

234. The Special Representative also received Ms, Sakineh  Sedaghat Rashdi, who was
e r r e s t e d  i n  1 9 8 8  w h i l e  t r y i n g  t o  l e a v e  t h e  c o u n t r y  i l l e g a l l y . She was sentenced by
a revolut ionary  court  to  three  years ’ imprisonment ,  w i thou t  access t o  l e g a l  c o u n s e l
and s tated that  she  had recent ly  received permiss ion to  leave  the prieon for one
week end was receiving visits from members of her family.

235,  The Specia l  Representat ive  had requested the  opportuni ty  to  be  preoent at
triel proceedings of a revolutionary court concerning an offence for whiah capital
punishment may be pronounced, On 14 October 1990, he was invited to attend trial
proceedings et Evin prison which, however, appeared to concern an offence (armed
robbery end banditry)  thst  doe6 not fa l l  into  the  competctnce of revolutionary
cour t s . According to  off ic ia l  information received from the Minis try  of Foreign
A f f e i r s , revolut ionary  courts are  competent  for the  fo l lowing oatmel “ A l l  arimes
c o m m i t t e d  a g a i n s t  t h e  i n t e r n a l  a n d  e x t e r n a l  s e c u r i t y  o f  t h e  s t a t e ,  or  r e l a t e d  t o
corrup t ion  on  ear th  o r  war  aga in s t  Allah) a t t e m p t s  a g a i n s t  t h e  l i f e  o f  p o l i t i c a l
authorities# a l l  c r i m e s  r e l a t e d  t o  n a r c o t i c s  a n d  smugglingr a l l  c a s e s  r e l a t e d  t o
murder, massacre, imprisonment  end torture  with  the  purpose of consol idat ing the
Pahlevi regime end euppressing  the struggla of the Iranian people, both as
perpe t ra tor  and  abe t to r )  misapproprlatinn  o f  pub l i c  funds  and  pro f i t eer ing  and
hoarding of  foodstuff”.

236, A judge presided over She hearing  in the presence of nine accused and five
v i c t i m s . Thore was 8 defence lawyer who asked to speak at the end of the hearing,
before  sentence was  paseed. The judge reed out verces from the Koran and thm
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asked the accused to introduce themselves and answer questions. The prosecutor
read out the accusation, mentioning eight different acts of armed robbery committed
by the nine accused. The six victims then testified.

237. The prosecutor asked each of the accused whether they admitted to having
committed the offences, and all of them answered in the affirmative. The judge
repeated the question, asking the accused whether they admitted to the offences)
they again answered in the affirmative. The judge asked each of them what he had
to say in his own defence and they all answered that they simply begged
forgivenees. He then asked one of them why he had committed the offence and the
an6wer  was one word1 “etupidity”. The judge asked whether they were ready to
apologise to the victims and some of them simply said no.

236. The judge turned to the victims. The first of them said that he held to his
version that the attackers had used weapone, even though they denied this. One of
the plaintiffs said that one of the accused had apologised to him but the other two
had not, and that if they apologieed  he would withdraw his complaint. Each
plaintiff in succession then described hie reactions and wishes.

E. lCIfnrmhtion- bv -“‘-

239. The Special Representative was informed by the Minister for Foreign Affaire
that a number of Iranian non-governmental organiaatione had requeeted the Ministry
to arrange for meetings with him during his stay in Tehran. The Special
Representative accepted this request and, on 12 October 1990, met representatives
of the following organioationst Organisation of Iranian Women1  Workers’  House1
Organisation for Defending Victims of Violence) Association of Familiee  of Martyrst
Teachers’ Aesc ciationt Writers’ Aosociationr  Association of High School Students]
and Organisation for the Defence of Victims of Violence.

240. The Organisation of Iranian Women stressed that women enjoyed freedom in
abeolute  terms without any limitatione. They stated that women had freely choeen
the law of Islam and that their only complaint was that not all Islamic rules were
a8 yet fully implemented. Thoy thought it a cruelty to pretend that men and women
are equal, since the two sexes had very distinct characteristics.

241. The representative of WorKera' House explained that that organisation  was the
principal trade union of the country and participated in the work of the
International Labour Organisation. He stated that many of its leaders had been
assassinated by counter-revolutionary groups and that they still feared for their
safety. The most recent assaseination  had taken place at Sanadaj  some two weeke
before. He described the union’s relationehip  with the Qovernment  as satisfactory,
although not all.promises  had been fulfilled and difficulties with regard to
housing and the l eve l  of salaries  st i l l  existed. However , the organisation had
realised the limitations that the Qovernment was facing in this regard in view of
the concequences  of the war that had been imposed upon it. h
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242. The Organieation for Defending Victims of Violence presented several
w i tne s se s , three of whom stated that they had been former members of the Mojahediu
Organieation. They had subsequently been imprisoned and amnestied. All of them
s t a t e d  t h a t  t h e y  h a d  r e c e i v e d “humane and Is lamic  treatment” whi le  in  pr ison.  At
present  they did  not have problems with  the  authori t ies  but  were l iv ing in  constant
fear  of reprisals  by  the  Mojahedin Organisat ion. One of them said that he had been
g i ven  a  j ob  i n  the  admin i s t ra t i on , A fourth witness said that he was a former
communist  but  had real i sed that  h is  act iv i ty  as  a  journal i s t  for communist
publ icat ions  was  equivalent  to  the crime of  spying. Two persons presented by the
Organisat ion, Ismail Asghar-Nejad and Mohammed Shabansadeh, stated that their names
had been included in  a  l i s t  publ ished by the  Mojahedin Organisation  of  persons
allegedly executed r,y the Government. They showed their  ident i ty  cards ,  of  which
photocopies were taken. T h e  neme of  the  f i r s t  per son  appear s  i n  the  l i s t  o f
a l leged execut ions  annexed to  the  Specia l  Representat ive ’s  report  to the
forty-fifth session of the Commission on Human Rights. a/ T h e  n a m e  o f  t h e  o t h e r
person does  not  f igure in  any l i s t  available to  the  Specia l  Representat ive .

243.  The Associat ion of  Famil ies  of Martyrs  requested the  Specia l  Representat ive  to
d e v o t e  p a r t i c u l a r  a t t e n t i o n  i n  h i s  r e p o r t  t o  t h e  p r o b l e m  of  terror i s t  ac t s
committed by the  Mojahedin Organieat ion and,  in  this  connect ion,  reported se*/oral
k i l l i n g s . The Special  Representat ive  was  a lso  asked to  reaff irm the  speci f ic
r igh t s  o f  t he  mar tyr s  o f  t e r ror i sm . The  As soc i a t i on  fu r ther  r e f e r red  to  the  Baha’i
community,  which they accused of  f inancial ly  support ing the  State  of  Israel . Those
Baha’is  who refrained from such act iv i ty  did  not  suffer  any discr iminat ion in  the
country.

244.  The Associat ion of  Teachers  referred to  certa in  problems that  those  in  their
p r o f e s s i o n  w e r e  f a c i n g ,  w h i c h  t h e y ,  n e v e r t h e l e s s ,  f u l l y  accepted.  T h e  d i f f i c u l t i e s
they ment ioned concerned economic restraints  for  schools ,  l imitations for women
wi th  r egard  to  pur6oing cer t a in  univereity s tud ie s  and  l im i t a t ions  fo r  Armen ians
and Kurds  regarding the  teaching of  their  respect ive  languages  and cul ture  in their
s choo l s , They also  complained that  i t  was  not  admiss ible  to  criticiee the
Government  for  such s i tuat ions.

245.  The Writers ’  Associat ion, represented by three  women,  referred to  the  strict
control to which they had been subjected during the Government of the Shah. The
main problem they were  facing at  present  was  the  fact  that  they were  not  a l lowed to
w r i t e  a b o u t  n o n - r e l i g i o u s  s u b j e c t s . Numerous members wished to describe the
problems of  present-day Iranian society  in the form of  a s tory.  This  was,  however,
not  permit ted. All l i terary  works  required the approval  of  Yhe Minis try  of  Culture
and Islamic Guidance and it was impossible to have paper allotted by the Government
and have l i teraturs  publ ished without  such approval . The association considered
i t se l f  in  opposi t ion to  the  Government, b u t  w a n t e d  t o  u n d e r l i n e  c l e a r l y  t h e
dis t inct ion between themselves  and any oppoei t icn groups exis t ing outs ide  the
country. They stated that the Government did not prevent unarmed opposition.

246. The Association of High School Students informed the Special Representative
that  an organization of guardians  of  the  Is lamic  society  had been establ i shed in
every  high school , which resul ted in  certa in  l imits  with regard to  the  freedom of
expre s s ion  and  in s t ruc t ion . General ly ,  they complained that  s tandards  of  teaching
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were low and that classec were over-crowded. Although secondary education was free
of charge,  important  expenses  had to  be incurred by the famil ies  for  books and
teaching materia l .  For that  reason, they had decided to  leave  the  organization  of
Guardians and to create their own association. This  did  not  mean,  however,  that
they  were pol i t ical  opponents  of  the  Qovernment or  that  they sympathised with  the
Hojahedin  Organisat ion, whose members  they considered as  terroris ts .

247.  The Associat ion of Students  explained their  object ives  as  encompass ing the
struggle for freedom of expression, the  promotion of  sound inte l lectual  and
p o l i t i c a l  a c t i v i t i e s , and a campaign against oppression and anti-human movements.
T h e  A s s o c i a t i o n  p r e s e n t e d  v a r i o u s  a l l e g a t i o n s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c t i v i t i e s  o f  t h e
Mojahedin Organisation.

248. The Association for the Defence of the Victims of Violence also denounced
several  at tacks  by the  Mojahedin  Organisat ion.

249. At the request of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the  Specia l  Representat ive
a l so  pa id  a  br i e f  v i s i t  to  t he  In s t i t u t e  f o r  In t e rna t i ona l  S tud i e s . The Director
of the Institute explained that , a l r e a d y  i n  t h e  late n i n e t e e n t h  c e n t u r y ,  a  s i m i l a r
inst i tut ion was  founded which was  later  incorporated into  the  Univers i ty  of
Tehran. In 1973,  a  new Inst i tute , s e p a r a t e  f r o m  t h e  U n i v e r s i t y ,  w a s  c r e s t e d .  I t
was  eeised  in  1980 and re-establ i shed in  1983. A t  p r e s e n t  3 8 0  st.udents s tud i ed  a t
t h e  I n s t i t u t e , of whom 100 were staff members of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
Four permenent  professors  and several  inv i ted professors  gave courses  on the
pract ice  of  d iplomacy and negot iat ions . Every year a number of students attended
the sess ion of  the  General  Assembly, Owing to  the  lack of  t ime,  the  Specia l
R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  b r i e f l y  g r e e t e d  t h e  s t u d e n t s , bu t  was  no t  i n  a  po s i t i on  to  g i ve  a
lecture to  them,  as  had been requested,

F .  Informalion  r e c e i v e d  f r o m  or iw

250. During his stay at Tehian, t h e  S p e c i a l  Representative  once  aga in  pa id  a  v i s i t
to Mr. Mehdi Baaargan, f irs t  Prime Minis ter  of  the  Provisioncl  Revolut ionary
Government, who received him in the company of Dr. Yaedi, former Foreign Minister
of the same Government. Mr.  Baeargan expresseA great  concern over  the  detent ion of
s i g n a t o r i e s  o f  h i s  o p e n  l e t t e r  t o  t h e  P r e s i d e n t  a n d  e m p h a s i s e d  t h e  i l l e g a l i t y  o f
bo th  the  a r re s t s  and  the  f ac t  t ha t  t he  au thor i t i e s  had  vo i ced  accusa t ion s  i n
p u b l i c ,  i n  p a r t i c u l a r , such ser ious  charges  as  espionage. T h o  l a t t e r  v i o l a t e d  t h e
principle  of presumption of innocence of  the  accused.  Mr.  Bazarqan pointed out
t h a t ,  a f t e r  t h e  a r r e s t ,  h e  h a d  s e n t  a  s e r i e s  of a d d i t i o n a l  l e t t e r s  t o  t h e
au thor i t i e s ,  i n  par t i cu l a r  the  Head  of  t h e  J u d i c i a r y , of  which he handed copies  to
the  Specia l  Representat ive . He sa id  that  he  had never  received any reply  to  those
l e t t e r s .

251, The open letter criticised  the Government for the worsening economic and
sociel s i t ua t i on  and  the  l a ck  o f  f r eedom and  s ecur i t y  i n  the  coun t ry . It  accused
the Government of mismanagement and of an extremist foreign policy which has led to
the  coun t ry ’ s  i s o l a t i on  i n  the  interr.ational  commun i ty . T h e  signatories  o f  t he
let ter  inv i ted  the  Pres ident  and his  Government  to  take the  fol lowing measures  and
p o l i c i e s :

/ I . .
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“(a) T o  prevent  t he  perpe t ra t i on  o f  v i o l a t i on6  and  de s t ruc t i on s  i n  the
country  and to  avoid  s igning subjugat ing and not  nat ional ly  supervised
agreements with foreigners:

“(h) T o  restitute  the l e g i t i m a t e  r i g h t s  o f  p e o p l e  s t i p u l a t e d  i n
chap ter s  3  and  5  o f  t he  Iranian Cons t i t u t i on  and  to  s top  suppre s s i ve  po l i c i e s
of  some [government]  inst i tut ions  and organs;

“(~1 T o  s a f e g u a r d  a n d  g u a r a n t e e  f r e e d o m  o f  a c t i v i t y  f o r  t h o s e  p o l i t i c a l
part ies  and associat ions  and press  which have legal  and open ,ctivitieer

“(d) To provide opportunit ies  for  free  and undis turbed debates ,  ta lks and
exchauge  of  v iews for  the  purpose  of  resolv ing problems of  the  country  and
seeking sincore  co-operat ion of  people  and eventual ly  paving the  way for
estahlishiny  t h e  l e g i t i m a t e  r u l e  o f  t h e  p e o p l e . ”

252.  Mr.  Bazargan fllrther  s tated that  none of the  arrested persons  had been al lowed
to avail  themsolver,  of legal counsel, t h a t  v i r t u a l l y  a l l  w e r e  h e l d  i n  i s o l a t i o n  a n d
t h a t  t h e i r  c o n t a c t s  w i t h  r e l a t i v e s  a n d  f r i e n d s  h a d  b e e n  e x t r e m e l y  l i m i t e d . As he
h a d  s t r e s s e d  i n  v a r i o u s  l e t t e r s  t o  t h e  a u t h o r i t i e s ,  i t  w a s  i l l e g a l  t o  d e t a i n
persons  without  informing them of  the  charges  held against  them within  24 hours  and
keep them in sol i tary  conf inement  for  such extended interrogat ion by agents  of  the
M i n i s t r y  o f  I n t e l l i g e n c e  w i t h o u t  p a s s i n g  t h e  c a s e s  t o  t h e  c o m p e t e n t  c o u r t s .  H e
a l s o  d r e w  t h e  S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e ’ s  a t t e n t i o n  t o  t h e  p r e c a r i o u s  h e a l t h  s i t u a t i o n
of some of the detainees. He further  ment ioned that  the  off ices  of  both the
Freedom Movement (the perty of which he was president) and the Association for the
Defe.>ce  of Freedom and the Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation had been closed by the
au thor i t i e s  and  tha t  a l l  t he i r  f i l e s  had  been  con f i s ca t ed . According to  an
announcement of the revolutionary  prosecutor, the  As soc i a t i on  fo r  the  Defence  o f
Freedom and Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation had been prohibited. However , the
revolut ionary prosecutor  was  not  competent  to  make such a  s tatement  and a  rul ing
concern ing  the  d i s so lu t i on  of  a  po l i t i ca l  par ty  o r  a s soc i a t i on ,  i n  accordance  w i th
the exis t ing laws on pol i t ical  perties  and associat ions ,  could only  be  made by a
specisl court  of  the  Minis try  of  Just ice  upon a complaint  by  tne  Minis ter  of  the
I n t e r i o r . With regard to his own party, the Freedom Movement, no formal decision
had been taken, bu t  s ince  i t s  bu i ld ing  and  f i l e s  had  been  con f i s ca ted ,  i t s
a c t i v i t i e s  w e r e  g&m r e s t r a i n e d . The Freedom Movement had provided all the
information required by the  Minis try  of  Inter ior  in  accordance with  the  Law on
po l i t i ca l  par t i e s  end  the  Min i s t e r  had  no t  dec l a red  i t s  f unc t i on ing  i l l ega l  w i th in
the three-month period s t ipulated by the  law.

253.  Mr.  Bazargen  further  ment ioned that  on numerous  occas ions  the  authori t ies  had
o f f i c i a l l y  recognised the  r i gh t  t o  c r i t i c i s e  t he  Government  and  an  example  o f  t h i s
were the  discuss ions  in  the  Maj l i s  (Parl iament) . Hoktve  r , a number of deputies had
p u b l i c l y  d e c l a r e d  t h a t  t h e y  d i d  n o t  f e e l  s a f e  t o  s a y  e v e r y t h i n g  t h e y  w a n t e d  t o
say. He ci ted several  names  of  deput ies  who had been e l iminated from the  Maj l i s  as
a  consequence of cr i t ical  statements.
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254.  Other  pr ivate  personBr including Ayatol lah Seyed Abolfael  Musavi  Zanjsni, the
author  o f  a c o m p a r a t i v e  s t u d y  o n  Islamic  pr inc ip l e s  anti t h e  U n i v e r s a l  D e c l a r a t i o n
of Human Rights, complained about the lack of freedom of expression. According to
assertions by several personsr the  manner  i n  wh ich  th i s  man i f e s t ed  i t s e l f  v a r i ed
From case to case, ranging from int imidat ion and threats  by members  of  the
revolut ionary guards  or other  organised groups, dismissal from employment,
e x c l u s i o n  f r o m  p u b l i c  a c t i v i t y  t o  d e t e n t i o n  anU ind i c tmen t  o r  Be i s o l a t i o n  o r
house  arrest ,  such as  in  the  cases  of  Ayatol lah Qomi in  Mashed or  Ayatol lah Rohani
i n  Qohl. T h e s e  p e r s o n s  a l s o  r e f e r r e d  t o  a  v a r i e t y  o f  s t r i c t  m e a s u r e s  o f  c o n t r o l
over any opposing views. such as  the  inspection  of correspondence,  the  tapping of
te lephone conversat ions ,  and a  network of i n q u i s i t i o n  e x e r c i s e d  b y  t h e
revolut ionary  guerds end agents  of the  Minis try  of  Inte l l igence.

255. R e l a t i v e s  o f  M r .  Amir Taavobri  r epor t ed  tha t  he  was  a r re s t ed ,  t oge ther  w i th  h i s
wife  and his  four-year-old  daughter  in  1982, on charges of sympathieing with the
Mojahedin Organisation. His daughter  was released after  40 days  of  detent ion and
he was  sentenced seven months  later  to f ive  years  of imprisonment .  The relat ives
aff irmed that  he  was  tortured and that  as  a resul t  of  beat ings  he  could  hardly
stand on hi6  feet  when they v i s i ted  him at  Evin prison. He was released in 1986
and, s i n c e  h e  c o u l d  n o t  obta in  a  pa s spor t , h e  f l e d  t h e  c o u n t r y  t o g e t h e r  w i t h  h i s
wife and daughter. He was  rearrested at  the  front ier  in  1987 and,  af ter  10 months
of imprisonment, w i t h o u t  t r i a l ,  was  e x e c u t e d  a t  E v i n  p r i s o n .

256.  One person,  who requested that  h is  name be kept  conf ident ia l ,  a l leged that
Borne  50 former members of the Mojahedin Organieation were kept in incommunicado
detention at  Evin prison in  the  so-cal led “Sect ion 209”.  The names  of  these
prisoners  did not  appear on the prison regis ter  and the persons  detained in  this
S e c t i o n  required  t h e  u r g e n t  a t t e n t i o n  o f  t h e  S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e .  A s im i l a r
assert ion was  received from a former deta inee  at  Evin prison, S i n c e  t h i s
information was given to  the  Specia l  Representat ive  on the  las t  day  of the  v i s i t ,
he had no occas ion to  fol low i t  up with the  authori t ies .

257.  Nahfd Arabali,  Effat  Bahrololoum,  Ali Jajarmi, Maryam  Rahmanian-Rooskaki  a n d
Mahshid Shakernia stated that the Mojahedin Organisation had reported their
execut ion. They  pre sen ted  the i r  i den t i t y  ca rd s  and  i t  wa s  l a t e r  e s t ab l i shed  tha t
the names of  the  f irs t  and third persons  appear  in  a  publ icat ion by the Mojahedin,
tha t  t he  names  of  the  s econd  and  f i f th  per sons  a re  l i s t ed  i n  the  annex  o f  the
S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e ’ s  r e p o r t  t o  t h e  G e n e r a l  A s s e m b l y  a t  i t s  f o r t y - f o u r t h  s e s s i o
(A/44/620) ,  and that  the  name of  the  fourth person i s  included in  the  annex to  the
repor t  t o  the  Commis s ion  on  Human  Righ t s  a t  i t s  f o r ty - f i f th  s e s s ion .  31 I t  s h o u l d
be noted, however, that  the  lack of  personal  data  other  than the  name,  as  wel l  as
d i s c repanc i e s  i n  the  spe l i i ng  o f  names  do  no t  permi t  one  to  e s t ab l i sh  w i th
cer t a in ty  tha t  t he  l i s t ed  per sons  a re  i den t i ca l  w i th  tho se  who  appeared  be fore  the
Specia l  Representat ive .

258.  Several  persons  sa id  that  they were Iranian prisoners  of  war in  Iraq and
al leged that  they  had been induced by the  Mojahedin  Organisation  to  jo in  their
ranks. T h e  S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  c o n s i d e r s  t h e s e  s i t u a t i o n s  o u t s i d e  t h e  frarnewo:
of  his  mandate  and,  therefore, refrains  from report ing on the  numerous  detai led
d e s c r i p t i o n s  Pm eceived  on  such  ca se s .
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259. Co-ordination between Islamic law and international law was the subject of a
private conversation with Ayatollah Yafari, who long before had invited the Special
Representative to discuss that matter with him. The Ayatollah expressed the view
that a truly universal order of the rights of human beings should be based on the
common principles of Judaism, Christianity and Islam. In this connection, he
suggested the creation of an “Abraham Society” in the framework of which the
implementation of these principles could be studied.

260. Hundreds of letters and written communications were again received by the
Special Representative during his visit. Since most of them were received in
Farsi, they could not be translated and analysed in time for the completion of the
present report. The Special Representative, therefore, jntends to revert to these
communications in his report to the next session of the Commission on Human Rights.

,0. -withmembers o f  the

261. The Special Representative also met three members of the Baha’i community, who
essentially confirmed the allegations received earlier. At the same time, they
recognixed  the willingness of the Government to solve the outstanding problems and
stated that discrimination, in particular business and occupational deprivation,
although still existing, had been somewhat relaxed, that confiscation of property
had been limited in the present year to one case only and that petitions regarding
confiscation of farms and orchards had met with some positive reactions, though so
far wlth l i t t le  tangible results . Nearly 300 Baha’is had applied for passports but
only 24 had obtained them, as well as the necessary exit permits, and some more had
been summoned to interviews, possibly leading to the issuance cf passports. Baha’ i
students r-are still not admitted in colleges and universities, but those who were
denied admittance in primary or secondary schools were now permitt6d to continue
their education at pre-college levels. The courts  of  just ice st i l l  did not  accept
heredity petitions presented by Baha’i heirs and many Baha’is were deprived from
entering into business transactions. However, in some localities Baha’is were now
being granted business licences. With regard to the problem of cemeteries, there
were still no formal ownership rights given to the Baha’is guaranteeing their
places of burial. Medical doctors could only exercise in private practices and
could not take part in the national insurance scheme, and Baha’i lawyers were not
admitted in the bar association or in courts. Reference was also made to the
enormous financial pressure to which members of the community were subjected, to
the impossibility of obtaining credit, or to accede to higher positions, even in
cases of academic qualifications acquired abroad. A person who had been involved
in scientific research for many years related how she had been ousted from Tshran
University, together with other Baha’i professors who were now trying to survive as
truck drivers or flower salesmen.

262. Some positive developments were said to consist in the partial lifting of the
ban on meetings, allowing a maximum of 15 Baha’i to attend their 19-day feasts.
For Baha’i funeral meetings there were no restrictions on the number of persons
attending. Furthermore, Baha’i families received food allowance booklets and
coupons and were given permission to connect their telephones, which had been
interrupted for many years. Finally, the regulations affecting married conscripts
were now also being applied to Baha’is.
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H .  Meetina_with

263. On Sunday, 14 October  1990,  the  Specia l  Representat ive  at tended mass  at  th\?
Armenian Orthodox church and met Archbishop Artak Manookian. A l l e g a t i o n s  r e c e i v e d
prior  to  the  v is i t  in  connect ion with  the  s i tuat ion of the  Armenian community  are
re f l ec t ed  in  paragraphs  98 t o  1 0 1 . The Archbishop deplored in  part icular  the
e x t r e m e l y  l i m i t e d  p o s s i b i l i t y  o f  l a n g u a g e  t r a i n i n g  i n  t h e  A r m e n i a n  s c h o o l s  - o n l y
two hours per week at the primary school level and none at the secondary school
l e v e l  - a s  w e l l  a s  t h e  l a c k  o f  r e l i g i o u s  e d u c a t i o n . In  the  lat ter  respect ,  some
progress had been made in reaching an agreement with the Government in the question
of  the  catechism,  but  the  implementat ion of  the  agreement  was  s t i l l  being awaited.

v. OBSERVATIONS

264.  Fol lowing the submiss ion of  h is  f inal  report  to  the  Commiss ion on Human
Righ t s ,  4/ t h e  S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  r e c e i v e d  c o p i o u s ,  d i v e r s e  i n f o r m a t i o n  on t h e
s i tuat ion of  human r ights  in  the  Is lamic  Republ ic  uf Iran. Encouraged by his  f irs t
v i s i t  t o  t h e  c o u n t r y , I r a n i a n  e x i l e s  o f  a l l  p o l i t i c a l  p e r s u a s i o n s ,  r e l a t i v e s  a n d
fr iends  of  people  with  pol ice  or  judic ia l  problems and non-governmental
organieations  working for  the  protect ion of  human r ights  a l l  provided such
information. Hundreds  of  le t ters  were  received, some of them in English or French
bu t  mos t  i n  Far s i . Dur ing  h i s  s econd  v i s i t  t o  t he  coun t ry ,  t he  Spec i a l
Representat ive  a lso  received information about  speci f ic  cases  and heard the
Government’s views.

265. Charges and counter-charges, a l l e g a t i o n s  a n d  c o u n t e r - a l l e g a t i o n s  a r e  a l l u d e d
t o  b r i e f l y  i n  t h e  r e l e v a n t  c h a p t e r s  o f  t h e  p r o v i s i o n a l  r e p o r t . Of ten  con f l i c t i ng
da ta  and  v i ews  have  been  inc luded ,  g i v ing  an  i dea  o f  t he  d i ve r s i t y  o f  op in ions ,
some of them extremely polarioed, a s  t o  the s i t ua t ion  in  t h e  I s l a m i c  R e p u b l i c  of
Iran. T h e r e  a r e  v i r t u a l l y  n o  a c c o u n t s  o f  s i t u a t i o n s  o r  s p e c i f i c  c a s e s  w h o s e
accuracy and veraci ty  are  not  d isputed.

266.  This  f inal  chapter  summing up the  provis ional  report  contains  general  or
spec i f i c  ob serva t ion s ,  depend ing  on  the  ma t t e r s  a t  i s sue . In  a  way,  the
observat ions  are  the  forerunner  of  the  conclasions  which the  Specia l  Representat ive
wi l l  submit  in his  f inal  report  to  the  Commiss ion on Human Rights ,  but  they are
separate and dist inct  from those conclus ions. The recommendations addressed to the
Government  of  the  Is lamic  Republ ic  of  Iran in  earl ier  reports  therefore  remain
v a l i d .

267.  In  preparing the  programme of  work for  the  second v is i t ,  i t  was  necessary to
se l ec t  ca se s  wh ich  were  su f f i c i en t l y  impor tan t  and  on  wh ich  su f f i c i en t  de ta i l s  were
ava i l ab i e  f o r  them to  bene f i t  f rom on - s i t e  i nve s t i ga t i on . I t  w a s  p o s s i b l e  t o  t a k e
up most,  but  not  a l l , of  the  cases  se lected on previous  occasions; t he  ca se s  o f
10  pr i soner s  accu sed  o f  e sp ionage  or  s im i l a r  o f f ence s  cou ld  no t  be  i nve s t i ga t ed
because  the  Government  would not  a l low the  pr isoners  to  be  interv iewed.  The
Specia l  Representat ive  deeply  regrets  that  he  was not  a l lowed to  interv iew these
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pr i soner s , for  he  bel ieves  that  they could  have  given him informat ion about  due
process of law and the prison system, The Specia l  Representat ive  was  a lso  unable
to  v i s i t  Gohardash t  pr i son , where he  had planned to  request  an interv iew with  four
pr i soner s . The Government was given only a few hours’ advance warning of his
desire  to  v i s i t  Gohardasht  and he was  not informed of  i t s  reasons for refus ing
permiss ion,

266.  On his  second v is i t ,  the  SpecLal Representat ive  did  not  have  to  contend with
the  c rowds  who  obs t ruc ted  h i s  f i r s t  v i s i t . On some days, r e l a t i v e l y  s m a l l  g r o u p s
of  people  blocked the  entrance to  the  office where he  general ly  heard witnesses ,
b u t  e v e n  so h e  w a s  a b l e  t o  r e c e i v e  w i t n e s s e s  a t  t h e  o f f i c e  a n d  t o  q u e s t i o n  o t h e r s
at  the  Este lghla l  Hotel  and in  private  homes. Of course, t h e  r u l e  of
conf ident ia l i ty  was  observed with  regard to  the  names  of people  who requested i t .

269.  The informat ion he  received concerned executio;ls,  i l l - treatment  and torture,
l a c k  o f  d e f e n c e  c o u n s e l  i n  t r i a l s  b e f o r e  t h e  r e v o l u t i o n a r y  cour ts ,  f a i l u r e  t o
not i fy  deta inees  of  the  charges  against  them immediately  after their  arrest ,
d i f f i c u l t i e s  in e n s u r i n g  p u b l i c  t r i a l s ,  r e s t r i c t i o n s  o n  t h e  p r e s s ,  o n  t h e
pub l i ca t i on  o f  books  and  on  a r t i s t i c  c rea t ion , prob lems  w i th  the  r i gh t  o f  pe t i t i on
and  obs tac l e s  t o  fo rming  a s soc i a t i on s  i n  genera l  and  po l i t i ca l  par t i e s  in
p a r t i c u l a r .

270.  In  general , witnesses  and observers  of ten seem to  seem the  Special
Representat ive ’s  v i s i t  to  the  country  ab operatina  as  some kind of  panacea,  and
t h e y  t e n d  t o  e x p e c t  s p e c t a c u l a r  r e s u l t s  f r o m  i t . T h a t ,  a f t e r  a l l ,  i s  t h e
attraction of the panacea which, since time immemorial, has  been sought  af ter  both
as  a  cure  fo r  i nd i v idua l  d i s ea se s  and  a s  a  s o l u t i o n  t o  s o c i a l  p r o b l e m s . I t  i s  v e r y
d i f f i c u l t ,  i n  o n e  o r  t w o  v i s i t s , to  change a  s i tuat ion as  i f  by  magic,  or  to
investigate thousands of cases when only a sample can be obtained of such cases and
their  impl icat ions  must  be  analysed by means  of  logic . V i s i t s  are  but  a  stage,
though obviously  an important  and essentkal  one, in  the  proce s s  o f  ver i fy ing  t h e
human rights situation in a given country, and evidence of  a  Government ’s  des ire  to
co-operate with the competent United Nations organs.

8. v bv j&~ Irw Goverm

271.  As a resul t  of recommendat ions  made in  earl ier  reports  and matters discussed
d u r i n g  t h e  f i r s t  v i s i t , senior  officials  said  that  the  Government  had taken s teps
to implement some of the recommendations. In  par t i cu l a r , they ment ioned the
d e c i s i o n  t o  a l l o w  ICRC t o  v i s i t  p r i s o n s . T h e  o f f i c i a l  n o t i f i c a t i o n  o f  t h e  d e c i s i o n
t o  a l l o w  p r i s o n  v i s i t s  inposes no re s t r i c t i on s  wha t soever  a s  t o  the  pr i sons  tha t
can  be  v i s i t ed  or  the  k ind6  o f  p r i soner s  o r  the i r  o f f ence s . The Special
Representat ive  pointed out that  in  order  to  implement  the  decis ion,  the  Government
would have to reach a working agreement with ICRC because IRC begins to make prison
vis i t s  only  af ter  such agreement  has  been obtained. The Specia l  Representat ive
u r g e d  t h e  competent  o f f i c i a l s  t o  conc lude  such  an  agreement  a s  soon  a s  po s s ib l e  so
t h a t  r e g u l a r  v i s i t s  t o  p r i s o n e r s  a c c u s e d  o f  o r d i n a r y  a n d  p o l i t i c a l  o f f e n c e s  c o u l d
begin. The competent  offici’als sa id  they were  ready to  conclude a  def in i te
agreement with ICRC as soon as possible. CIn h i s  r e t u r n  t o  G e n e v a ,  t h e  S p e c i a l

k,w
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Representative was informed that ICRC had submitted to the Government on
24  Oc tober  1990  de ta i l s  o f  i t s  t r ad i t i ona l  p rocedure s  f o r  p r i son  v i s i t s .

272. The Iranian Government has requested technical essistance  from the Centre for
Human Rights. I t  has  a lso  brought  together  experts  f rom various  countr ies  and
regions to  consider  ways  of  co-ordinat ing Is lamic  law with  the  obligations imposed
b y  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  l a w . The Government has also granted a number of amnesties which
have benefited many prisoners (see appendix VII). I r a n i a n  o f f i c i a l s  s a i d  t h a t  t h e y
had taken s teps  to  improve condit ions  for  accused or  convicted prisoners  and that  a
special  fund had even been set  up, f inanced by the Government  and phi lanthropists ,
to  provide  them with f inancial  a id.

273. Another noteworthy development is that the Government has begun to reply to
t h e  a l l e g a t i o n s  t r a n s m i t t e d  t o  i t . I t  p r e s e n t e d  a  l o n g  l i s t  o f  p e o p l e  a l l e g e d l y
executed over  a  number of  year6 (see  appendix VI)  and a  l i s t  of  execut.!ons carried
out  s ince the  beginning >f the  current  Iranian year  (21 March 1990)  (sr*e
appendix VI. The Government noted that there had been a decrease in the number of
execut ions  as  a result  of  the  recommendat ions  made in  earlie;  reports .

274. In recent months, the  Government ’s  co-operat ion with  the  Special
Representative has improved and has come closer to, a l t h o u g h  i t  h a s  y e t  t o  r e a c h ,
what  could  be cons idered a  des irable  level . The provis ion of  information on
e x e c u t i o n s  i s  a  p o s i t i v e  s t e p , but  a  detai led response  has  yet  to  be  forthcoming on
numerous  a l legat ions  of  human r ights  v iolat ions . The Government  has  re i terated i t s
w i l l i n g n e s s  t o  r e p l y  t o  a l l  t h e s e  c a s e s . I t  i s  t h e r e f o r e  n e c e s s a r y  t o  r e i t e r a t e  t o
t h e  G o v e r n m e n t  t h e  r e q u e s t  t h a t  i t  r e p l y  i n  d e t a i l  t o  a l l  a l l e g a t i o n s  r e g a r d l e s s  o f
the date on which they were made, in other words, without  drawing any dis t inct ion
between old and new allegations.

c* Soecific
275.  Concerning the  most important  r ight ,  namely,  the  r ight  to  l i fe ,  i t  should be
noted that  according to  est imates  f rom non-governmental  sources  based,  -a,
on statement6 by the  Ass is tant  Attorney-General , the number of executions between
January and May 1990 was relatively high. Moreover, before  complet ing hi6  second
vieIt t o  t h e  c o u n t r y , t h e  S p e c i a l  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  we6 g i ven  an  o f f i c i a l  l i s t
indicat ing that  113 execut ions  ha? been carr ied out  s ince  21 March 1990.  The
f igures  provided by sources  abroad are  considerably  higher  than the  off ic ia l
f i g u r e s . In any case, the  o f f i c i a l  f i gure s  a re  s t i l l  h igher  than  can  be  cons idered
compat ible  with  the  restr ict ive  and except ional  c ircumstances  in  which the
Internat ional  Covenant  on Civ i l  and Pol i t ical  Rights  authorises  Government6 to
apply  the  death  penal ty .

276.  The Specia l  Representat ive  ha6 cont inued to  receive  many reports  about  the
a b s e n c e  o f  a  l a w y e r  a t  t r i a l s  h e a r d  b y  t h e  r e v o l u t i o n a r y  c o u r t s . On his second
v i s i t ,  i n  t he  cour se  o f  i n t e rv i ews  w i th  p r i soner s  a t  Evin pr i son ,  he  was a b l e  td
conf irm that  in  f ive  cases  the  accused had appeared before  the  revolut ionary courts
without  defence lawyers . Two prisoners who had been condemned to death had not
benef i ted from defence counsel , and had not  even requested i t  because  they knew i t
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was not allowed in revolutionary courts. A third prisoner, who was tried two years
ago and still has not been informed of his sentence, also did not have a defence
lawyer. In the first two cases, the sentence was the death penalty, and the same
penalty is expected in the third case. These cases confirm that, in practice,
compliance with this essential element of due process of law is inconsistent and
uneven.

277. Public trials are another element of due process. According to the
information received, the Governi,:srrt  has ruled, without mentioning any exceptions,
that trials must be public. Based on this, the Special Representative pointed out
that  facil i t ies  for  a public  tr ial  did not  exist  in prisons. When he attended a
trial in Evin prison, it was obvious that prison trials can not really be public
because access to them is subject to the restrictions inherent in prison security.
Entry to Evin prison is heavily supervised and restricted, while a public trial
requires access by the press and the public as and when they desire. The room in
which the trial was held was also too small for a genuinely public trial to be
held, for with nine accused, f ive plaintiffs  and various court  off icers,  it was
almost full.

278. The Special Representative found that in many cases the constitutional
obligation to inform an arrested person of the charges against him imnediately
after his arrest had not been fulfilled. Some prisoners had never been informed of
the charges, while Other6 were informed two or three weeks after their arrest. A
number were not informed in writing and quite a few realised what the accusation
was from the questions asked during their interrogation. These cases would also
seem to bear out similar allegations received from different sources.

279. Special mention should be made of televised confessions. The Special
Representative talked to three people at Evin prison who had appeared on television
and confessed to the crime of espionage. All denied having acted under pressure or
in response to threats or promises. However, two of them said that it was known
from earlier cases that people who confessed their guilt in public had their
sentences reduced and were treated more leniently, and that they therefore expected
something in return. Televised confessions have aroused considerable scepticism
and they are seen as lacking spontaneity and authenticity. In view of this
situation, the practice does not contribute to the proper administration of
ju s t i ce . Rather, it undermines and obscures the administration of justice for
purposes alien to it, particularly when the practice takes place in the course of
the investigation.

280. Citisens who have availed them6elves  of the right of petition have not
received a reply from the officials petitioned. It should be recalled that the
right of petition impose6 on the authorities an obligation to respond to the
petition, although not necessarily to grant it.

281. Concerning associations in general and political parties in particular, it
should be noted that the laws regulating them impose conditions which, in theory,
are supposed to ensure that the Constitution and moral and religious principles are
upheld. In practice, however, they have the effect of ensuring that associations
whose purpose is political propaganda and electioneering or the protection of human
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rights are not legally recognised. Problems arise for individuals when
associations are in the process of being formed, since there is no clear
distinction between the individual responsibility of members and the responsibility
of the associations themselves, or indeed of associations whose activities are
authorixed. Morecver, until an association is recognised, no judicial remedies are
available to it. Two groups outside the Government have attempted to form legally
recognised associations and have made the corresponding applications to the
Minister of the Interior. These are the Freedom Movement and the ASSOCiatiOn  for
the Defence of Freedom and the Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation. Neither of these
groups has been formally authorised and their situation recently became more
precarious when accusations were made against some of their members. The
authorities say that they hdve been qilsn & faw authorisation, a situation which
perpetuates the uncertainty about their activiti?s and leaves the right of
association open to interference. Moreover, while they are allowed to publish
statements and manifestos, the authorities can at any time seise a publication
which provokes their displeasure. This tolerance does not extend to participation
i n  elections. The Bible Society, which has a long tradition and has existed for
many years, has also been dissolved and its papers confiscated.

282. In early June 1990 00 former members of the first Revolutionary Government
end eminent persons r’. _.. PI very broad speLtrum of professions and occupations
signed an open letter, the text of which cLrculated  world wide, in which they
called on the Government to adhere to the Constitution and criticised its economic
policies. The Special Representative was able to interview come of the letter’s
signatories , many of them members of the Freedom Movement and the Association for
the Defence of Freedom and the Sovereignty of the Iranian Nation, at Evin prison.
They claimed that the open letter was the sole reason for their detention and that
the accusation of espionage  was a fabrication. One of the prisoners fntorviewed,
who had appeared on television, admitted that on a trip abroad he had met with
friend6 and that during the investigation he had acknowledged that the views of the
organisation to which he belaaged coincided with the position of foreign news
agencies, but said that he had neither committed nor admitted to committing
espionaqe. He said he had appeared on television of his own free will and that no
promises had been made to him. The other people interviewed vigorously denied
having engaged in espionage and said they hoped that each of them would be judged
in terms of his individual responsibility.

283. Some prisoners had been able to deduce from their interrogation that the
accusation wd6 based on two facts: f i r s t , that foreign news agencies had published
the contents of the letter before it was made known in Iran and, secondly, that the
contents of the letter coincided with the customary position of two foreign radio
stations. None of the detainees admitted guilt and one of them said that he had
been severely beaten in prison.

284. The trial qf these people will be a test case for the application of the rules
of due process. It should be noted that the rules governing the Iranian judicial
system establish’that during the period of investigation the accused remains in
complete isolation. As rrtantioned  above, the authorities allowed the Special
Repreeentative  to interview ‘d number of the accused. The sequence of events shows
that the publication of the letter prompted and marked the beginning of the
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judicial proceedings. The real reason for the official reaction may therefore be
the Government’6 displeasure at this kind of criticism, As a result, most - if not
a l l  - of the prisoners can be considered dissidents and prisoners of opinion and
described as prisoners of conscience. During interviews, Government officials said
that calling on the Government to adhere to the Constitution implied, by
definition, that the Constitution was not being adhered to. As subsequent events
have ahown,  however, freedom of expression and the right of petition are indeed
being flouted.

285. From talking to journalists and writers, the Special Representative was sble
to obtain information about restrictions on the press, on the publication of books
and on artistic creation. For the press, problems begin with the distribution of
paqer, which is in Government hands. The Government can use this to put pressure
on the mass media, giving them less than they need if they deviate from the
accepted or tolerated line. After this comes personal preesure on journalists
whose work is not, for one reason or another, in line with dominant official
opinion7 such pressure has the effect of bringing the journalist somewhat into line.

286. According to the information received, books require prior authorisation  from
the competent authority. The authorities say that such authorisation is granted or
denied strictly on moral grounds, but the fact is that, by law, books are also
evaluated in terms of their adherence to the Constitution. Since the Constitution
i9 a poli t ical  and legal  instrument,  polit ical  criteria therefore also come into
play. The writers and artists interviewed feel that artistic freedom is being
impaired. The Special Representative was told of the case of a women writer who
published a book which apparently did not meet the necessary requirements, was put
in prison and has only just been released after serving her sentence. The owner of
the publishing house was also convicted. Writers and artists want more room for
artistic expression and say that the cv.rrent regulation6 inhibit their freedom of
expression, both in literature and in the arts,

287. The information received about associations, the press, books and artistic
creation, the truth of which does,not appear to be in doubt, is consistent and
coherent with the laws governing those matters which senior officials explained in
the course of interviews, Given the prevailing legal and administrative situation,
it does not appear possible to exercise the right to disagree with the Government
because that right presupposes an atmosphere of social and political tolerance and
adequate guarantees  of legal security.

288. The Special Representative talked privately, in private homes, to people who
have no ties to the Government and have led a normal life, without police or
judicial complications. These people, however, agreed to be interviewed only after
taking numerous precautions to preserve their anonpity. They said they feared
reprisals if it became known that they had given information about the situation in
the country. They fear irregular groups and Komiteh  and Pasdaran agents who use
intimidatory  t a c t i c s . Many people interviewed at the UWDP  office and the hotel
voiced the same fears. This is further evidence of people’s uncertainty about the
consequences of their actions. This uncertainty is felt even by member6 of
Parliament, as can be seen from a statement made in Parliament by Haeri Zadeh,
representative of the Province of Birjandr “I am not secure enough to say what I
want to say”.
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289. Concerning the situation of the Baha’is, nine of them are still in prison, but
none has been executed in recent months. Many documents signed by administrative
authorities have been received, providing evidence of discrimination, confiscation,
rejection by universities, suspension of pensions, demands for the return of
pension&t  earned and paid, denial of  passports and other irregularities. Such
measures  are not taken everywhere, nor in all administrative offices, and it would
seem that the attitude towards the Raba’is  and their situation depends on the
temperament and personal convictions of individual officials. This keeps t;re
Baha’is  in a perpetual state of uncertainty about their activities. The Government
should therefore be requested to take effective action to ensure that these Iranian
citioeae enjoy the same civil and political rights as the rest of the population.

290. It can be concluded from the specific cases that have been confirmed that the
investigation of other cases would yield eimilar results, in other words, evidence
of further human rights violations. The enormous quantity and variety of
allegations and complaints received from very diverse sources, even allowing for
the fact that they may contain errors or exaggerations, provide a credible factual
basis for the belief that human rights violations occur frequently in the country
and that government action to prevent and remedy such violations has not been
eufficient to put an end to them. We do not have the information to judge what
might be their common denominator. This explains the fear shown by independent
citisens who, when they talk, try to conceal their identity and what they really
think, and the uncertainty felt by private individuals and senior officials alike,
which makes them extremely cautious about expressing their opinions and about how
they act in general.

291. The above observations all point to the same conclusion1 that  i t  i s  bo th
useful and appropriate that international monitoring by the competent United
Nations organs with a view to ensuring compliance with international human rights
instruments in the Islamic Republic of Iran should continue, that efforts should be
made to ensure the uniform and proper application of the appropriate norms, and
that a climate of confidence and legal and politica 1 security in which people can
exercise their individual rights without adverse consequences should be promoted.

A/ E/cN,4/1990/24.

21 E1CN.411969126.

141 E/cN.4/1990/24.
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APPENDIX I

A’yar

Abbas-Ali

Abedini

Abrandi

Adibi

Afsari

Af shar

Af Shari

Afshari

Aqhaei

Aqhai

Ahmad Pour

Ahmadi-Ne jad

Ahmadi-Neshad

Ahmedian

Ahmady

Ahady

Anmady

Ahady

Ahmsdy

Ahrari

Aimyari

Akbarsad-Yousefi

Al&Si

Alamsadeh

Alemi

Alemi

Ali

Ali Fathe

Ravanipoor

Esmafel

Mahmoud

Ali

Xacaumeh

Esat

Ali

Hamid

Ahad

Mohanunad

Saeed

Saad

Bishan

Khosrow

Fariba

Mohamsad

Farshnas

Mansour

Leyla

Abdolmajfd

Nasser

Mahnas

Batoul

Mohamad-Rosa

Mohamad-Wadi

Seyed

0 5 . 0 2 . 1 9 8 1

1981

1988

‘i984

1982

Babel

Evin priron

1981

1982

01.1990

1989

1989

1985

1981

09.1988

09.1988

09.1980

09.1%08

1981

1988

1981

08.1931

Bir  jand

mbol

Tabris prison

1981

1981

01.1990
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Ali-Ns jad
Alian-Neshad

Al idous t

Al ipour

knsli

Junsndi

hnin

Amirapanahi

Juniri

Anar i

ArakSadeqhi

Ashar

Ashraf f

Ashtari

Ashtiyani

Asah

Asimi

Aa sani

Bahadori

Bahman

Bahrami

Bakhshali

Bakhtiari

Banaf sheh

Barash

Baser i

Bashiri

Baaarqan

Basaaan

Behdarvand

Behnani

Bslivand

Abdolqhader

Mehri

Masoud

Hoeein

Ali
Vahid Mohwrunadi

Saleh

Hossin

Abdollah

Ali Asqhar

Balakhan

Akbar Esna

Maryam Sadrol

Mehrad

Ssdeqh

Hamid

Aavsh

Farsaneh

Kianoosh

Mashalah

Ahmad

Mehdi

Ali Ousati

Mohsen

Ali
Mansour

61 jan

Hossin

Parvin

Assadolah

Kumars

25.07.1988

1988

19.02.1990

1902

19.02.1990

19.02.1990

1981

19.02.1990

1988

1981

08 * 1987

1981

00.1989

1984

1983

1981

19.02.1990

04.1990

1989

1983

1982

19.02.1990

09.1988

1981

1982
1983 .
1982

Bandar-Gas

Sabaevar

Evin prison

Tehran

Evin prison

Karaj

Arak

Mased Soleiman

Boushehr

Smanda j

Tonekabon

Tshr an

Tehran

Tehtan
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Birany

Bladi

Bolur-Forush

Dordbari

Bordbari

Borqhei

Cheqini

Cheraqh-Disi

Dadqar

Dahanqiri

Daneeh

Darabi

Darabi

Darabi

Darvishi

Daryaii

Dehchi

Dehqhan

Derakhanfar

Dinkhah

Doulatabadi

Dowlat-Abadi

Dowlatsehi

Ebrahim-Abadi

Ebrahimi

Edulati

Eesad-Khah Rermani

Eliaei

Eefahanian

Esmaieli

E madi

F a d a i i

Ali Reaa

Roqheyeh

Mehdis

Ali

Resa

Mehdi

Hassan

Jams1

Esmaeel

Yaf ar

Mohammad-Amin

Sayeed

Saman

Mehrdad

Maiamoud

Mohasusad-Hosein

Nader

Qita

Mehrdad

Hamid

Mahmoud

Mohammd-Darab

Beemellah

Salatin

Asisollah

Parvir

Massoud

Nemat

Mo jqan

Javad

Tassebsh

Mohamad

1981

15.12.1983

04.1990

1984

1984

04.1990

1983

12.1988

12.01,1986

1981

1902

1989

1988

19.02.1990

1981

08.1989

1988

1994

19.02.1990

19.02.1990

19.02.1990

1989

1981

1981

1989

Ardbi l  oity

Sananda  j

BarPanda  j

Brf ahan

I ranshahr

Morhar

Hamedan

Borou  jsrd

Tehran

ourlnieb

Arak

Tehran

Sab8evar

Borou jerd

Tehr an

Tonekabon

Cvin prison

Evin prieon

Mashed prison
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Padee

Fadee

Fanny

FarahmanJ

Farahmandian

Farahmandian

Farhangi-Ssbet
Fat ‘Hi

Oaf ferian

Ohafoury

Ghajar Azdonloo

Ghanamati

Ohavami

Gholam Rera

Clolijan-Moghadsm

Oolijan-Moghadam

Golsar

Oolsar

Oorbani

Ooreishi

Hadadan

Haddadi

Hadidi

Hadipour

Haffari

Ha j -Mohsen

Hamini

Hamze i i

Heriry

Hariry

Jamshid

Mehr dad

Ebrahim

Mohammed

Javad

Esmat
Farhad

Katayoun

Nader

Iray

Mohammad  Sadeqh

Qolsadeh

Masomeh
Moo tabah

Mousa

Rlak jory

Fardin

All

Gholamossein

Gholamhassan

Hussein

Saman

Isa

Mohammad-Saiid

Arye

Babek
All-Akbat

Hosctin

Daryoush

Ali

Majid

Massoud

1981

1988

1981
1981
1988

19.02.1990

04.1990

1983
19.09.1981

IO. 1982

1989

1988

1988

1984

1984

02.1990

02.1990
1981

1981

1983

1988

07.1981

1981

19.02.1990

1988

19.02.1390 Arak

1981 . Raeht

1982 Evin prison

Masjed Soliaman

Masjed Soliaman

Adelabad prison

Sari

Sananda j

Tonekabon

Tonekabon

Bandar, Abbes

Zanjan c i t y

Tehran
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Heriry

Hariry

Hassani

Hassani

Hassein

Hayati

Hedayati

Heidari

He jatcilah

Hematti

Heydar-Fakouri

Ho jabre

Ho jabre

Hoseini

Hoseini

Hossaini

Hossein

Hosseinpour

Hosseinsadeh-Arab1

Hossieni

Hydas 1

Isadshenas

Jabarsadeh

Jafari

Jahan-Biglari

Jahanqiri

Jahanqiri

Jahanqir 1

Jahanian

Jahanshabi

Jalal

Ja la i i

Shohreh

Mansoor

Mahmoud

Ahmad

Aaimi

Tassebeh

Zia

Jorsumeh

Qholamy

Mashaa’llah

Seyyed

Cyrous

Seemin

Al

Far ideh

Hossain

Mohammed

Wossein

Susan

Seid Saleh ’

Amir

Mehdi

Rasoul

Mehdi

Remyar

Mohammed-Gholi

Abolqasem

Mahin

Hamid

Seyed Gholam Resa

LaWr
Naser

1981

1988

1989

1984

19.02.1990

1981

1981

27.03.1980

25.07.1988

08.1981

06.1981

14.09.1989

04.1390
06.09.1981

Rasht

Gohar-Dasht

Bf.: jand

Bir jand

Evin prison

Qahaem  Shar

Hamedan

Sabeevar

Suary

Tehran

City of Rasht

Sananda j

1980

1985

1981

i9dl

1981 Semiron

1901 Evin prison

1984

04.1990 Sananda j
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J a l i s i

Javaa

Javani

Javasadah

lCaikavousi

Kairsi

Kalaaqari

Kalat-Gharbi

Karqar

Karimi

Katosiaa

Rasem

Kha-Kermani

Khabbas 1

Khakbas
Khakbam

Khaniaa

Khakbasi  .

Khatibaai

Kheradmand

Thor

Rhosravi

Kiaie

Latif

Madadi

Madani

Mahjoub
Wabmodi

Mabmoudi

Makvandi

Makvandi

Maleki

Mehidael

Vahid Uaki

tr idon

Al l

Farideh

Abbas

Mahmod

Mohsssnad-Reas

Gina

Asqhar

Sadeqh

Assad1

Naahed

Mostafa

Ahmad

Ahmad

Rosa

Ahmad

Mohamnad  R.

takieh

Hosein

Nabiolah

Massoud

Moshqan

Hosrin

Mehdi

Aref
Abbes -Al 1

Mabmood

Bijan

Maryam

1982

1985

28.03.1990

10.09.1984

19.02.1990

69.1981

02.1990

24.05.1984

1989

1989

1982

1989

1983

1989

1988

190s

19.02.1990

20.06.1981

1988

1988

Evin prison

Ssistan

Sabsevar

Evin prison

Ramsar

Ghasem-Abad

Soum'e Sara

Adelbad

Evin prison

Evin prison

Evin prison

Tonekabon

Adel Abad

Tehran

/ . . .
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Malski

Maredi

Marandi

Marsban

Maehkour i

Mashoiif

Masoumi

Massoumi

Masji

Mehrisi

Meehkinf  am

Meshkinfam

Meshkini

Mir-Arab

Mofarrahi

Moqharrabian

Moqhraei

Mohsmadi

Mohamedi

Mohsmmadi

Mohsmmadian

Mohkami

Mohseni

Moini

Mo jsher

Mojtabaie

Molavi

Moradi

Moradi

Mp;saley

Blorshed

!losanna

Jamshid

Ohavam

Hasan  Jafarsadeh

Fabimeh

Javad

Hamid-Reaa

Mahmoud

Babieh

Ghassem

Shokrollah

Shokrollah

Sediqeh

Amir

Saeed

Parvaneh

Ali

Ahmad

Akber

Abdollab

Reaa

Ali Asqar

A l l  Resa

Mohammed

All

Fakhr 1

Jalal

Masoud

All Ashraf

Jaf far

Ali

All

1982

12.1981

1981

1989

1988

1989

1985

1988

1981

1988

1982

1988

1984

04.1990
3981

19.02.1990
1969

13.10.1982

1988

04.1990

1981

19.02.1990

19.09.1981

Aliqoudars

Vasin Qaid

Ramsar

Borou jerd

Mash

Khoy

Bandar  -Gas

Birjand

Sananda j

Bakhtaran

Tonekabon

Hamedan

Masyide-Soleiman

Sanandaj

Sabsevar

/ . I .
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Motsghi-Talab

Motahayeri

Motahhedin

Moueavi

Mousssvi

Mur teea
Mussavi

Naddaf ian

Naderi

Nader  i

Naj jaran

Naj jarian

Namvar

Naroui

Narouyi

Naeser

Nassirian

Nasari

Nararsadeh

Natemi
Negarestani

Negarestaai

Nemati
Nemov i

Nilou

Othman Pour

Pahlevandoo

Parrar

Persiana

Parvaneh

Parviei

Pastegar

Amir

Maneour

Saeed

Enayatollah

Hashem Madadi

Lebas

Mohssan

Iraj

Manouchehr

Ziaoddin

Ebrahim

Ali-Resa

Sgagruar

Mohamad  R.

Houshaag

Barariy

Zari

Abdol  Mohamned

Mohammed Hosein

Zahra

Javad

Mashaallah

Moussa

Abbas

Akbar

Mohsen

Mohammad Resh

Ahmar

Majid

Abolghasem

Ahmad

Reta

1983 Rasht

03.08.1981

19.02.1990

1984

1981

1989

1988

1988

19.02.1990

1984

28.01.1990

19.02.1990

1984

1984

1988

19.02.1990

19.02.1990

19.09.1988

01.1984

02.09.1981

04.1990

1982

1981

04.1990

Tehran

Ssrri

Ramsar

Evin prison

Gohardasht

Boushehr

Tone kabon

Tehran

Rerman

Kerman

Sanandaj

Mashhad

Ramsar

Sanendaj

/ . . .
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Peerhadi

Piri

Poladi

Qadaksas

Rafati-Mogadam

Rafati-Mogadam

Rafeie

Rahim

Rahimi

Rahimian

Rahimian

Rahimian

Rahmani

Rahmati

Rajabi

Rajai

Rajavi

Ramshaai

Ran jbar

Ran jbaran

Ranjbaran

Ran jbaran

Rashed-Marandi

Rashi

Rosa

Rerai

Recai

Reeaie

Resai  ian

Roknama

Roudgar i

Roudgar i

Hossin

Ali

Hadi

Rahim

Nahid

Hanen

Mohammae

Saide

Ahmad

Eaatollah

Mar sieh

Massoud

Ali Rera

Nasrim

Astollah

Mohmad

Amanol lab

Amanollati

Aman-Al  lah

Far iba

Ahmad- Jaaghi

Falaaik

Sardar

Fased

Yarali

Behroua

Af agh

Ecaat

Nemat

1982

19.02.1990

1988

01.1982

1984

19.02.1990

1981

1981

1981

1981

1981

19.02.1990

09.09.1988

07.1982

1989

19.02.1990

198L

1982

07.08.1981

28.03.1990

1984

1985

1988

1989

Evin prison

Tehran

Tehr an

Arak

Ramsar

Ramear

Ramsar

Ramsar

Rata  j

Oohar Dasht

Rasht

Evin prison

Evin prison

Seistan

Evin prison

@wan

Evin prison

/ I . .
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Roys

Rosaii

Sadaghi

Sadegh

Srdegh i

Sadeghi

Sadeghi

Sadeghi

Sadeghpour

Sadehgi

Sadigh

Safaran
Satatian

Saferi

Saferi

Sat faran

Saf f s ran

Saf iden

Saghar

Salali

Samad-Nosrati

Sedngha t

Seyedi

Shaabani

Shademani

Shah-Abadi

Shah-Mansouri

Shehi

Shams in 18fahan

Shapo r

Sheriatl

Shekaraezhad

Mohmad

Hasan

Mohammed

Baiakhan

Rahman

Jamshid

YOU8ef

Hmed

Parvin

Habib

Mohsen

Hosein

Khamr an

Gholam

Hassan

Ha8 san

Namor
Ma8SOUd

Saeed

Hosein

Mohamadtaghi

Maj id

Fraidoon

Sosen

Mahin

Ali Reze  Shahtoukh

SyaVOU8h

Irantalap

Anver

Wmhaallah

04.1990

04.1990
1988

19.02.1990 Arak

1989 Tonekabon

1981

1981

1989

1983

1989

1988

11.1989

1984

1985

04.1985

19.02.1990

1988

15.04.1984

1981

19.02.t990

1981

1984

1981

1984

04.19YO

Sananda j

Sananda j

Bir jand

North

Ramser

Evin prison

Ramsar

Gohar Dasht

Gohar Dasht

Qom

Adel Abed

Rasht

Tehr an

Re..sar

Bandar, Abbes

Sananda j

/ . . .
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Shi rmohammedi

Shi rvani

Sho jaie

Sho jaie

Shokraneh

Sobhani

Soleimani

So toudeh

Sullamani

Suliki

Taati-Asil

Taavoni-Ganji

Tadainia

Taherpour

T e j a l l i

Tashayyod

Tasslimi

Tavako 1

Tavani an

Tasshkandi

Teherani-Pour

Torabi

Torkpour

Vahabi

Valieadeh

Vedadinya

Vosaghian

Yegaaegi

Yel ivand

Yosof

YOU8e f -Taleshi

Davood

Shiva

Near in

Mehran

Sorraya

Naser

Ali-Asghar

Tahmineh

Nosrat

Behrue

Ma8OUd

Amir

Homan

Bahram

HORSein

Ali Reea

Abdolfanl

Mohesn

Marim

Ali Resa

Hosein

Farah

Gholem R.

Farah

Habib

Habibollah

Mehdi

Mehdi

Ali

Feiaola

Narol lah

1989 Evin prison

1988 Sfahan  j a i l

1981

04.1990

1989

1981

1981

1988

11.1989

1981

1988

1982

1988

1981

1984

1989

01.1990

1989

08.1982

1988

1989

08.1988

19.02.1990

06.1981

06.1981

1983

1981

Sananda j

Aligu.rdars

Evin prison

Semi ron

Ev in  pr i son

Ev in  pr i son

Tehr an

Raraj

(Gohardasht)

Ev in  pr i son

Evin pr i son

Raeht

Tehran

Shiras

Ramear

/ ..*
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Zaker  i

Zandi

Zeinali

Mostaf a

Rema
Jahangi r

1981

08.1981
Tehran

/ . . .
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APPENDIX II

List of Prisoners  hanaea t o  thetmr of ForV
9.n Q (XLQkRs  1QQQ

The Special Representative requested to receive information on the fate or
whereabouts  of  the  fol lowing prisoners :

1, Jamshid Amiri-Bigvand
2. Bahman Agahy
3. Hooshang Amjadi  Bigvand
4. Ardeshear Ashraf
5. Manochehr Aear
6. Masoud Deadehvar
7. Kyanoosh Hakeamy
8. Bahrsm Ikany
9, Heshmatolah Magsoody

10. Gahraman Malekeadeh
11. Masoud Payaby
12. Ali Reaa Nasiri
13. Noureddine Kfanourf
14, Meriam Feiroue
15. Jemshid  Torabi
16. Ahmad Rashed-Marandi
17. Resa Arbabi
18. John Patt i s
19. Mohamadresa  Sedaghat
20. Addol Ali Basargan
21. Eeaatollah Sahabi
22. Rema  Sadr
23. Hussein  Bani Assadi
24. Shams Shahehahani
25. Nour Ali Tabandeh
26. Yadollah Chamse Ardallaa
27. Ali Ardalan
28. Rochan Ardalan
29. Farhad  Behbahani
30. Abbas Ghaem Sabahi
31. Khosero MLW3OUrian
32. Haenem Sabaghian
33. Esatol lah Hamod Sahabi
34. Mohammed TaVaREOli
35. Akbar Zarrinehbaf
36. Habib Davaran
37. Naim Pour
38. Amir Tavakol Ebrahimi
39. Hoseein  Shah Hosseini
40. Neeamedine Movahed
41. Mahmoud  Maleki

/ . . .
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42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
30.
51.
52,
53.
54.
55.
56.
57,
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71,
72.
73.

Hormos Momayesi
Said Sadt
Hamld  Sadr
Khosrow Piwsa
Ahmad Shayegan
Mahmoud  Habibi
Shahin Pares
Asar Sadr
Davoud Mir Rahimi
Mre. Pwnani
Mr. Jaf arpour
Ahmad  Rohdak i
Khalil  Qhiassi
Davoud Moyafar
Moha%nad  Aminal Reaya
Nader AL ahar i
Dr. Assadi
Uanouchehr  Motahari
Noroua Naghisadeh
Ahmad  Bastan
Mohcrmmad Dehgh6n
Huosaingholi  Roshansamir
Bakhshullah Miss6ghi
Kayv6n Khala  j &b&di
Behnbn  Miss/ghi
Asirullah  Mahjoor
Habibulleh  Hakimi
N6der Rouhani
Badiull&h  Sobh6ni
Dr. Mitra Ameli
Dr. Fatemeh Imadi
Ma. Fatemeh Hossrinsadeh-Tussi  Moghadsm

(known as Qiti Aasrsng)
Ms. Malakeh Mohamnadi
Ms. Zohreh Ohaeni
Me. Nahid Dorudiahi
Me. Fatemeh (Zohreh) Sadigh Tonekaboni
Ms. Hura Fuladpour
Me. Menijeh Riari
Ms. Afeaneh  Khavar
Ms. Mahboubeh Kohradi
Mr. Mahin Khorravi
Mr. Roger Cooper
Mr. Ahmad Resaire Fard
Ms. Monir Khosroshahi-Baradaran
Ms. Farideh Mahmood  Mohsmnad  Zamani
Mr. Framars Mahmood Mohsmnad  Zamani
Mr. Farsheed MaJmood  Mohmad Zamani
Mr. Amir  Houshang Aamrani
Mr .  Uansour Taheri

74,
75.
76.
77.
78,
79,
80.
81,
62.
83.
84.
85,
86.
87,
88.
89.
90.

/ . a .
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91. Me. Mary&n Taleghani
92. Mr. Bahram Alai-Khaetou
93. Mr. Seyedmehdi  Nasry
94. Ms. Sakineh Sedaghat
95. Mr. Ali Sedaghat
96. Mr. Abbas Raini
97, Mr. Eaatollah Sahabi
98. Ms. Narges Akbari-Namdar
99. Mr. Rahim Akbari-Namdar

100. Ms. Jamileh  Akbaraad-Youeefi
101. Dr. Boeoo Bagha’i
102. Mr. Esmail Movassaghian
103. Mr. Faremars Ah;iladian
104. Mr. Saeed Taati-Asil
105. Ms. Faeseh Sabet-Jahromi
106. Mr. Ebrahim Nebahat
107. Mr. Mohannnad-Taghi Rahimgour
108, Mr. Ra j ab Bayram-Eadeh
109. Me. Eraat Habibkhani
110. Me. Mahim Towfighi
111. Me. Shahrsad Mahdavi
112. Me. Farkhondeh Zanjanpour
113. Ms. Souean Gorji-Sefat
114. Me. Lilik Hakoopian
115. Ms. Fatema Shafii
116. Ms. Akhtar Tahnrasbi
117. Ms. Mahin Batmani
118. Me. Shokoofeh All-Qholi
119. Ms. Farkhondeh Tagharci
120, Ms. Mahin Qhaffari
121. Ms. Sadigheh  Ahoumoshk
122. Ms. Sadigheh Hashemi
123. M s .  N a s r i n  Salimi-Badr,
124. Ms. Shina Jahan-Zad
125. Ms. Marym Nouri
126. Ms. Mehri Salami
127. Ms. Maryam-Banou Seyehri  Rahnema
128. Me. Minou Naseri
129. Me. Mina Vatanpour
130, Me. Mahvash  Reehavarai
131. Ms. Mansoureh Qhanbarpour
132, Me. Bahareh Taghanian
133‘. Mr. Ghadam  Rhayyer-Naeiri
134. Ms. Shahin Samii
135, Me. Shahla Talebi
136. Ms. Maryem Ghasi
137. Ms. Rasieh C3horeishi
138. Ms. Horns Ipikchi
139. Me. Taheri  Samadi
140. Ms. Kataeoun Baghaii
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141. Ms. Parivash Torshisian
142. Ms. Mahdokht Hashemi
143, Me. Esmaieli  Af rasiab
144. Mr. Mehdi Rnosh  Slook
145. Ms. Mehri  Knosh  Slook
146. Mr. Khalid All Karimi
147. Ms. Mona Abdi
148. Me. Nargee Shanbari
149. Mr.  Mohwmnad  Hassaa
150. Mr. Tofygh Setsyeshi
151. Mr. All Rosa Sadeghi
152. Mr. Davod Aeisy
153. Mr. Mohanmnad  Tala Poor
154. Mr. Homaoun Na jaf 1
155. Mr, Norasc Karami
156. Mr. Sanjabe Asghar
157 l Mr. Atahay All Rosa
158. M r .  Sandabi Hamid
159. Mr. Mohsen Farin
160. Mr. Parvin Farsin
161. Mr. Mohanwnad  Mehdi Bladi
162, Mr. Lebw Murtera
163. Mr. Layghy Jalal
164. Mr. Falanik  Rosa
165. Mr. Qholamy Hejatalrh
166. Mr. lrantalap  Shapor
167. Mr .  hnary Mabmed
168. Mr. Barariy Naseer
169. Mr.  Namer  Safiden
170. M r .  Mohsmad  Salihi
171. Mr. Haaan  Asady
172. Mr. Rohalah Ramasaai
173. Mr. Jaf ar Trabparhisi
174. Mr. Adel Saiidi
175. Mr. Lraj Kafashpour
176. Mr. Mahdokht Mohamadi  Yadeh
177. Mr. Mahmoud  Akbari
178. Mr. Lotfali Mir Sorow
179. M r .  Panahandeh  Moheuwnadi
180. Mr. Mohsen Mohanmadi Zadeh
181. Mr. All Resa Babel
182. M r .  Mabmoud  Faroukh Maneeh
183. Mr. Rosa Hausheki
184. M r .  M.bhmood  Bakshai
185. Mr, gram R,ondari
186. M r .  Ali Resa Maeondifar
187. M r .  Mohammadali  Morrhedi
188. Mr. Mabmood  Tajgardsn
189. Ms. Zahra Felahati
190. M r .  Mortesa  Ohadiyani

/ . . .
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191. M r . Gholam  Reea Mirmani
192. Mr. Jawad Ramany
193. Mr. lbnel Nadery
194 l Mr. Rasem Karfmabadi
195. Mr. louhrab  hfhady
196. M r . Farokh Djonai die
x97. Mr. Ghasem Daryabeghi Aaad
198. Mr. Ali Hessaraky
199. M r . Davoull Reeaie
200. M r . Shahab  Nouaary
201. Mr. Mohamad  Sh& jerdi
202. M r . Mohammed Taghi Rahimpour

/ . . .
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APPENDIX III

o f  m&J& of ;

0015 - Arrival at Tehran Airport and reception by Mr. M. Mottaki, Deputy
Foreign Minister f o r  International Political Affairs and high
officials of the Foreign Ministry

1030 - Meeting with Mr. M. Mnttaki, Deputy Foreign Minieter  for
International  Polit ical  Affairs

199Q

0930 - Meeting with Hojatolislem A, Fallahian, Minister of Intelligence

11 Oct&mr  199Q

0900 - Meeting with Hojatolislam Eargar, Special Prosecutor for Narcotic
Drugs

1600 - Meeting with the Deputy Minister of the Interior and the Commiesion
on Article 10 of the Constitution

0900 - Visit to Evin prison (hearing of prieonerar)

1600 - Meeting with the Deputy Minister of Culture and Islamic Guidance

0900 - Attendance at a session of the revolutionary court at Evin pritron

1230 - Meeting with Ayatollah Moghtadaei, President of the Supreme Court

1600 - Meeting with Mr. Badarnchian, Political Deputy to the Head of the
Judiciary

0830 - Meeting with Ayatollah Yatdi, Head of t;.e Judiciary

1030 - Meeting wit6 Dr. Mehrpout, Judicial Deputy to the Head of the
Judiciary

1530 - Meeting with Dr. A. A. Velsyati, Minister for Foreign Affair8

1700 - Final meeting with Mr. M. Mottnki

/ . . .



A/45/697
English
Page 87

APPENDIX IV

d to L

1 .  L&zit~to~onQOctoaarl99Q

Names

Reasons given by the authorities for not
being able to present the prisoner to the

Special Representative

Mr. Jamshid  Amiri-Bigvand
Mr. Eahman  Agahy
Mr. Hooshang Ahmadi Bigvand
Mr. Noureddine Kianouri
Ms. Meriem Feirous
Mr. John Pattis
Mr. Addol Ali Basargan
Mr. Hussein Eani Assadi
Mr. Shsrns Shahshahani
Mr. Nour Ali Tabandeh
Mr. Ali Ardalan
Mr. Farhad Behbahani
Mr. Mohammed Tavassoli
Mr. Hossein Shah Hosseini
Mr. Davoud Mir Rahimi
Mr. Huseaingholi  Roshansamir
Mr. Ray&n Khalaj&b&di
Mr. Habibulleh  Hakimi
Mr. Badiull6h  Sobhhni
Me, Mitra Ameli

Ms. Fatemeh Izadi
Ms. Fatemeh Hosseinzadeh-Tussi

Moghadsm (known as Giti Asareng)
Ms, Malakeh Mohsmmadi
Ms. Zohreh Ghaeni
Mr, Roger Cooper
Ms. Sakineh Sedaghat

Visit not authorised by prosecutor
Visit not authorised by prosecutor
Visit not authorised by prosecutor

Visit not authorised by prosecutor

Visit not authorised by prosecutor
Detained at Arab on smuggling charges
Detained in Karaj
Released from prison of Shivar

On leave on 11 Aug. 1990 and was released on
25 Sept. 1990
On leave from 21 Aug. 1990 for 2 months

On leave from 18 July 1990 for 85 days
On leave
On leave from 11 Aug. 1990 for 70 days
Visit not authorised by prosecutor

/ ..I
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2 .  -list g i v e n  t o  thaJJ-Q&w 1QQQCI

Names

Reasons given by the authorities Ear not
being able to present the prisoner to the

Special Representative

Mr. Cesatollah Sahabi
Mr. Rhosero Mansourian
Mr. Hashem  Sabaqhian
Mr. Hormos  Momayeei
Ms. Maryam Taleqhani
Mr. Amir Enteeam

Visit not authorieed by prosecutor
Visit not rruthorised  by prosecutor
Visit not authorieed by prosecutor
Visit not authorised by prosecutor

,

/ . . .
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APPENDlX  V

Lint Provided by the Qovernment  ol: execution8 carried out between

No. NalT@ Pather@r  name
Date  or

CCiM PA000 exeau t lon

1. Norad Dnvari Narhem

2. Eematollah  Asi- vallyollah

3. Abhor  Allai Hojatollah

4. Abbaa  uaieei Darav

5. Ahmad  Ahmad JanQi-2ershi JakaeFDad

6. Dal-Hohamnrd  Ohanbarrohi Rlhmat

7. Dsvoud  Qhanbar-aehl xlam

6. Abbea  Hohammad-Hoerini porelqn  nrtlonal

9. Ifoerln-All  Khadsml mrelqn national

10. Nader Ohanbar  1 Foreign natlonal

11. Arir-All  ktoradi All

12. Farri Ghanbar  I-Nethad Jam

13. Bar 8ou AlOar i Jam

14. Bahman  Heydar 1 Jam

15. Worrln-Jan  PLahouneh Jam

16. Xhan-Ali Nacoule Madad

11.

le.

19.

20.

21.

22,

Atix Naroule

Akhtar-Ameh  NarouIe

Colahah  Lroule

Hoeein Bedaqhrt

Enayat Saqhsrhl

aeydar

IMldlhl

Kar lm

Btzatoddin

Nablbollah  Arbab-Zehl ~eyr-blohamad

Prrmrdltated  murder

Idem

lpylnq for Iraq

Idgm

Arlned  rebel

ldem

Armed robbery and rapa

Idm

ldem

Premedltatmd  murdsr
and kldnapplnq

Idem

Murder and robbery

rdem

Murder

Acti,vlty  aqalnrt  the
qoourlty of thr country,
co-operation with armed
robe18 and dru9
traffickwr,
partloipatlon In armed
conflict  which rorulted
to martyrdom of
military and
non-mllltary  Loreor.

Idem

ldom

Idem

Clurdrr

Partlclpatlon  in t ransport
of 2 k9 of hrroln

P a r t l c l p a t l o n  in transport
of 10 kq &nd 30 qr of
hQroln

Arak

Arak

Arak

Bahedan

aahedan

aahedan

aahedan

Roudehrn

Koudmhrn

Koudehen

Bakhtaran

27.03r1900

27.03.lQQO

27.03.199n

2Q.03.1980

2Q.03.1990

05.04.1990

0s.04*1990

12.04.1990

Bakhtaran 12.04.19QO

Mlanrh 15.04.1QQO

Mlaneh 1~.04*1Q90

Rhorram-Abed 26.04.1990

Eahedan 26.04.1990

Bahrdan 26.04.1990

aah&-n 26.04.1990

Zahedan 26.04.1990

Bor alqan 30.04.1990

Zahedan 30.04.1990

Zahadan 30.04.1890

/ . . .
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No. NaIltO rrthrr’r  near CClRN Place
Date or

eaocut lon
- -

23. Ghodoue  Ghaljall All-Mohammed

24. Nallm Khajeh Fayr-Mohammad

15. Abdol-As11  Llll-Maryam Bhlrak katlonal
of Aghanletan

26. Khalll  Mlraall

21. Rouroeh Neaar 1 Jamrhid

28. All-f&ta  mard-Asad

29. Aeadollah  SaCl

mraC11 Murder

Oholam-Avaa Drug trafflcklng,  traneport,
dlatrlbutlon and production
ot hundreda of kilogrew
OC drug6

30. Abdolrahman SaLi Abdol-Ejan

31. Pea -Mohammad Ma j ldl Abdol-Ma jM

32. Abdol-Khalegh Safl Khalil

33. Gholam-Hohammad  Nour - Sarnoud
Mohammed

36. Gholam-Sanml hcadl Mhalll

35. All-Bar Mahbour i Anad

36. Jahan-Shah Zarteh-Pouch  Naehle

37. Tavakol Zarreh-Poueh Naehia

36. Whmoud  Asir 1 Ash-Oh011

39. Abbes Eeteli Haean

40. bkwtaf: Manaouri Moharnmad-All

41. Saedollah Iemalel  Pour- Qathollah
Ataehl

42. Jaf’ar  shekar  1 Majid Murder

47. Allah+orad 8aCac 1 Uaka-norad

44. Khedmcrt-Ali  Anghoutl Agha-Jan

45. Jabrel l  Joudi Mahmoud

46. Jahanglr Chanlrudah Ebrahim

Impcrtlng  3 kg and 200 gr
OL hwoln and 1 kg
harhl6ih  and ralllng  960 gr
of horoln

Idem

Planting a bcmb in Akhl-
Jaman rnorque and killing
Nojatol-Ealam  Qakhr-Banatl

Aldnapplng  a child (girl)
and adul tory

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

g&

Idem

Ir;am

Murdar and armvd robbery

Idem

JgeJ

Premeditated murder

Zahodan 30.04.1990

Zahodan 30.04.1990

Lavaeanat os.05.1990

Aearehahr 06.05.1995

Ee?emohahr

Tahran

Shlras

09.05.1990

09.05.1990

22.05.1990

Shlraa

Shiraz

Sh

Sh

Sh

Sh

raa

raa

rae

raa

Shires

Shlraz

Shires

Bhlraz

Shlraz

Shlraz

Tehran

Mianeh

Mlaneh

Hlaneh

Tehran

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

21.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.05.1990

22.07.1990

22.07.1990

22.07.1990

29.07.1990

/. . .
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NO. N4m4 P4ther’4  name Pl4CO
D4to  or

l xeaut lon

41. ‘*&Ad Abnoue ebral I 1

40. Saeed Noshanal 1

49. SeyLoll4h  Mohsmm4dI

50. Bonelo Ahmadl

91. M44oud  Soursnl

52. Rahmun  Habibollrhl

53. Oholom-Hare  In Jor i

54. tkxteor Bhaf lyan

5s. Ohol4m-Abb44  Khoeravl

56. Hoqat  Hsblbi

57. Nader  84ndl

58. Hoeeln ohntvlnl

59. Nehdl Khrleqhl

60 .

41.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

IO.

71.

wwlo  Pouya

Hohrmm4d  Rashtanya

Ali-Khan Tourdeh

H44hrllsh  S4rhrdl

Mar tea Na jabaadeh

Gal-Whammed  Arrdl

Nour-Moharmad
H4ern-pour

Colam Reze  Fathlroun jl

72. Mohammed Ali -rat1

Mouwl4  De jaret

Abdollah  Naroul1

Nour-Ahm4d  Wroull

All-Ross Abed1

Yadollsh

Rrm4aan-All

Kbrahlm

Horeln

radollrh

Mohammed

R494b-All

Horein-All

Amlr-Norad

Gholom-Hoeoln

Heyde r

Jsman

Cil-Hoheminad

Mohammad

Parvlr

Sshlbdsd

Kam4zan

Foulad

Moetsfs

Shlr-Moh4mmadl

Ramrrrn

All

Barall-All

Kldnappvd and raped 9 qlrls
who were betveen 6 and
B yoaro o l d

Xdem

Kidnapplnq  and rape

Idom

ldem

ldem

@&

Murder  oL Mejld  Naslrl

Murder ot Haean Ahm4d1-Pour

Hurdor of Mlhan  Hasoudl

Importing,  huylnq,  n e l l l n q ,
dlrtrlbutlnq  more than
3 0  klloqrame horoln  snd
S klloqrsms  opium. Some of
them were members of 4
druq-trsfflcklnq hand which
lmportod  druqs from
Afshanlotan  with ermed
convoys.

Idcm

ldoi

Idem

p&

?dom

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem

Idem- -

Idem

Idem

ldcm

OQm

Na jsP-Abad

N4jaC-&bad

Na jst-Abrd

Na jot-Absd

N4)4t-Ab4d

Na jel-Abbad

Na jai-Abad

Tehrsn

Tehron

Arrk

Haohad

11.08.1990

ll.fM.1990

13.OA.1990

13.09.1990

13.09.1990

13.08.1990

!3.08.1990

13.08.1990

13.08.1990

14.08.1990

17.oa.1990

17.oe.1990

09.09.1990

Manhad 04.u9.199(1

&shad 05.19.1990

Maehn#A 05.09.1990

Maet.  rd 05.09.1990

N4i+ehod os.09.1990

Mdshad 09.09.1990

13aehad os.09.1990

Mashed 05.09.1990

Plaehrd 09.09.r990

Ha&ad 09.09.1990

Maehad 05.09.1990

Heehsd

Maehed

aq.09.1q90

05.09.1990

/...
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No. N&M P4thor’r nay Crh Pl4ce
Date of

exoaut  lon

13.

74.

1s.

76.

‘)7.

78,

79.

00.

Il.

02.

63,

04.

es.

06.

67.

88.

69.

90.

91.

91.

930

04.

95.

96.

97.

96.

99.

100.

101.

101.

l@huud Mvrour  lehi

R468aan  aoil is1

&brrhlm ibrlal

w44.r N4arrl

Oholu-ROM ShLhUU-T&Lab

no44 rrr41

Obolrm-RI94 P4rLI

6Cr4hir  Kour-Koh4ud

Ahudr.nrh

mrmnad HorrrlfI

ool-mamad

N4bibollrh

Jomeh sol-dourt  L

H4bkokLh

All-V414d

aoyyrd K4ou2

nOh4mwd-K4cLm  Aherr

mohrm4d ,

Rlbeh-Ben

frul.1

Lloul-ACgh4n

Kh4d4-N444r

Ahdollah

Abdollah

mcvrr

Ohol4m BrrvrronpY
(nick * alrod &e
6h4-uho14a)

mrit011ah

H&ibolleh  Madrdl

Moharud-Bbrahlm

Kherrd-N444r

AC8rl

Jehrnq  ir

Krr 11

NIbrolhh

ohoL4m

ahacrkhan

Mohrmad

Ata-Mohraunad

Qholun

bur-Hohrud

Nourri

N1 jmoddin

reysollrh

Slaoddin

Seyyrd Abdollah

H4hmoud

Abdol-ahalour

Allshverdl

Joudou

2441

lgenbordou

K4tvrn

Houl4n

reys  -Mchammad

Tbjik

hahmt

Dour4n

Jonmh-Hocrd

Idom

Idem- -

fdem- -

Idrm- -

Hash4d 09.09.1990

lW4h4d 01.09.1990

M44had 09.09.1990

Manhod 06.09,1990

na4hod 6~.69*L996

Hsshrd 09.09.1990

Ehrhad 03.09.1990

nsrhrd 05.09.1990

Hoehad 09.09.1990

Hrshad 09.09.1990

M44had 0~.09.1990

M44had 09.09.1990

Hoehad 09.09.1990

nsehod o!b.o9.1990

Naehrd os.09.1990

Maehad 05.09.1998

Hanh4d 0!i.09.1990

Mashad os.09.1990

Hashad 05.09.1990

Mashad 05.09.1990

kwhad 09.09.1990

Hsehad 05.09.1990

Mashad 04.09.1990

Mshad 0~.09.1990

Hashad 05.OQ,1990

Maehad

Maehed

* Claehad

Maehad

05.09.1990

09.09.1990

05.~9.1990

os.09.1990

/ . . .
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NC, N4r Iather@r nrr crlr Plrce
Date  ot

exeuution

103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

100.

109.

110.

111.

Nj lb

Ohyrmddln

Khodryrt

H4dryrtollrh
Alikou4ohdl-ml4

Udolghodour
Omhrgh-8xhl

rerrydoun  vaC11A

AlbN444r Ilohrrwd-
8mdrni

Mqhroud

Na jmddln

Dml-Wtrrrd

~~~ollrh
Wtlonal 0L
Alghmlrtm)

nohrvrd

mohwd-bur

lbhrwrd-ALbar

112. Abdolkh4legh ?bu44-mhl All-6hlr

113. mert  8444d-Nyr Qholrm4oreIn

Idr*

i&i

Buying,  4elllng rnd
dlrtributlng drugs

Mehad 01.09.1990

Marhad 09.09.1990

Marhad 09.09.1990

Bouxhehr 09.09.1990

Bouxheh~

Bahedrn

Xrhodrn

os.09.1990

le.~9.1990

18.09.1990

A!&!! Zahedrn

lmnrgartAn9 and dlrtrlbutlng  lrhxdm
drug&

18.09.l490

1e.09.1990

A!m Zahedan

hmxportAn9 3 1  klloqrrmr
drug4 4nd prrtlclprtlng  in
dhtributlng  7 klloqrrmr
or Lt.

111.09.1990

/ . . .
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APPENDIX VI

The namea of 2,109 petroaa allegedly  exroutsd  cannot be tecogniaed.

137 perrono  allegedly exeauted  are etudyiag in Iranian universities.

276 names are dupliaated in the report6  of ths Special Rspreeentative.

368 name@  are incomplete and were not found in the Islamic Republic of Iran.

51 peteone  allegedly executed are working in different organiaatione of the Islamic
Republic.

135 pereonr have died due to natural cauxee.

53 persona are trrroriete  and murderers who were executed in 1981 and 1962. They
were eentencod to death by the court@. Unfortunately, moat of these individuals
were influenced by the deaeptive  slogans of the rivals of the Islamic Republic of
Iran and comnitted acts of tsrrorirm  and deetruative activitiee, including the
murder of innocent people.

76 pereone  allegedly executed achieved martyrdom while confronting the Revolution’s
enemiee.

110 persons-were imprfeoned beaauee of their oppoxition  towards the Islamic
Republic of Iran and were released from priron later on.

57 persons have never beea arrested, although this Mojahedin  Organisation alleged
that they were executed in 1981-1982 and the Special Representative listed them as
exeouted  in 1966-1989.

27 prreoae  died in street clasheo  and olarhee with border troops.

06 persona are etudyfng abroad.

62 persons allegedly executed are held ae prisoners of war in Iraq.

44 pereons are miesing in action during the impoeed war end unfortunately there is
no information about them for lack of cooperation by the Iraqi authorities.

19 yereons  allegedly executed live and work in Iran.

7 portions had to undergo military Bervice, but in order to escape from this holy
duty have rought shelter in foreign countries.

2  peroone h a v e  beon imprironed  f o r  v a r i o u s  rea6on8.

1 person was killed in an armed claoh with military forces at the border.
/ . . .
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APPENDIX VII

-.
N u m b e r  o f  personc

Number and date of the Clemency eentsnced to death who
appeal to the Leader Amnesty meaaureri Total benefited from amnesty

1299166 - 12 Oct. 1989 45 3 48

4/480/66 - 6 Dec. 1989 56 35 91

41610160 - 27 Dec. 1989 139 71 210

840/6El - 31 Jan, 1990 113 65 176

1000168 - 6 Mamh 1990 111 32 143

1200/68 - 17 March 1990 53 66 119

50169 - 29 Marcii  1990 56 21 79

460169 - 24 April 1990 112 148 260

900/69 - 16 May 1990 229 89 318

1370169 - 14 June 1990 286 332 618

1720169 - 30 June 1990 92 55 147

1752169 - 2 July 1990 24 20 44

2000/69 - 21 July 1990 929 650 1 579

2002169 - 21 July 1990 176 213 391

3060/69 - 4 Sept. 1990 26 69 95

3362169 - 26 Sept. 1990 84 172 256

3364169 - 26 Sept. 1990 50 15 65

6

8

3

1

1

3

5

Total 2 585 2 056 I 641 29

Copy Avall~ble  ‘:#.
I ‘ :

/ . . .



A/45/697
Baglirh
Page 96

APPENDIX VI I I

On the basis of the report reccivad, some of the courts create impediments  for
the acceptance of attorney. I t  i s ,  t h e r e f o r e , notified a8 follower

In accordance with  principle 35 of  the  Conetitution  of the  Is lamic  Republ ic  of
Iran,  that  providea fo r  the right of  the parties  to  a  laweui t  to  se lect  an  at torney
in all civil and penal courts, a n %  t h a t  stipulates  t h a t  i n  c a s e  o f  t h e  i n a b i l i t y  o f
the  person concerned to  se lect  an at torney, the court ehoulcl  arrange for the
appointment of an attorney, and with due regard to the Becisione  No. 15 dated
19 September 1984 and No. 501 dated 9 April 1987 of the Qeneral Board of the
Supreme Court on the unity of procedures, and in  compliance with  art ic les  59 and 69
bJ,.6 o f  t h e  l a w  of  t h e  c i v i l  p r o c e d u r e , and art ic le  11 amended  of  the  law on the
e s t ab l i shmen t  of  S p e c i a l  C i v i l  Courte, and a r t i c l e  1 5  o f  t h e  n o n - l i t i g i o u s
jur i sd i c t i on  ac t  and  i t 6  n o t e , and art ic le  309 of  the  law of  the  Penal  procedure
and the  note  of art ic le  112 of the  same law,  and art ic le  9  of  the  law on the
establiflhment of penal courts, and art ic le  34 of  the  law on legal  pract ice  and al l
other relevant  appl icable  lawe, a11 l e g a l  a u t h o r i t i e s  s h o u l d  a c c e p t  t h e  l e g a l
at torneys  of  the  part ies  to the laweuit or the  acausod ae prescribed in  the  law.
S u c h  a t t o r n e y s  ahoulcl be allowecI  t o  c!efend  the ir  c l i e n t s ,  B e s i d e s ,  w h e r e  r e q u e s t
i s  macle fo r  B pub l i c  de fender  o r  a  couneel, necessary arrangement.6 should be made
in  accordance with  above-ment ioned legal  provisions. I n  s h o r t ,  a l l  n e c e s s a r y
arrangements should be made to make it possible for eligible attorneys to defend
t h e i r  c l i e n t s .

The v io lat ion of  the aforementionec¶  regulationo  shal l  make the  v io lator  l iable
to  disciplinary  prosecut ion and,  as  the  ca6e may be,  shal l  lead to  the  reversal  of
the verdict by the Supreme aourt.

(-cl) Mohammed Yazcli
Head of  the  Judic iary

--m-s


